Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

11-2-2021 11:45 AM

The effects of resistance training on cognition and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes: A pilot feasibility study

Joyla Furlano, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Nagamatsu, Lindsay S., *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Neuroscience © Joyla Furlano 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Furlano, Joyla, "The effects of resistance training on cognition and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes: A pilot feasibility study" (2021). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 8285. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8285

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes is associated with neurocognitive deficits and increased risk for dementia, with high prevalence of diabetes occurring in old age. There are many known risk factors for diabetes, including physical inactivity, obesity, and prediabetes. Studies show that individuals who are at risk for diabetes (i.e., have one or more risk factors) already experience some brain deficits seen in diabetes. One way to combat these deficits is aerobic exercise; however the effects of resistance exercise in this population are relatively unknown. The objectives of this thesis were to report on the current evidence of brain deficits in prediabetes, and to assess the feasibility and preliminary efficacy of resistance training to improve cognition and brain health (structure and function) in older adults at risk for diabetes. A systematic review of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies assessing brain deficits in prediabetes was conducted, as well as a 26-week pilot feasibility randomized controlled trial (RCT) of resistance exercise among older adults at risk for diabetes (i.e., those living with prediabetes and/or obesity). The systematic review found that prediabetic adults may experience deficits in structural connectivity, but whether deficits in brain volume and cerebrovascular health are present is somewhat inconclusive and may be due to inconsistencies across study methodologies. Results from the pilot feasibility RCT found that resistance exercise, compared to a balance and stretching exercise control group, may improve selective cognitive functions, mainly task-switching, selective attention and conflict resolution, and item memory. Resistance exercise also led to less age-related decline in total brain volume, less hippocampal atrophy, and increased functional activation patterns that mimic that of younger adults and healthy older adults. When assessing feasibility, study adherence, retention, and self-reported enjoyment were high, but recruitment was shown to be challenging. As such, important recruitment recommendations for improving future trials are included in this thesis. In conclusion, resistance exercise may lead to some improvements in cognition and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes, however a full-scale, powered RCT is needed to further explore these possible effects.

Keywords

Aging, brain health, cognition, magnetic resonance imaging, prediabetes, obesity, randomized controlled trial, resistance exercise, pilot feasibility study

Summary for Lay Audience

Type 2 diabetes is a leading cause of disability among older adults and is associated with brain and cognitive deficits. Individuals who have one or more risk factors for diabetes including physical inactivity, obesity, or prediabetes (the state of having elevated blood sugar levels that are below the diabetes threshold) already show signs of similar impairment. Aerobic exercise, which aims to enhance cardiovascular function, is known to improve cognition and brain health (structure and function) in this population; however, the effects of resistance exercise, which aims to build muscle mass, are relatively unknown. The objectives of this thesis were to summarize the results from studies published to date regarding the brain deficits associated with prediabetes, and to determine whether resistance training may benefit cognition and neuroimaging outcomes in older adults at risk for diabetes (i.e., prediabetics and/or overweight or obese individuals) compared to balance and stretching exercises. The literature review found that studies assessing brain deficits in prediabetes have yielded largely mixed results, however deficits in structural connectivity may exist in prediabetes. The resistance exercise study found that this type of exercise may improve certain areas of cognition, such as the ability to switch focus between tasks. Additionally, neuroimaging findings from this study showed that resistance exercise may slow age- and disease-related brain shrinkage and lead to functional activation patterns that are seen in healthy adults. In summary, resistance exercise may improve cognition and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes, however large-scale studies are needed to confirm these preliminary findings. Important recommendations for future trials are also included in this thesis.

Co-Authorship Statement

Joyla A. Furlano contributed to the conceptualization, data collection, data extraction, and manuscript writing of the published systematic review presented in <u>Chapter 2</u>. Becky R. Horst contributed to the data collection, data extraction, and manuscript editing of the systematic review. Lindsay S. Nagamatsu contributed to the conceptualization, data reviewing, and manuscript editing of the systematic review.

Joyla A. Furlano contributed to the conceptualization and manuscript writing of the published protocol manuscript partially included in <u>Chapters 3 and 4</u>. Lindsay S. Nagamatsu contributed to the conceptualization and manuscript editing of the protocol manuscript.

Joyla A. Furlano contributed to the conceptualization, data collection, and data analysis of the pilot study presented in <u>Chapters 3-5</u>. Lindsay S. Nagamatsu acquired funding for this study and contributed to the conceptualization, data reviewing, and study supervision. The results presented in <u>Chapter 3</u> are currently in preparation for publication by Joyla A. Furlano in collaboration with Lindsay S. Nagamatsu. Becky R. Horst contributed to the MRI data collection and data analysis of <u>Chapter 4</u>. The results presented in <u>Chapter 4</u> are currently in preparation for publication by Joyla A. Furlano in collaboration by Joyla A. Furlano in collaboration by Joyla A. Furlano in collaboration with Lindsay S. Nagamatsu and Becky R. Horst.

Joyla A. Furlano contributed to the conceptualization, data collection, data analysis, and manuscript writing of the published feasibility manuscript presented in <u>Chapter 5</u>. Lindsay S. Nagamatsu contributed to the conceptualization, data reviewing, and manuscript editing of the feasibility manuscript.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to whole-heartedly thank my supervisor and mentor, Dr. Lindsay S. Nagamatsu. I am so incredibly grateful for your unwavering support, guidance, and patience over the years. Thank you for always encouraging me to pursue my professional interests, for sharing your advice on navigating academia, and for challenging me academically in the most rewarding ways. I am forever grateful for your friendship. I would also like to thank my past and current labmates, especially Michelle Wong and Becky Horst, for their support in my project and ongoing encouragement, as well as my many research assistants who helped make this project a success.

I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to my friends and family for their continuous love and support, especially my family members Julie Furlano, Brad Furlano, Suzanne Kehren, Tony Hawkins, Nicole Kehren, Chris Kehren, Carl Babcock, Ann Hawkins, and Ray Hawkins, for whom I appreciate every single day. Thank you to my close friends and loved ones Sarah Osborne, Cynthia Abraham, Andrea Petrella, Navena Lingum, Taniya Nagpal, Avyarthana Dey, Emma Vleming, Karren Wang, Geoff Kerr, Brendan Charles, and Faraj Haddad, among many others; and a very special thank you to Borna Mahmoudian who has been my ultimate graduate school support.

Finally, I would like to thank my previous and current advisory committee members, Dr. Robert Petrella, Dr. Kevin Shoemaker, Dr. Stephen Pasternak, Dr. Taylor Schmitz, and Dr. Jennifer Irwin for their helpful suggestions and honest feedback along the way, as well as my many academic mentors including Dr. Danielle Alcock, Dr. Lloy Wylie, and Dr. Jennifer Walker.

This thesis is dedicated to those who could not be here to see this accomplishment, mainly my father Rocco Furlano, grandmother Micheline Babcock who was my biggest fan, and Bruce Duckworth.

Abstract	ii
Summary for Lay Audience	iv
Co-Authorship Statement	v
Acknowledgments	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Appendices	XV
List of Abbreviations	xvi
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Neurocognition	1
1.1.1 Associative memory	3
1.1.2 Neurocognition in aging and disease	4
1.2 Magnetic resonance imaging	7
1.2.1 Functional MRI and the brain	
1.3 Type 2 diabetes	9
1.3.1 Neurocognition in type 2 diabetes	
1.4 Prediabetes	
1.4.1 Neurocognition in prediabetes	14
1.5 Obesity	
1.5.1 Neurocognition in obesity	17
1.6 Exercise	
1.6.1 Exercise and neurocognition	19

Table of Contents

	1.7 Exercise in type 2 diabetes			23
	1.8 Exercise in prediabetes and obesity			24
	1.9 Thesis overview			25
Re	References			27
Cl	napte	er 2		42
2	Bra	in defic	eits in prediabetic adults: A systematic review	42
	2.1	Introdu	uction ²	42
	2.2	Metho	ds	43
		2.2.1	Search strategy	43
		2.2.2	Selection of studies	44
		2.2.3	Data extraction	44
		2.2.4	Quality assessment	45
	2.3	Result	S ²	48
		2.3.1	Selected studies	48
		2.3.2	Volumetric measures – 13 studies	63
		2.3.3	Structural connectivity – 3 studies	71
		2.3.4	Cerebrovascular health – 8 studies	74
		2.3.5	Quality of included studies	77
	2.4	Discus	ssion	77
Sı	Summary 82		82	
Re	References		83	
Cl	napte	er 3		87
3	Scie	entific o er adult	outcomes: Cognitive changes following 26 weeks of resistance exercise in s at risk for diabetes	87
	3.1	Introdu	uction	87
	3.2	Metho	ds	90
3	Scie olde 3.1 3.2	entific c er adult Introdu Metho	outcomes: Cognitive changes following 26 weeks of resistance exercise in s at risk for diabetes	87 87 90

		3.2.1	Study overview	90
		3.2.2	Recruitment and Sample size	91
		3.2.3	Inclusion and exclusion criteria	91
		3.2.4	Descriptive measures	92
		3.2.5	Feasibility outcomes	92
		3.2.6	Cognitive outcomes	92
		3.2.7	MRI outcomes	94
		3.2.8	Physical outcomes	94
		3.2.9	Exercise intervention	95
		3.2.10	Monitoring	99
		3.2.11	Data analysis	99
	3.3	Results	s 1	.00
		3.3.1	Descriptive measures 1	.00
		3.3.2	Cognitive outcomes 1	.03
		3.3.3	Physical outcomes1	.09
		3.3.4	Correlations 1	.13
	3.4	Discus	sion 1	15
Su	mma	ary		21
Re	fere	nces		.22
Ch	apte	er 4		.29
4	Scie resis	entific o stance e	outcomes: Structural and functional brain changes following 26 weeks of exercise in older adults at risk for diabetes	.29
	4.1	Introdu	action1	.29
	4.2	Metho	ds 1	.32
		4.2.1	Study design 1	.32

	4.2.2	Participants	133
	4.2.3	Exercise intervention	133
	4.2.4	Outcome measures	133
	_4.2.5	Data analysis	140
4.3	Result	ts	140
	4.3.1	Descriptive measures	140
	4.3.2	Structural MRI outcomes	141
	4.3.3	Behavioural MRI outcomes	144
	4.3.4	Functional MRI outcomes	147
	4.3.5	Correlations	154
4.4	Discus	ssion	156
Summ	ary		161
Refere	ences		162
Chapte	er 5		167
5 Pro ran	cess ou domize	tcomes: Feasibility of conducting a large-scale resistance training d controlled trial in older adults at risk for diabetes	167
5.1	Introd	uction	167
5.2	Metho	ods	169
	5.2.1	Study design	169
	5.2.2	Participants	169
	5.2.3	Exercise intervention	169
	5.2.4	Primary feasibility outcome measures	170
	5.2.5	Secondary feasibility outcome measures	171
5.3	Result	ts	172
	5.3.1	Descriptive statistics	172

	5.3.2	Feasibility172
	5.3.3	Safety 176
	5.3.4	Fidelity
	5.3.5	Feedback questionnaires
5.4	Discus	ssion
Summ	ary	
Refere	ences	
Chapte	er 6	
6 The	esis disc	cussion
6.1	Thesis	summary
6.2	Findin	gs and interpretations
	6.2.1	Systematic review
	6.2.2	Pilot randomized controlled trial
6.3	Future	directions
6.4	Conclu	usion
Refere	nces	
Appen	dices	
Curric	ulum V	itae

List of Tables

Chapter 2
Table 2.1: Quality assessment of included studies. 46
Table 2.2: Study description and characteristics
Table 2.3: Results of volumetric measure studies. 68
Table 2.4: Results of structural connectivity studies. 73
Table 2.5: Results of cerebrovascular health studies. 76
Chapter 3
Table 3.1: Resistance exercise protocol. 98
Table 3.2: Baseline characteristics of participants
Table 3.3:Cognitive outcomes by group. 105
Table 3.4: Physical outcomes by group. 110
Table 3.5: Spearman correlations between cognitive and physical outcomes (trial completion > baseline).
Chapter 4
Table 4.1: Structural outcomes by group. 142
Table 4.2: Behavioural outcomes by group. 145
Table 4.3: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item encoding in the resistance training group at trial completion compared with baseline 148
Table 4.4: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item recognition in the resistance training group at trial completion compared with baseline 149
Table 4.5: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item encoding in the balance and tone group at trial completion compared with baseline 150
Table 4.6: Percent signal change in brain regions identified as having significant activation.

Table 4.7: Spearman correlations between brain and physical/cognitive outcomes (trial	
completion > baseline)	55
Chapter 5	
Table 5.1: Items for optimization in future RCTs	75

List of Figures

Chapter 1
Figure 1.1: Model of clinical trajectory of dementia as compared to normal aging
Figure 1.2: Healthy pancreatic function and pancreatic function in type 1 and type 2 diabetes
Chapter 2
Figure 2.1: Flow diagram of included studies
Chapter 3
Figure 3.1: Recruitment flow diagram
Figure 3.2: Mean change in scores on cognitive tests (trial completion > baseline) 107
Figure 3.3: Mean change in 1RM (trial completion > baseline) 112
Chapter 4
Figure 4.1: Associative memory task
Figure 4.2: Possible outcomes for the recognition conditions of the associative memory task
Figure 4.3: Percent volume change for brain measures (trial completion > baseline) 143
Figure 4. 4: Mean change in scores on the associative memory task (trial completion > baseline)
Figure 4. 5: Significant changes in activation during the associative memory task (trial completion > baseline)
Chapter 5
Figure 5.1: Study recruitment methods

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Ethics Approval	198
Appendix B: Clinical Trials Registration	199
Appendix C: Letter of Information and Consent	200
Appendix D: Permission to Reproduce Published Materials	205

List of Abbreviations

ABCC8	Adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter sub-family C
	member 8
ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex
AD	Axial diffusivity
ADA	American Diabetes Association
ADAS-Cog 12	Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12
AGE	Advanced glycation end product
APC	Annual percent change
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
ARWMC	Age-related white matter changes
ATR	Anterior thalamic radiation
β-cell	Beta islet cell
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BET	Brain Extraction Tool
BMI	Body mass index
BOLD	Blood oxygenation level-dependent
CBF	Cerebral blood flow
CI	Confidence interval
СМВ	Cerebral microbleed
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
CSFV	Cerebrospinal fluid volume
dMRI	Diffusion-magnetic resonance imaging
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Diseases, 5th Edition
DTI	Diffusion tensor imaging
DXA	Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
FA	Fractional anisotropy
FAST	FMRIB's Automated Segmentation Tool
FCI	Functional Comorbidity Index
FEAT	FMRI Expert Analysis Tool
FIRST	FMRIB's Integrated Registration and Segmentation Tool
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging

FMRIB	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Brain
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
FSL	FMRIB's Software Library
FWHM	Full-width at half-maximum
GDS	Geriatric Depression Scale
GLM	General linear modelling
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
GMV	Grey matter volume
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HR	Hemodynamic response
HV	Hippocampal volume
IADL	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living
ICV	Intracranial volume
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
ILF	Inferior longitudinal fasciculus
LI	Lacunar infarct
LRP	Lipoprotein receptor-related protein
LTP	Long-term potentiation
MCFLIRT	Motion Correction using FMRIB's Linear Image Registration Tool
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
MCID	Minimal clinically important difference
MC4R	Melanocortin-4 receptor gene
MD	Mean diffusivity
MeSH	Medical Subject Headings
MMSE	Mini-Mental State Examination
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MTG	Middle temporal gyrus
MTL	Medial temporal lobe
NFG	Normal fasting glucose

NGT	Normal glucose tolerance
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PASE	Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly
PBVC	Percent brain volume change
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PSC	Percent signal change
QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Year
RA	Research assistant
RAVLT	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
RD	Radial diffusivity
RF	Radio wave frequency
ROI	Region of interest
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SIENA	Structural Image Evaluation, using Normalization, of Atrophy
SLF	Superior longitudinal fasciculus
sMRI	Structural magnetic resonance imaging
SPPB	Short Physical Performance Battery
TBV	Total brain volume
TCF7L2	Transcription factor 7-like-2
TE	Echo time
TMT	Trail Making Test
TR	Repetition time
TUG	Timed Up and Go Test
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization
WMH	White matter hyperintensity
WMHV	White matter hyperintensity volume
WML	White matter lesion
WMV	White matter volume

1RM	One repetition maximum
2-h PG	2-hour plasma glucose
7RM	Seven repetition maximum

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Cognitive impairment and associated brain dysfunction is a major health concern among older adults. Worldwide, up to 41% of individuals over the age of 50 are suffering from cognitive impairment,¹ and this often leads to a decline in mobility, functional independence, and quality of life. Although neurocognitive decline occurs as a natural part of the aging process, it is often exacerbated in clinical populations of older adults such as those with diabetes, prediabetes, or obesity. This thesis will specifically examine such deficits in prediabetic and overweight/obese older adults, and will investigate whether exercise can be used as a lifestyle intervention strategy to improve cognition and brain health (structure and function) in this population.

1.1 Neurocognition

Cognition is broadly defined as the mental functions involved in the gathering and comprehension of knowledge. According to the fifth and most recent edition of the Diagnostic and Statical Manual of Mental Diseases (DSM-5),² there are six main domains that make up cognition: complex attention, executive function, learning and memory, language, perceptual-motor function, and social cognition, each containing subdomains. As my research focuses primarily on the first three domains, the latter three will not be described in detail in this thesis.

The first domain, complex attention, is made up of functions related to attention, or the ability to actively process specific information. One subdomain of complex attention is selective attention, the process of focusing on selected environmental stimuli while ignoring irrelevant stimuli. This is a fundamental cognitive function as attention is a limited resource, thus the ability to selectively direct one's focus is extremely valuable. Moreover, selective attention is considered a key underlying function for other cognitive abilities such as working memory (described below) and nonverbal intelligence (the ability to analyze information and problem-solve using visual reasoning).³ Evidence from functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI; described in Chapter 1.2) research has shown that activation of sensory cortical areas, primarily the parietal and frontal lobes, occurs during both auditory and visual

selective attention;⁴ specific areas involved include the posterior parietal cortex and prefrontal cortex (PFC).⁵ While the DSM-5 recognizes complex attention as being distinct from executive function, attention is commonly considered a type of executive function within the literature.

Executive function refers to a set of mental skills that are required for the cognitive control of behaviour, that is the selecting and monitoring of behaviours to achieve a goal. Two commonly studied subdomains of executive function are conflict resolution, the ability to overcome conflicting perceptual inputs to achieve a desired behaviour, and task-switching (commonly called set-shifting), the ability to shift focus between tasks. A number of fMRI studies have found that the PFC, specifically the dorsolateral areas, underlies both conflict resolution and task-switching.^{6,7} The anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) is also known to support conflict resolution,⁶ while areas including the pre-supplementary motor area, parietal cortex, and the frontopolar cortex also support task-switching.⁷ In addition, working memory, which is the ability to hold a small amount of information in mind and use it in the execution of cognitive tasks, is another important component of executive functioning that depends critically on the medial temporal lobe (MTL) and PFC.^{8,9}

The third DSM-5 cognitive domain includes both learning, the process of acquiring skill or knowledge, and memory, the storing and recalling of information. Generally, the main brain areas involved in these processes are the frontal lobe, hippocampus (a subcortical brain region located within the MTL that plays an important role in memory consolidation and storage), and other temporal lobe structures.^{10,11} Under the umbrella term of memory, there are several types and 'phases', the latter of which includes short-term and long-term memory. Short-term memory is defined as the ability to store information in one's mind for short periods of time (typically within seconds), whereas long-term memory (sometimes referred to as delayed memory) deals with the storage of information for extended periods. While working memory is a form of short-term memory since it involves the storage of information to immediately plan and carry out behaviour.

For all memory types, there are three processes that are essential to its function; these are encoding, storage, and retrieval. Encoding is the process by which information is learned,

perceived, and related to existing knowledge, while storage is the process of maintaining this information overtime. Retrieval (or recognition), on the other hand, is the process of recalling and accessing information when it is needed. While each of these three processes are distinct, they are also related and strongly rely on one another. For example, the strength by which a memory is encoded is correlated to the likelihood that it will be effectively retrieved.¹²

1.1.1 Associative memory

One type of memory particularly relevant to this thesis is associative memory, defined as the ability to learn and remember the relationship between items that are unrelated (e.g., faces and names). Associative memory is thought to be one of the most essential memory functions due to its usefulness and applicability, and has been argued to be critical for higher and more complex memory performance.¹³ Associative memory allows people to make connections and inferences, and is commonly applied to many life scenarios including observations and interactions with others.¹⁴ Further, the ability to process multiple stimuli together allows individuals to process information faster and more efficiently.¹⁵ This type of memory is often used subconsciously in everyday life as we frequently memorize items within our environment in conjunction with one another.

The neuroanatomical structures that underlie associative memory are largely located within the MTL and surrounding areas of the brain.¹⁶ One of the main implicated MTL structures in this type of memory is the hippocampus.¹⁶ Evidence from primate research shows that hippocampal cells exhibit increased patterns of learning-related neural activity during the formation of novel associative memories.¹⁶ However, some studies have also shown that cells in other brain areas including the PFC, frontal motor-related areas, and striatum exhibit similar patterns of neural activity during associative learning.¹⁶ Moreover, structures that are functionally related to the hippocampus, such as the entorhinal, perirhinal, and parahippocampal cortices, have been shown to underlie associative memory ability.¹⁶ These areas are known to support memory encoding as well as related functions including memory formation and memory consolidation;^{17,18} the latter occurs when temporarily learned experiences are transformed into long-term memories.

1.1.2 Neurocognition in aging and disease

The majority of cognitive functions, including functions previously discussed (e.g., selective attention, conflict resolution, task-switching, working memory, long-term memory, associative memory), are known to decline naturally with age.^{19–21} Such declines in cognitive ability are said to begin in one's 20's and worsen with advanced age, with most decline occurring after the age of 70.²² However, the rate and degree at which cognition declines with age is highly dependent on a myriad of hereditary and environmental factors, including one's genetic makeup, education level, sex, and health behaviours (e.g., physical activity levels, sleep patterns, diet). For example, higher fitness levels are positively correlated with preserved cognitive ability late in life;²³ this particular relationship will be further explored in Chapter 1.6.

Evidence from neuroimaging studies demonstrate that age-related cognitive decline occurs with neurodegeneration.²⁴ As we age, humans experience a loss of neurons (fundamental units (cells) of the brain; the brain contains roughly 86 billion neurons)²⁵ and neuronal connections that results in atrophy of brain tissue. Total brain volume (TBV) atrophy in healthy individuals has been shown to occur by the age of 30, with greater decline in old age.²⁶ In fact, by the time healthy individuals reach the age of 60, the brain naturally decreases ~0.3% per year.²⁷ One brain area that is particularly susceptible to age-related atrophy is the hippocampus.²⁸ A meta-analysis estimated that the average annual rate of hippocampal atrophy in healthy aging is 1.4%; in this review, the mean age range of study participants was 69-83 years old.²⁹ Moreover, hippocampal atrophy has been shown to be correlated with deficits in memory function,³⁰ and memory problems is one of the most common cognitive complaints among older adults.¹⁹

In addition to atrophy, age is associated with changes in the brain's hemodynamic response (HR),³¹ which reflects the delivery of blood and oxygen to active neurons to support their function (to be discussed further in Chapter 1.2.1). Specifically, studies show that age is correlated with a decrease in neural activation in task-specific areas. For example, one study found that age was associated with a linear decrease in neural activity in memory-related areas (right middle frontal gyrus, bilateral precunei) during a spatial working memory task.³² In this study, age was also associated with decreased accuracy in task performance.³²

Another study assessed age-related differences in brain activation during working memory, visual attention, and episodic retrieval tasks.³³ In all three tasks, older versus younger adults had weaker activity in the occipital lobe (consistent with decline in age-related sensory processing abilities) but stronger prefrontal and parietal activity which may reflect functional compensation.³³ Taken together, it appears that the level in which brain areas are engaged in cognitive tasks may differ with age, and decreases in neural activity in task-related areas may reflect worsened cognitive performance. Research also shows that aging has a negative impact on connectivity strength within functional and structural brain networks, particularly those related to high level cognitive functions.³⁴

Although declines in cognition and brain health are a natural part of aging, such declines can occur at a faster rate than expected as a result of neurodegenerative disease. For example, mild cognitive impairment (MCI), the precursor stage of dementia, occurs when individuals experience declines in cognitive function (associated with a loss of brain tissue) that are beyond normative aging (**Figure 1.1**). However, these declines do not significantly interfere with everyday life. Dementia, on the other hand, occurs when there is more severe impairment than MCI (Figure 1.1) that does interfere with activities of daily living. The most common form of dementia is Alzheimer's disease, which accounts for 60-70% of all dementia cases and is characterized by severe deficits in memory, thinking, or decisionmaking abilities.³⁵ It is believed to occur when there is an abnormal build-up of the proteins beta-amyloid and tau in the brain. Beta-amyloid makes up a larger protein (amyloid) and contributes to the formation of amyloid plaques around neurons which disrupts neuronal communication and function; tau, however, creates neurofibrillary tangles in the brain which disrupts the transport of nutrients and other important substances within neuronal cells.³⁶ While Alzheimer's disease can occur in young-to-middle adulthood, it primarily affects individuals aged 60+, and is currently the fifth leading cause of death in older adults.³⁷



Figure 1.1: Model of clinical trajectory of dementia as compared to normal aging.

Source: Sperling RA et al. $(2011)^{38}$ (copyright access granted via Copyright Clearance Center)

1.2 Magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a non-invasive imaging technique that uses magnetic fields and radio waves to produce high-resolution images of tissues and organs within the body. It is commonly used to examine neurocognitive abilities and detect abnormalities in the brain, and is the most frequently used imaging technique of the brain and spinal cord.³⁹ The strength of the magnetic field applied is measured in Tesla units, named after Nikola Tesla who discovered the rotating magnetic field in 1882.⁴⁰ The greater the Tesla strength of a scanner, the greater the detail and quality of the images that it produces. The majority of research studies use scanners that operate at a strength of 1.5 or 3 Tesla.

To briefly describe the physical principles behind MRI,⁴¹ we must first consider the properties of water molecules within the body. The human body is made up of 60-70% water, and each water molecule contains two hydrogen atoms and one oxygen atom. Protons (nuclei) of hydrogen atoms are naturally charged particles that spin around an axis and behave like a magnet (have a north and south pole). At any moment in time, the billions of hydrogen protons within the body are in random positions as they spin on their axes. However, when a strong external magnetic field is applied during an MRI scan, hydrogen protons in the body are temporarily aligned with that field. Radio waves are then applied to deflect the magnetic field and force the protons to spin out of equilibrium. When the radio wave frequency (RF) source is turned off, protons 'relax' and realign with the magnetic field, and this causes a signal (also a radio wave) to be emitted. These emitted signals are detected by MRI coils in the form of an electrical current and are transformed using a mathematical calculation called a Fourier transformation⁴² to produce cross-sectional images of tissues within the body.

Different tissues in the body relax at different rates when the RF source is turned off, therefore the intensity of the received signals allows us to differentiate between various tissue types. The time taken for the hydrogen protons to fully relax once the RF source is removed is measured in two ways: (1) the time it takes to realign with the magnetic field, which is called T1 relaxation, and (2) the time it takes to return to their previous axial spins, which is called T2 relaxation. MRI, then, is made up of a series of RF pulse sequences which determine the appearance of the outputted images. Repetition time (TR) is the time between

RF pulses, and echo time (TE) is the time between the RF pulse and the produced signal. T1weighted images (characterized by short TR and TE) provide excellent structural anatomical detail, while T2-weighted images (characterized by long TR and TE) are useful in identifying pathology. In brain MRI, these images provide static information on the shape, size, and integrity of grey matter and white matter in the brain (i.e., components of structural MRI, or sMRI). In addition, the two main characteristics that determine MRI image quality are spatial resolution and signal-to-noise ratio. Spatial resolution is mainly determined by the imaging voxels (volumes that makes up three-dimensional space), while signal-to-noise ratio is a measure of the true MRI signal versus unavoidable background quantum noise. Further details on the complexity of principles underlying MRI is beyond the scope of this thesis.

There are several advantages of MRI in comparison to other imaging techniques. Generally, some of its advantages are that it: (1) has high spatial resolution, (2) can produce images in multiple planes, (3) does not use ionizing radiation, which can damage cells following high exposure, and (4) is non-invasive. There are, however, some disadvantages to this imaging technique, including that it (1) may be uncomfortable for patients (e.g., is loud), (2) requires patients to remain extremely still while inside the scanner, as motion can cause artefacts resulting in distorted images, (3) cannot be done in patients with metal implants or electronic devices due to the strong magnetic field applied in the scanner, and (4) is expensive.

1.2.1 Functional MRI and the brain

Functional MRI, unlike sMRI, provides dynamic physiological information about the brain (e.g., what areas of the brain are used for specific functions). It is an indirect measure of brain activity based on changes in cerebral blood flow. An increase in neural activity, which involves the firing of neurons in a specific area of the brain (e.g., during a cognitive task), stimulates an increase in blood (hemoglobin) to that brain region in order to supply active neurons with the energy they need; this process makes up the HR. During the HR, oxygenated hemoglobin (i.e., hemoglobin that has oxygen molecules attached to it) increases in brain areas that are active. Hemoglobin is a protein within red blood cells that is responsible for transporting oxygen throughout the body. Oxygenated hemoglobin is diamagnetic, meaning that it repels magnetic forces, while deoxygenated hemoglobin (i.e., hemoglobin that does not have oxygen molecules attached to it) is paramagnetic and is

attracted to magnetic fields. Therefore, fMRI picks up stronger signals from areas that have higher levels of oxygenated hemoglobin compared to deoxygenated hemoglobin which creates more magnetic distortion, and this concept forms the basis of blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) fMRI. To note, in comparison to neuronal activity, the HR is quite slow (milliseconds versus seconds, respectively). Thus, fMRI has lower temporal resolution compared to other measures of neural activity such as electroencephalography (which records electrical activity directly from the scalp). However, as briefly mentioned, fMRI has high spatial resolution (approximately 3-4 mm).⁴³

1.3 Type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetes (T2D), a chronic health condition characterized by impaired glucose regulation in the body, is the most common form of diabetes making up 90-95% of all cases.⁴⁴ An estimated 462 million people, or 6.28% of the world's population, have T2D,⁴⁵ which is considered the fastest growing global epidemic.⁴⁶ Type 2 diabetes occurs as a result of the body's ineffective use of insulin (**Figure 1.2**), a hormone produced by beta islet cells (β -cells) in the pancreas to regulate blood glucose (sugar) levels. Glucose, the body's primary source of energy that mainly comes from food, enters the bloodstream upon the digestion of food; insulin is then released from the pancreas to allow muscle, fat, and liver cells to absorb the sugar for energy and storage. In T2D, cells become resistant to insulin and are unable to properly absorb sugar from the blood, leading to excess glucose in the bloodstream. By comparison, type 1 diabetes occurs when β -cells in the pancreas can no longer produce insulin (**Figure 1.2**), and is caused by an autoimmune reaction.

There are many factors that contribute to the development of T2D. One such factor is one's genetic makeup, including mutations in genes involved in controlling glucose levels. For example, mutations of the TCF7L2 (transcription factor 7-like-2) gene have been shown to disrupt insulin secretion and glucose production,⁴⁷ while ABCC8 (adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter sub-family C member 8) mutations are known to negatively affect insulin regulation.⁴⁸ In addition, a major lifestyle risk factor for T2D is a lack of regular exercise, which can contribute to both the development and progression of T2D and its complications. This was demonstrated in a large prospective cohort study that found that the risk for T2D was significantly higher in those with low versus high levels of moderate-to-

vigorous exercise per week.⁴⁹ In line with this, a review found that exercise (e.g., walking) can reduce the risk for T2D by up to 50%.⁵⁰ Additional factors that can contribute to the development of T2D include excess body weight, poor sleep, smoking, alcohol consumption, and characteristics of metabolic syndrome including high fat around the waist, high triglycerides, and low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

Chronic hyperglycemia (excess blood glucose levels) as a result of T2D leads to many physical health complications, including deficits in the body's nervous, circulatory, and immune systems. For example, hyperglycemia disrupts the body's immune response and impairs its ability to fight off invading pathogens; this may occur as a result of cytokine (protein that supports immune cells) production suppression, deficits in phagocytosis (process by which cells engulf bacteria and foreign substances), and immune cell dysfunction associated with T2D.⁵¹ Additionally, chronically high blood sugar levels lead to blood vessel damage, specifically atherosclerosis (thickening or hardening of arteries). As such, patients with T2D often experience hypertension (high blood pressure), coronary artery disease, eye damage (i.e., damage to blood vessels in the eye), and even premature mortality.^{52,53} Furthermore, diabetes is among the leading causes of kidney failure, and individuals with T2D have a two- to three-fold increased risk of a heart attack or stroke.⁵³ According to the American Heart Association, approximately 68% of people aged 65 or older with T2D will die from heart disease and 16% from stroke.⁵⁴

The majority of T2D cases occur in older adults aged 60+ compared to other age groups.⁵⁵ Thus, as the world's aging population continues to rapidly increase, so will the prevalence of T2D. Previous projections have suggested that the number of T2D cases in older adults aged 65+ will increase by 4.5-fold between 2005 and 2050.⁵⁶ The prevalence of T2D in older adults may be even higher than what is known, as it has been reported that up to one-third of older adults with T2D go undiagnosed.⁵⁷ Compared to younger adults, older adults may be especially at high risk for T2D due to a combination of insulin de-sensitivity and impaired pancreatic function,⁵⁸ as well as cardiovascular comorbidities, that occur with age. Moreover, age-related insulin resistance appears to be primarily associated with adiposity, sarcopenia, and physical inactivity, all of which also typically increase with age.⁵⁹



Figure 1.2: Healthy pancreatic function and pancreatic function in type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

Source: MedlinePlus, National Library of Medicine⁶⁰ (non-copyrighted)

1.3.1 Neurocognition in type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetes is a known risk factor for both MCI and Alzheimer's disease. In fact, research shows that individuals with T2D have more than a 50% higher risk of developing dementia compared to those without diabetes.^{61,62} Specifically, a meta-analysis found that those with T2D had a 73% greater risk of developing all type dementia and a 56% risk of developing Alzheimer's disease.⁶² Interestingly, T2D has been shown to share some of the same etiological mechanisms as MCI and Alzheimer's disease. For example, the dominant gene associated with the presence of Alzheimer's disease is apolipoprotein E (APOE), specifically the ϵ 4 allelic variant, and this gene is also involved in the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism.⁶³ Studies have found that brains that express APOE ϵ 4 display significant deficiencies in glucose uptake and metabolism.⁶⁴ It has also been shown that the presence of APOE ϵ 4 in those with T2D significantly increases the risk for Alzheimer's disease.⁶³

In relation to dementia risk, T2D is associated with a significant reduction in cognitive ability. A meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies showed that people with T2D perform worse than those without T2D in the cognitive domains of information-processing, visual memory, verbal memory, attention, and executive function.⁶⁵ Similarly, a systemic review found deficits in processing speed, attention, memory, and cognitive flexibility (the general ability to adapt thinking and behaviour to one's environment) in T2D, and these effects were greater in those aged 65+.⁶⁶ In a longitudinal study, T2D was also shown to be a significant predictor of cognitive decline across six years in measures of global cognitive function, perceptual speed, and declarative memory (a form of long-term memory that involves conscious recall).⁶⁷ Further, there is evidence to suggest that the duration of T2D may have an impact on cognitive impairment severity, with longer durations being correlated with greater dysfunction.⁶⁸

Neuroimaging studies have also revealed that individuals with T2D exhibit reduced brain volumes (including total and regional white matter volume (WMV) and grey matter volume (GMV)) and other brain heath deficits when compared to those without diabetes.⁶⁹ For example, a large cross-sectional study found that patients with T2D, compared to those without, had lower total GMV, WMV and hippocampal volume (HV) that was associated

with worse cognitive function.⁷⁰ In this study, a loss of grey matter was found in the medial temporal, anterior cingulate, and medial frontal lobes, while white matter atrophy was localized to the frontal and temporal regions.⁷⁰ Likewise, a review by Ryan et al. (2014) found less GMV, WMV and HV in diabetics compared to healthy controls.⁷¹ Specifically, grey matter atrophy was shown to occur in the temporal, frontal, and limbic brain regions, which is a hallmark of early Alzheimer's disease.⁷¹ This review also demonstrated that grey matter atrophy may contribute to the cognitive deficits that are observed in T2D.⁷¹ Deficits in functional brain connectivity and cerebrovascular health including cerebral infarcts, white matter hyperintensities (WMHs), and microbleeds (which will be explored later on in this thesis) have also been shown to be associated with T2D in many studies, and are linked to cognitive dysfunction.^{72–74}

Cognitive and brain dysfunction in T2D can be attributed to several potential underlying mechanisms. Firstly, cerebral infarcts are known to lower the threshold of amyloid in the brain, allowing for the development of amyloid plaques as seen in Alzheimer's disease.⁷⁵ Secondly, WMHs associated with T2D have been shown to occur with cerebral amyloid angiopathy (the buildup of amyloid on artery walls in the brain) which leads to cerebrovascular decline.⁷⁵ Thirdly, in hyperinsulinemia (high blood insulin levels) which often occurs in T2D, peripheral insulin can cross the blood brain barrier and result in the deposition of beta-amyloid and tau.⁷⁵ Additionally, hyperglycemia has been shown to be linked to increased advanced products of glycosylation (AGEs; proteins or lipids that become harmful when they combine with glucose in the blood) that are related to microvascular complications in T2D.⁷⁵ Finally, a reduction of lipoprotein receptor-related proteins (LRPs), which help remove beta-amyloid and mediates its transportation from the brain, has been shown to occur in T2D.⁷⁵ While these mechanisms are believed to mediate the effects of T2D on cognitive and brain health, the direction of causality remains debated upon (i.e., whether they contribute to deficits in T2D or vice versa).

1.4 Prediabetes

One major risk factor for T2D is prediabetes. Sometimes referred to as intermediate hyperglycemia, prediabetes is the state of having elevated blood glucose levels that are beyond the normal range but below the T2D threshold. Globally, the number of people with

prediabetes (based on impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), described below) is estimated to be around 352 million (7.3% of the adult population), and this number is projected to reach 587 million by 2045.⁷⁶ These estimates are based on IGT only, thus actual prevalence rates may be even higher based on other diagnostic criteria⁷⁶ that will be explored in this Chapter. Of those with prediabetes, most are unaware that they have it,⁷⁷ as common symptoms (e.g., increased thirst and urination, fatigue, excess hunger) often go undetected. Additionally, up to 70% of prediabetes cases will progress to T2D.⁷⁸ Annually, prediabetes has a T2D conversion rate of approximately 5-10%, with a similar rate of cases converting back to normoglycemia each year.⁷⁸ Potential causes of prediabetes are similar to that of T2D, and have been discussed in Chapter 1.3.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), prediabetes is defined as having (1) impaired fasting glucose (IFG) based on fasting plasma glucose (FPG) 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/l (110 to 125 mg/dl), and, if measured, 2-hour plasma glucose (2-h PG) <7.8 mmol/l (140 mg/dl), and/or (2) IGT based on FPG <7.0 mmol/l (126 mg/dl) and 2-h PG \geq 7.8 and <11.1 mmol/l (140 and 200 mg/dl); glucose refers to venous plasma glucose levels, and the 2-hour test occurs after ingestion of 75 g of an oral glucose load.⁷⁹ In comparison, diagnostic criteria for the American Diabetes Association (ADA) includes a lower FPG threshold (5.6 to 6.9 mmol/l, or 100 to 125 mg/dl) for IFG, does not recommend a 2-h PG measurement for IFG, does not include a FPG measurement for IGT (but has the same 2-h PG criteria of \geq 7.8 and <11.1mmol/l (140 and 200 mg/dl), and has an additional diagnostic measure of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c; occurs when sugar molecules attach to hemoglobin) 5.7 to 6.4%.⁸⁰ Differences between these criteria, and their potential effects on diagnoses of prediabetes, will be explored in Chapter 2.

1.4.1 Neurocognition in prediabetes

Within the literature, prediabetes has been shown to be associated with an increased risk for cognitive decline and accelerated cognitive dysfunction across many studies. Examples of cognitive domains that are disrupted in prediabetes include global cognitive function, verbal fluency, memory, and executive function.^{81,82} One study found that prediabetes was associated with faster cognitive decline over nine years when compared to diabetes-free status.⁸¹ In this study, older adults with prediabetes had a clinically relevant decline in

performance on the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), a measure of global cognition (including orientation, language, complex commands, etc.).⁸¹ Other studies, described in a review by Papunen et al. (2020), show fairly consistent findings of cognitive decline in prediabetes.⁸³ However, when assessing underlying structural deficits in prediabetes, results are largely inconsistent between studies. Cui and colleagues (2019) found that prediabetic adults, compared to healthy controls, had reduced left HV, which is commonly seen in T2D.⁸⁴ In contrast, a study by Schneider et al. (2017) found no significant difference in HV between prediabetics and healthy participants.⁸⁵ Other conflicting evidence has been found for volumetric measures of total brain, grey matter, white matter, and additional regional brain areas in prediabetics, as well as measures of cerebrovascular health and structural connectivity, which will be closely examined in Chapter 2.

Alterations in functional connectivity and hemodynamic activity in the brain may underlie cognitive deficits seen in prediabetics. However, very little research has been conducted on these topics in prediabetes. One cross-sectional study in adults assessed brain functional connectivity patterns in the default mode network, an area that has disrupted connectivity in T2D, but found no differences in functional connectivity between prediabetics and healthy controls.⁸⁶ Another study by van Bussel and colleagues (2016) found that prediabetics, on the other hand, had disrupted global functional brain networks when compared to healthy controls, but to a lesser extent than diabetics (trending).⁸⁷ Aside from these two studies, however, functional brain health in prediabetics is largely unknown.

1.5 Obesity

A second major risk factor for T2D is obesity, a complex and progressive disease defined as having excessive body fat (adiposity) that is associated with health risk.⁸⁸ Essentially, it occurs when the body's energy intake is greater than energy expenditure. Obesity is often diagnosed by calculating body mass index (BMI), which takes into account one's height (in meters (m)) and weight (in kilograms (kg)) and is calculated by height / weight. A BMI of under 25 is considered healthy, while a BMI of 25 or greater is considered a health concern (25-29.9 is defined as being overweight, and 30+ as obese). Body mass index is the most commonly used and convenient measure of obesity. While it does not directly measure body fat, it has been shown to be moderately correlated with direct measures taken via skinfold

measurements, bioelectrical impedance, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), and other tests.⁸⁹ Further, there is evidence to suggest that BMI is similarly correlated to health status as direct measures of obesity. For example, one study showed that BMI measures were highly correlated with DXA measures, and these were related to cardiovascular risk factors in similar ways.⁹⁰

Along with T2D, obesity is a major global health epidemic. The prevalence of obesity has nearly tripled since the mid-1970's, and its rate continues to steadily increase.⁹¹ In 2016, 1.9 billion people (39% of adults) worldwide were overweight, and, of these, 650 million were obese.⁹¹ Further, more than 2.8 million people die each year as a result of being overweight or obese, and this disproportionally affects older adults who are at greater risk for premature death.⁹² Obesity increases the risk of developing many debilitating chronic illnesses in addition to T2D, including coronary heart disease.⁹³ Moreover, health complications (e.g., cardiovascular impairment, including hypertension) associated with obesity appear to worsen as BMI increases.⁹⁴ In old age, obesity is also associated with greater limitations in activities of daily living and functional disabilities.⁹⁵ A review found that obesity is related to the development of mobility impairments in older adults, and this included the ability to walk, climb stairs, and rise up from a seated chair position (i.e., daily tasks).⁹⁵ Hospitalization is also common among older overweight and obese populations, which amounts to a heavy burden on the healthcare system.⁹⁶

Like T2D, there are many variables that contribute to obesity, including environmental, genetic, biological, and socioeconomic factors. Risk factors include, but are not limited to, an unhealthy diet, lack of physical activity, low socioeconomic status, exposure to obesogens (artificial chemicals that disrupt lipid metabolism), and mutations of specific genes.⁹⁷ The most commonly implicated gene in obesity is MC4R (melanocortin-4 receptor gene), which plays a key role in regulating energy homeostasis in the body; mutations of this gene have especially been implicated in early-onset obesity (i.e., in young children).⁹⁸ The disruption of hormones that regulate food intake and metabolism, such as leptin, can also lead to obesity.⁹⁹ Leptin is produced in adipose tissue and signals the hypothalamus in the brain to regulate appetite.¹⁰⁰ In addition, insulin resistance that often occurs in obesity may be the result of impaired insulin-stimulated glucose transport in adipocytes (cells that store fat), which is caused by the downregulation of the protein GLUT4 (glucose transporter type 4).¹⁰¹ To note,

there are many additional physiological mechanisms that may underlie obesity, however they are beyond this dissertation's scope.

1.5.1 Neurocognition in obesity

Research has shown that obesity is associated with cognitive impairment and is a known risk factor for dementia.¹⁰² In a cross-sectional study, adults with obesity (based on BMI) versus those with normal weight were almost four times more likely to exhibit poor executive function as measured via the Trail Making Test (TMT).¹⁰³ Additionally, a systematic review of 17 cross-sectional studies in adults found that obesity was associated with cognitive dysfunction in all cognitive domains that were measured, including complex attention, verbal and visual memory, and decision-making.¹⁰⁴ However, it should be noted that included studies in this review varied in terms of comorbidities that were controlled for in analyses, and this makes it challenging to compare between studies.¹⁰⁴ Another review assessing the associations between obesity and cognition found that weight gain was associated with impaired executive function, which may be caused by mechanisms such as systemic inflammation or insulin resistance.¹⁰⁵ Studies have also shown that cognitive impairment in those who are overweight or obese may occur in response to impaired cerebral metabolism and neuronal degradation.¹⁰⁴

Interestingly, some studies in older adults have found that increased weight may have a neuroprotective ability in old age,¹⁰⁶ and the presence of leptin may be responsible for this. Higher leptin levels in the body, which often occur in obesity,⁹⁹ have been related to better cognitive abilities,¹⁰⁷ and have been found to modulate the clearance of beta-amyloid in rodent research.¹⁰⁸ Increased leptin levels may especially be important in late life, given that leptin levels decrease naturally with age.¹⁰⁹ One study in older adults aged 70-79 found that those with higher serum leptin levels had less cognitive decline.¹¹⁰ Despite this, more research on the effects of leptin on the brain in old age is needed, as this relationship is not fully understood. Specifically, research on the potential interactions of increased leptin levels and other obesity-related underlying mechanisms is needed.

Numerous studies have also shown that obesity is correlated with brain dysfunction, including atrophy. Brain areas that appear to be most vulnerable to atrophy in overweight and obese individuals include the hippocampus, cingulate cortex, and frontal lobes, and this
parallels findings of impaired executive function and memory ability in obesity.¹¹¹ A study by Raji et al. (2010) found that obese individuals had atrophy in the frontal lobes, anterior cingulate gyrus, hippocampus, and thalamus when compared to those with normal BMI.¹¹² Similarly, a meta-analysis found associations between BMI and lower GMV in the medial prefrontal cortex, bilateral cerebellum, and left temporal pole.¹¹³ Obese individuals have also been shown to have smaller TBV compared to those with normal weight.¹¹⁴ In addition, BMI is associated with a reduction in neuronal fiber bundle length, which is thought to contribute to brain atrophy,¹¹¹ and is marked by alterations in functional connectivity networks and reductions in brain activation in areas associated with cognitive control.^{115,116}

1.6 Exercise

Exercise is defined as a form of physical activity that is planned, structured, and repetitive, and done with the intent of improving physical fitness. To note, the terms 'physical activity' and 'exercise' may be used interchangeably throughout this thesis, as this is a common occurrence in the literature. Exercise is considered to be one of the most beneficial behavioural therapies to promote health and prevent disease. Evidence from the literature suggests that there is a linear relationship between exercise and health status, such that greater amounts of exercise is related to larger health benefits.¹¹⁷ In general, exercise is known to lower blood pressure and improve cardiovascular health, aid in weight management, help maintain balance and stability, improve joint and muscle function, and prevent depression, among many other benefits. Moreover, exercise is effective in the primary prevention of over 35 chronic illnesses, including T2D, cardiovascular disease, and certain cancers.¹¹⁸ In late life, exercise also helps prevent falls and falls-related injuries including bone fractures. This is especially important given that falls are the most common cause of injury in old age.¹¹⁹ In addition, studies show that exercise can reduce the risk of death by 20-35%, however physical inactivity can increase one's risk of all-cause mortality by 52%.¹²⁰

The two most common forms of exercise are aerobic and resistance exercise. The first, aerobic exercise, is made up of endurance-type exercises (e.g., running, cycling, swimming, rowing) that require increased oxygen intake to produce the energy needed for performance output. Moreover, this type of exercise focuses on improving cardiovascular function.

Resistance exercise (i.e., weight training), on the other hand, is exercise that increases muscle mass and strength and requires less oxygen intake. While both exercise types are associated with numerous health benefits, resistance exercise is particularly useful in old age as most older adults, even those with mobility limitations, can perform some form of this exercise; by comparison, older adults are often limited in aerobic capability. Improving muscle strength through resistance exercise also helps reduce the prevalence of falls and age-related sarcopenia,¹²¹ which is characterized by progressive muscle loss.

The WHO recommends that adults aged 18-64 get a minimum of 150 minutes of moderate intensity (or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity) aerobic exercise per week for sustained health benefits.¹²² Additionally, it is suggested that adults participate in muscle-strengthening activities (at a moderate or vigorous intensity) that involve all major muscle groups at least twice per week.¹²² Older adults over the age of 65 are recommended to follow the same guidelines as younger adults, but to also practice functional balance and strength training at a moderate intensity or greater three times per week to enhance functional capacity.¹²² Older adults with chronic conditions are encouraged to be as physically active as their abilities and conditions allow.¹²²

Despite existing recommendations, physical inactivity is recognized as one of the largest public health challenges. Worldwide, less than 25% of adults meet the recommended levels of physical activity,¹²³ and older adults are often among the least active.¹²⁴ In Canada, only 16.0% of adults aged 18 to 79 meet the recommended exercise amounts,¹²⁵ and this number continues to decrease after the age of 80.¹²⁶ Exercise rates in older adults may be lower than other age groups due to the prevalence of physical impairments and chronic illnesses common in later life that prevent participation (e.g., osteoarthritis, osteoporosis). Moreover, previously self-reported barriers to exercise in old age include a lack of self-discipline, interest, enjoyment, knowledge, company, facilities, energy, and motivation to participate.^{127,128}

1.6.1 Exercise and neurocognition

There is increasing evidence that exercise not only improves bodily function, but also preserves and promotes cognition and brain health. These neurocognitive benefits are largely seen in childhood and old age when the brain is undergoing changes in structural and functional circuitry (i.e., developmental changes in childhood, age-related decline in old age).¹²⁹ Nevertheless, studies show that exercise benefits the brain across the entire lifespan.¹²⁹ In general, these benefits occur as a result of exercise-induced decreases in neuroinflammation, increases in blood flow (and with this, oxygen and nutrients) to the brain, and increases in brain chemicals that promote the growth of neurons.^{129–131} Importantly, exercise is also known to help protect against Alzheimer's disease and other types of dementia. Combined results from several prospective studies have shown that regular exercise can significantly reduce the risk for Alzheimer's disease by 45%.¹³² Larson and colleagues (2006) demonstrated that people over the age of 65 who engaged in any form of exercise three or more times per week were less likely to develop dementia later on in life when compared to those who exercised less than three times per week.¹³³

1.6.1.1 Aerobic exercise

The majority of research in the exercise neuroscience field has primarily focused on aerobic exercise, perhaps due to its important cardiovascular benefits. Findings from several studies demonstrate that aerobic exercise leads to strong improvements in cognition and brain structure and function, and these results occur well into old age.^{129,134} Cognitively, aerobic training in older adults is known to improve executive functions that are supported by the frontal cortex, including processing speed, concept formation, and fluency,¹³⁵ as well as memory.¹³⁶ Evidence from fMRI research has found that six months of thrice-weekly aerobic exercise increased brain activation in regions involved in attentional control and inhibitory processes, namely the middle frontal gyrus and superior parietal cortex, in community-dwelling older adults.¹³⁷ Six months of aerobic exercise has also been shown to increase GMV and WMV in sedentary older adults, with the largest changes in GMV seen in the frontal lobe in areas implicated in attention and memory.¹³⁸

Converging evidence from both animal and human research shows that aerobic exercise is associated with an increase in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which may serve as a main underlying mechanism leading to neurocognitive improvements.^{139,140} Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is a neuronal growth factor known to promote neuronal health and neurogenesis (the development of new neurons) especially in the hippocampus.¹²⁹ Increased BDNF levels in the brain is associated with increases in long-term potentiation (LTP), which

enhances neuronal synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity.¹²⁹ Studies show that decreased BDNF levels, particularly in older adults, may lead to neurodegeneration as well as patterns of cognitive dysfunction seen in Alzheimer's disease.¹⁴¹ In addition to the release of BDNF, other neurophysiological processes that occur in response to aerobic exercise include increased cerebral blood flow, brain angiogenesis (the development of new blood vessels) supported by increased vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels, and the release of neurotransmitters (chemical messengers in the brain) including dopamine, serotonin, and acetylcholine which promote neuronal communication and cognitive functioning.^{129,142}

1.6.1.2 Resistance exercise

Resistance exercise has also been shown to preserve and improve neurocognition, although there is less literature on this type of exercise compared to aerobic exercise. A recent systematic review assessed the effects of acute and long-term resistance training on the brain in young and older adults who were either healthy or diagnosed with a chronic illness (e.g., MCI, multiple sclerosis).¹⁴³ All included studies showed improvements in at least one or more cognitive or neurophysiological domain (e.g., improved executive function, increased hemodynamic activity, increased cortical thickness) following resistance training.¹⁴³ In older adults specifically, a study by Liu-Ambrose and colleagues (2012) found that communitydwelling females who performed 52 weeks of twice-weekly progressive resistance training exhibited better performance in tasks of executive function than those who engaged in balance and toning exercises (control group).¹⁴⁴ In this study, positive functional changes in hemodynamic activity were also found in areas implicated in response inhibition (the ability to suppress certain actions that interfere with goal-driven behaviour), including the left anterior insula, lateral orbital frontal cortex, and anterior portion of the left middle temporal gyrus (MTG).¹⁴⁴ In another study, Suo and colleagues (2016) found that six months of resistance training in older adults with MCI led to improvements in global cognition, and this was related to increased grey matter in the posterior cingulate regions.¹⁴⁵ Other studies have shown that resistance exercise lowers white matter atrophy, reduces the development of white matter lesions (WMLs), and preserves hippocampal atrophy in subfields that are susceptible to Alzheimer's disease.^{143,146}

Despite evidence demonstrating the positive impact of resistance exercise on the brain, some studies have found contradictory results. For example, despite a randomized controlled trial (RCT) in older adults showing improved memory performance following 24 weeks of thriceweekly resistance training,¹⁴⁷ a separate RCT found no improvement in memory, but did in executive function, following 52 weeks of twice-weekly resistance exercise.¹⁴⁵ Differences in findings may be attributed to differences in study designs, specifically the frequency, duration, and intensity of the exercises. Indeed, studies have shown that these elements of resistance training protocols are important to study results. For example, studies using lowerintensity resistance exercises have found no significant improvements in memory following six months of exercise.¹⁴⁸ However, studies using a resistance load of 50-80% of a one repetition maximum (i.e., 1RM, described further in Chapter 3) have found positive neurocognitive changes.¹²⁹ Moreover, it appears that RCTs of resistance exercise that are six months or greater yield the largest benefits to cognition and brain health, as do exercise trials that involve more frequent training.¹²⁹ One study assessing the effects of once- versus twiceweekly resistance training in older adults found improvements in selective attention and conflict resolution in both groups after 52 weeks, however only the twice-weekly group had improvements in functional plasticity of response inhibition processes.¹⁴⁴

Improvements in cognition and the brain following resistance exercise are believed to be mediated by various molecular and cellular changes. For example, studies show that resistance exercise stimulates the release of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), a neuronal growth factor that promotes the growth, survival, and differentiation of neurons and is known to play an important role in preventing Alzheimer's disease.¹⁴⁹ In animal models, low IGF-1 levels is associated with microvasculature degeneration in the brain as well as reduced neurogenesis in the hippocampus.¹⁴⁹ In a study in humans, higher serum IGF-1 levels were found following moderate (50% of 1RM) and high (80% of 1RM) levels of resistance exercise when compared to a stretching control group in older men.¹⁴⁷ Additionally, older adults with MCI had increased serum IGF-1 levels by ~15% following high-intensity resistance training.¹⁵⁰

There is also evidence to suggest that resistance training reduces homocysteine, an amino acid produced by the body that is used to make other substances in the body.¹⁵¹ High levels of homocysteine in the body is a known risk factor for vascular disease and brain atrophy.¹⁵²

Twelve months of high-intensity resistance exercise (75-80% 1RM) has been shown to lead to declines in serum homocysteine levels in older adults.¹⁵³ Resistance exercise is also known to have a positive effect on adipokines, which are signaling proteins secreted in adipose tissue. Adiponectin, a type of adipokine, plays an important role in improving insulin sensitivity, and low levels are correlated with insulin resistance and cognitive dysfunction.^{154,155} A study by Park and colleagues (2019) found significant increases in adiponectin following resistance exercise in postmenopausal women.¹⁵⁶ Finally, decreases in resistin (an adipose-derived protein correlated with inflammatory markers in Alzheimer's disease), increases in peripheral lactate (substance that allows glucose breakdown) concentrations, and increases in plasma BDNF and VEGF have also been found to occur following resistance training and are correlated with improved neurocognitive health.^{129,157–159}

1.7 Exercise in type 2 diabetes

Exercise is often used to combat physical and neurocognitive impairment that occurs in T2D. It is well established that regular exercise plays an important role in blood glucose control, insulin sensitivity, and cardiovascular functioning in T2D.¹⁶⁰ In one of the largest randomized trials evaluating the effects of physical activity in older adults with T2D (expanding 16 study centres), it was found that physical activity (e.g., walking; up to 175 minutes per week) significantly improved HbA1c levels and cardiovascular risk factors.¹⁶¹ Specifically, moderate and vigorous aerobic training has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism, increase GLUT4 protein expression which is key to glucose homeostasis, and decrease adiposity in T2D.^{160,162,163} In a rat model, aerobic exercise reduced blood glucose levels and led to higher neuronal density in the hippocampus.¹⁶⁴ Additionally, aerobic exercise is known to improve cognitive outcomes among people with T2D, specifically executive function, memory, and global cognitive function, and these are related to reductions in insulin resistance.¹⁶⁵ A study in older women with T2D found that participants who underwent six months of aerobic training, compared to a control group, had decreased HbA1c levels and improvements in performance on the MMSE.¹⁶⁶

Evidence demonstrates that resistance exercise may also lead to important improvements in health outcomes for those with T2D. Following 16 weeks of twice-weekly resistance

training, older diabetic men had a 46.3% increase in insulin action and a 7.1% decrease in glucose levels, and also had decreased levels of visceral fat.¹⁶⁷ An increase in muscle mass following resistance exercise may be the key contributor to improving blood glucose uptake in T2D. Since muscles are important targets for insulin, improving muscle function is directly related to improving insulin sensitivity.¹⁶⁸ Moreover, studies have shown that resistance training in T2D populations may lead to similar or greater improvements in cognition compared to aerobic training. For example, in one study, 10 weeks of either aerobic or resistance exercise led to decreases in blood glucose levels, with a larger reduction seen following resistance training program also led to improvements in white matter integrity, HV, and TBV, as well as less decline in WMV in older adults with T2D.¹⁷⁰ However, it cannot be discerned how aerobic and resistance exercise may have interacted to produce positive effects in this study.

1.8 Exercise in prediabetes and obesity

As previously touched upon, both aerobic and resistance exercise have been shown to improve health complications that are associated with prediabetes and obesity including insulin resistance and cardiovascular impairment. Exercise is important to reducing blood pressure, for example, which is often elevated in both obesity and prediabetes. In obesity especially, exercise is key to increasing one's total energy expenditure, which helps maintain energy homeostasis and promotes weight loss (or prevents further weight gain). One longitudinal study found that among older men, those with lower levels of general physical activity (i.e., climbing stairs, walking, and participating in sports and recreational activities) were more likely to gain weight overtime than those with higher levels of physical activity.¹⁷¹ Exercise-induced weight loss in overweight and obese adults has also been shown to improve attention and executive control.¹⁷² In addition, a reduction in adiposity may be associated with improved β -cell function.¹⁷³

Further studies assessing cognition have shown that exercise can significantly improve cognitive function in overweight and obese adults. For example, a cross-sectional study by Coll-Padrós et al. (2019) found that aerobic exercise was associated with better global cognitive function and improvements in functions related to the frontal lobe (attention,

cognitive flexibility, working memory) in overweight and obese older people.¹⁷⁴ Another study assessed the combined effects of aerobic, resistance, flexibility, and balance training program on cognition in older obese adults and found that this combination of exercises led to improved cognition in areas such as word fluency and global cognition.¹⁷⁵ However, it is unclear which of these exercise modalities contributed to the positive findings. Research on the independent effects of resistance exercise, in particular, on cognition in obese older adults are needed. Similarly, studies that have assessed the effects of physical activity interventions on brain health in overweight or obese adults have largely focused on the combined effects of both physical activity and diet instead of physical activity alone. For example, Espeland et al. (2016) found that a diet and physical activity intervention led to reduced WMHs overtime in overweight or obese older adults; to note, this group were also diagnosed with diabetes.¹⁷⁶

Examining the effects of exercise on prediabetes, Malin and colleagues (2012) found that those who underwent 12 weeks of thrice-weekly aerobic and resistance training improved in insulin sensitivity relative to a control group.¹⁷⁷ In this study, the authors also found that exercise led to similar improvements to insulin sensitivity as metformin, which is a common antihyperglycemic medication.¹⁷⁷ While these are positive findings, they too do not provide information on which exercise modality contributed more to the results. Studies assessing the neurocognitive benefits of exercise in older prediabetic participants, however, are quite scarce. One study by Baker and colleagues (2010) found that six months of aerobic training, compared to stretching exercises, in prediabetic older adults or those newly diagnosed with T2D led to improvements in selective and divided attention, cognitive flexibility, and working memory.¹⁷⁸ However, whether resistance training would have similar effects in this population, and whether they would improve in brain health in addition, is unknown.

1.9 Thesis overview

Neurodegeneration and cognitive dysfunction are major threats to our aging population. As such, lifestyle strategies to improve and preserve cognition and brain health, especially in clinical populations of older adults that are at high risk of impairment, are imperative. Based on the literature, resistance exercise has been identified as one modifiable behaviour that can benefit and preserve cognition and brain health. Importantly, this type of exercise has been shown to have unique benefits to older adults compared to aerobic exercise. With this

knowledge, the overarching goal of this thesis was to determine whether resistance exercise could be used to improve neurocognitive function in a population of older adults that are already experiencing neurocognitive decline (i.e., those who are prediabetic and/or overweight or obese) and are at risk of further impairment associated with T2D.

Within the literature, less is known about the neurocognitive deficits experienced in prediabetes compared to obesity, particularly in regards to structural brain impairments. Thus, a systematic review was first conducted to compare studies that have assessed structural deficits (brain volume, connectivity, cerebrovascular health) in prediabetes (Chapter 2). The goal of this review was to determine where consistencies and inconsistencies in findings may lie. Following this, a pilot RCT study was conducted to assess the preliminary effects of a 26-week resistance exercise program on cognition, brain structure, and brain function in older adults at risk for diabetes (Chapters 3 and 4). Specifically, this pilot study aimed to establish whether older adults at risk for diabetes would improve in complex attention, executive function, and memory following progressive resistance training, and whether improvements in volumetric brain measures and neural activation patterns would also be evident. Finally, the feasibility of conducting an RCT study in our target population was examined (Chapter 5). This was important in identifying whether a large-scale study would be feasible, and, if so, determining how the study protocol could be improve to better meet the needs of our targeted population in future trials.

References

- Pais R, Ruano L, P Carvalho O, Barros H. Global Cognitive Impairment Prevalence and Incidence in Community Dwelling Older Adults-A Systematic Review. *Geriatrics* (*Basel*). 2020;5(4):E84. doi:10.3390/geriatrics5040084
- 2. Sachdev PS, Blacker D, Blazer DG, et al. Classifying neurocognitive disorders: the DSM-5 approach. *Nature Reviews Neurology*. 2014;10(11):634-643. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.181
- 3. Isbell E, Stevens C, Pakulak E, Wray AH, Bell TA, Neville HJ. Neuroplasticity of selective attention: Research foundations and preliminary evidence for a gene by intervention interaction. *PNAS*. 2017;114(35):9247-9254. doi:10.1073/pnas.1707241114
- 4. Salo E, Salmela V, Salmi J, Numminen J, Alho K. Brain activity associated with selective attention, divided attention and distraction. *Brain Research*. 2017;1664:25-36. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2017.03.021
- 5. Yantis S. The Neural Basis of Selective Attention. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* 2008;17(2):86-90. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00554.x
- 6. Wittfoth M, Schardt DM, Fahle M, Herrmann M. How the brain resolves high conflict situations: Double conflict involvement of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *NeuroImage*. 2009;44(3):1201-1209. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.09.026
- Yin S, Wang T, Pan W, Liu Y, Chen A. Task-switching Cost and Intrinsic Functional Connectivity in the Human Brain: Toward Understanding Individual Differences in Cognitive Flexibility. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(12):e0145826. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145826
- Jeneson A, Wixted JT, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. Visual Working Memory Capacity and the Medial Temporal Lobe. *J Neurosci*. 2012;32(10):3584-3589. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6444-11.2012
- 9. Funahashi S. Working Memory in the Prefrontal Cortex. *Brain Sci.* 2017;7(5):49. doi:10.3390/brainsci7050049
- 10. Fletcher PC, Henson RNA. Frontal lobes and human memory: Insights from functional neuroimaging. *Brain*. 2001;124(5):849-881. doi:10.1093/brain/124.5.849
- 11. Ackerman S. *Learning, Recalling, and Thinking*. National Academies Press (US); 1992. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK234153/
- 12. Memory (Encoding, Storage, Retrieval). Noba. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://nobaproject.com/modules/memory-encoding-storage-retrieval

- 13. Caviezel MP, Reichert CF, Sadeghi Bahmani D, et al. The Neural Mechanisms of Associative Memory Revisited: fMRI Evidence from Implicit Contingency Learning. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2020;10:1002. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.01002
- 14. An Overview Of Associative Memory | Betterhelp. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.betterhelp.com/advice/memory/an-overview-of-associative-memory/
- 15. Associative Memory -- Learning At All Levels. ScienceDaily. Accessed September 8, 2021. https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2007/03/070314134812.htm
- 16. Associative learning and the hippocampus. https://www.apa.org. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.apa.org/science/about/psa/2005/02/suzuki
- 17. Memory Consolidation an overview | ScienceDirect Topics. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/neuroscience/memory-consolidation
- Staresina BP, Duncan KD, Davachi L. Perirhinal and Parahippocampal Cortices Differentially Contribute to Later Recollection of Object- and Scene-Related Event Details. *J Neurosci*. 2011;31(24):8739-8747. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4978-10.2011
- 19. Harada CN, Natelson Love MC, Triebel KL. Normal cognitive aging. *Clin Geriatr Med*. 2013;29(4):737-752. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2013.07.002
- 20. Gold BT, Powell DK, Xuan L, Jicha GA, Smith CD. Age-related slowing of task switching is associated with decreased integrity of frontoparietal white matter. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2010;31(3):512. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.04.005
- Dennis NA, McCormick-Huhn JM. Item and Associative Memory Decline in Healthy Aging. In: Wixted JT, ed. Stevens' Handbook of Experimental Psychology and Cognitive Neuroscience. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2018:1-40. doi:10.1002/9781119170174.epcn110
- 22. Salthouse TA. When does age-related cognitive decline begin? *Neurobiol Aging*. 2009;30(4):507-514. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.09.023
- 23. Gomez-Pinilla F, Hillman C. The Influence of Exercise on Cognitive Abilities. *Compr Physiol.* 2013;3(1):403-428. doi:10.1002/cphy.c110063
- 24. Murman DL. The Impact of Age on Cognition. *Semin Hear*. 2015;36(3):111-121. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1555115
- 25. Herculano-Houzel S. The human brain in numbers: a linearly scaled-up primate brain. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*. 2009;3:31. doi:10.3389/neuro.09.031.2009
- Fotenos AF, Snyder AZ, Girton LE, Morris JC, Buckner RL. Normative estimates of cross-sectional and longitudinal brain volume decline in aging and AD. *Neurology*. 2005;64(6):1032-1039. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000154530.72969.11

- Azevedo CJ, Cen SY, Jaberzadeh A, Zheng L, Hauser SL, Pelletier D. Contribution of normal aging to brain atrophy in MS. *Neurology - Neuroimmunology Neuroinflammation*. 2019;6(6). doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000616
- van de Pol LA, Hensel A, Barkhof F, Gertz HJ, Scheltens P, van der Flier WM. Hippocampal atrophy in Alzheimer disease: age matters. *Neurology*. 2006;66(2):236-238. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000194240.47892.4d
- 29. Barnes J, Bartlett JW, van de Pol LA, et al. A meta-analysis of hippocampal atrophy rates in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 2009;30(11):1711-1723. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.01.010
- Driscoll I, Hamilton DA, Petropoulos H, et al. The aging hippocampus: cognitive, biochemical and structural findings. *Cereb Cortex*. 2003;13(12):1344-1351. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhg081
- 31. West KL, Zuppichini MD, Turner MP, et al. BOLD hemodynamic response function changes significantly with healthy aging. *Neuroimage*. 2019;188:198-207. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.12.012
- 32. Archer JA, Lee A, Qiu A, Chen S-HA. Working memory, age and education: A lifespan fMRI study. *PLOS ONE*. 2018;13(3):e0194878. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0194878
- 33. Cabeza R, Daselaar SM, Dolcos F, Prince SE, Budde M, Nyberg L. Task-independent and task-specific age effects on brain activity during working memory, visual attention and episodic retrieval. *Cereb Cortex*. 2004;14(4):364-375. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhg133
- Brain-Wide Study of Age-Related Changes in Functional Connectivity | Cerebral Cortex | Oxford Academic. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://academic.oup.com/cercor/article/25/7/1987/462366
- 35. Dementia. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia
- 36. Bloom GS. Amyloid-β and tau: the trigger and bullet in Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. *JAMA Neurol*. 2014;71(4):505-508. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5847
- CDC. Disease of the Week Alzheimer's Disease. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published June 22, 2021. Accessed September 18, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/dotw/alzheimers/index.html
- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, et al. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2011;7(3):280-292. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003
- MRI Mayo Clinic. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.mayoclinic.org/testsprocedures/mri/about/pac-20384768

- 40. Editors H com. Nikola Tesla. History. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.history.com/topics/inventions/nikola-tesla
- 41. Huettel SA, Song AW, McCarthy G. (2009). *Functional magnetic resonance imaging*. Sunderland Mass: Sinauer Associates
- 42. Gallagher TA, Nemeth AJ, Hacein-Bey L. An Introduction to the Fourier Transform: Relationship to MRI. *American Journal of Roentgenology*. 2008;190(5):1396-1405. doi:10.2214/AJR.07.2874
- 43. Glover GH. Overview of Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* 2011;22(2):133-139. doi:10.1016/j.nec.2010.11.001
- 44. CDC. Type 2 Diabetes. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published May 30, 2019. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/type2.html
- 45. Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, Govender RD, Mustafa H, Al Kaabi J. Epidemiology of Type 2 Diabetes – Global Burden of Disease and Forecasted Trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2020;10(1):107-111. doi:10.2991/jegh.k.191028.001
- 46. Prasad RB, Groop L. Genetics of Type 2 Diabetes—Pitfalls and Possibilities. *Genes* (*Basel*). 2015;6(1):87-123. doi:10.3390/genes6010087
- 47. Adams JD, Vella A. What Can Diabetes-Associated Genetic Variation in TCF7L2 Teach Us About the Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes? *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2018;16(8):383-389. doi:10.1089/met.2018.0024
- 48. ABCC8 an overview | ScienceDirect Topics. Accessed September 9, 2021. https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/agricultural-and-biological-sciences/abcc8
- 49. Adiposity Compared With Physical Inactivity and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Women | Diabetes Care. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/30/1/53
- 50. Hamasaki H. Daily physical activity and type 2 diabetes: A review. *World J Diabetes*. 2016;7(12):243-251. doi:10.4239/wjd.v7.i12.243
- Berbudi A, Rahmadika N, Tjahjadi AI, Ruslami R. Type 2 Diabetes and its Impact on the Immune System. *Curr Diabetes Rev.* 2020;16(5):442-449. doi:10.2174/1573399815666191024085838
- 52. Type 2 complications. DiabetesCanadaWebsite. Accessed September 9, 2021. https://www.diabetes.ca/about-diabetes/type-2/complications
- 53. Diabetes. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes

- 54. Understand Your Risks to Prevent a Heart Attack. www.heart.org. Accessed September 9, 2021. https://www.heart.org/en/health-topics/heart-attack/understand-your-risks-to-prevent-a-heart-attack
- 55. Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 2019;157. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843
- Narayan KMV, Boyle JP, Geiss LS, Saaddine JB, Thompson TJ. Impact of Recent Increase in Incidence on Future Diabetes Burden: U.S., 2005–2050. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(9):2114-2116. doi:10.2337/dc06-1136
- 57. Diabetes in Older Adults | Diabetes Care. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/35/12/2650
- De Tata V. Age-Related Impairment of Pancreatic Beta-Cell Function: Pathophysiological and Cellular Mechanisms. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2014;5:138. doi:10.3389/fendo.2014.00138
- 59. Amati F, Dubé JJ, Coen PM, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Goodpaster BH. Physical Inactivity and Obesity Underlie the Insulin Resistance of Aging. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(8):1547-1549. doi:10.2337/dc09-0267
- 60. Type 2 diabetes: MedlinePlus Genetics. Accessed September 9, 2021. https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/condition/type-2-diabetes/
- 61. Type 2 Diabetes as a Risk Factor for Dementia in Women Compared With Men: A Pooled Analysis of 2.3 Million People Comprising More Than 100,000 Cases of Dementia | Diabetes Care. Accessed September 9, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/39/2/300
- Gudala K, Bansal D, Schifano F, Bhansali A. Diabetes mellitus and risk of dementia: A meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *J Diabetes Investig*. 2013;4(6):640-650. doi:10.1111/jdi.12087
- 63. Cheng G, Huang C, Deng H, Wang H. Diabetes as a risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Intern Med J*. 2012;42(5):484-491. doi:10.1111/j.1445-5994.2012.02758.x
- 64. Wu L, Zhang X, Zhao L. Human ApoE Isoforms Differentially Modulate Brain Glucose and Ketone Body Metabolism: Implications for Alzheimer's Disease Risk Reduction and Early Intervention. *J Neurosci.* 2018;38(30):6665-6681. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2262-17.2018
- 65. Palta P, Schneider ALC, Biessels GJ, Touradji P, Hill-Briggs F. Magnitude of cognitive dysfunction in adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of six cognitive domains and the most frequently reported neuropsychological tests within domains. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* 2014;20(3):278-291. doi:10.1017/S1355617713001483

- 66. van den Berg E, Kloppenborg RP, Kessels RPC, Kappelle LJ, Biessels GJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia and obesity: A systematic comparison of their impact on cognition. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease*. 2009;1792(5):470-481. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.09.004
- 67. Hassing LB, Grant MD, Hofer SM, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus contributes to cognitive decline in old age: a longitudinal population-based study. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*. 2004;10(4):599-607. doi:10.1017/S1355617704104165
- Mallorquí-Bagué N, Lozano-Madrid M, Toledo E, et al. Type 2 diabetes and cognitive impairment in an older population with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome: baseline cross-sectional analysis of the PREDIMED-plus study. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):16128. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-33843-8
- 69. Moheet A, Mangia S, Seaquist E. Impact of diabetes on cognitive function and brain structure. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2015;1353:60-71. doi:10.1111/nyas.12807
- Moran C, Phan TG, Chen J, et al. Brain atrophy in type 2 diabetes: regional distribution and influence on cognition. *Diabetes Care*. 2013;36(12):4036-4042. doi:10.2337/dc13-0143
- Ryan JP, Fine DF, Rosano C. Type 2 Diabetes and Cognitive Impairment: Contributions from Neuroimaging. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*. 2014;27(1):47-55. doi:10.1177/0891988713516543
- 72. Chen R, Ovbiagele B, Feng W. Diabetes and Stroke: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, Pharmaceuticals and Outcomes. *Am J Med Sci.* 2016;351(4):380-386. doi:10.1016/j.amjms.2016.01.011
- Wang D-Q, Wang L, Wei M-M, et al. Relationship Between Type 2 Diabetes and White Matter Hyperintensity: A Systematic Review. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2020;11:595962. doi:10.3389/fendo.2020.595962
- Zhou H, Yang J, Xie P, Dong Y, You Y, Liu J. Cerebral microbleeds, cognitive impairment, and MRI in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2017;470:14-19. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2017.04.019
- 75. Luchsinger JA. Type 2 diabetes and cognitive impairment: linking mechanisms. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2012;30(0):S185-S198. doi:10.3233/JAD-2012-111433
- 76. Hostalek U. Global epidemiology of prediabetes present and future perspectives. *Clin Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2019;5:5. doi:10.1186/s40842-019-0080-0
- CDC. Prediabetes Your Chance to Prevent Type 2 Diabetes. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published January 8, 2020. Accessed September 9, 2021. http://bit.ly/2hMpYrt

- Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M. Prediabetes: A high-risk state for developing diabetes. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9833):2279-2290. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60283-9
- 79. World Health Organization, International Diabetes Federation. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia : report of a WHO/IDF consultation. Published online 2006. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43588
- 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes— 2021 | Diabetes Care. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/44/Supplement_1/S15
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, Wang R, Bäckman L, Xu W. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: A populationbased cohort study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019;15(1):25-33. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3060
- Yaffe K, Blackwell T, Kanaya AM, Davidowitz N, Barrett-Connor E, Krueger K. Diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and development of cognitive impairment in older women. *Neurology*. 2004;63(4):658-663. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000134666.64593.ba
- Papunen S, Mustakallio-Könönen A, Auvinen J, Timonen M, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Sebert S. The association between diabetes and cognitive changes during aging. *Scand J Prim Health Care*. 38(3):281-290. doi:10.1080/02813432.2020.1802140
- Cui D, Liu X, Liu M, et al. Subcortical gray matter structural alterations in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Neuroreport*. 2019;30(6):441-445. doi:10.1097/WNR.00000000001224
- Schneider ALC, Selvin E, Sharrett AR, et al. Diabetes, Prediabetes, and Brain Volumes and Subclinical Cerebrovascular Disease on MRI: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Neurocognitive Study (ARIC-NCS). *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(11):1514-1521. doi:10.2337/dc17-1185
- Liu H, Liu J, Peng L, et al. Changes in default mode network connectivity in different glucose metabolism status and diabetes duration. *Neuroimage Clin*. 2019;21:101629. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2018.101629
- 87. van Bussel FCG, Backes WH, van Veenendaal TM, et al. Functional Brain Networks Are Altered in Type 2 Diabetes and Prediabetes: Signs for Compensation of Cognitive Decrements? The Maastricht Study. *Diabetes*. 2016;65(8):2404-2413. doi:10.2337/db16-0128
- 88. Barnes AS. The Epidemic of Obesity and Diabetes. *Tex Heart Inst J.* 2011;38(2):142-144.

- CDC. Defining Adult Overweight and Obesity. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published June 7, 2021. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/defining.html
- Steinberger J, Jacobs DR, Raatz S, Moran A, Hong C-P, Sinaiko AR. Comparison of body fatness measurements by BMI and skinfolds vs dual energy X-ray absorptiometry and their relation to cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2005;29(11):1346-1352. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803026
- 91. Obesity and overweight. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- 92. Obesity. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-inpictures/detail/6-facts-on-obesity
- Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, et al. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2021;143(21):e984-e1010. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000000973
- 94. Segula D. Complications of obesity in adults: A short review of the literature. *Malawi Med J.* 2014;26(1):20-24.
- Malenfant JH, Batsis JA. Obesity in the geriatric population a global health perspective. *Journal of Global Health Reports*. 2019;3:e2019045. doi:10.29392/joghr.3.e2019045
- Schafer MH, Ferraro KF. Long-term Obesity and Avoidable Hospitalization Among Younger, Middle-aged, and Older Adults. *Arch Intern Med.* 2007;167(20):2220-2225. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.20.2220
- 97. Hruby A, Hu FB. The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2015;33(7):673-689. doi:10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Doulla M, McIntyre AD, Hegele RA, Gallego PH. A novel MC4R mutation associated with childhood-onset obesity: A case report. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2014;19(10):515-518.
- 99. Izquierdo AG, Crujeiras AB, Casanueva FF, Carreira MC. Leptin, Obesity, and Leptin Resistance: Where Are We 25 Years Later? *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11):2704. doi:10.3390/nu11112704
- 100. Kelesidis T, Kelesidis I, Chou S, Mantzoros CS. Narrative Review: The Role of Leptin in Human Physiology: Emerging Clinical Applications. *Ann Intern Med*. 2010;152(2):93-100. doi:10.1059/0003-4819-152-2-201001190-00008
- 101. Kahn BB, Flier JS. Obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(4):473-481.
- 102. Sui SX, Pasco JA. Obesity and Brain Function: The Brain–Body Crosstalk. *Medicina* (*Kaunas*). 2020;56(10):499. doi:10.3390/medicina56100499

- 103. Fergenbaum JH, Bruce S, Lou W, Hanley AJG, Greenwood C, Young TK. Obesity and Lowered Cognitive Performance in a Canadian First Nations Population. *Obesity*. 2009;17(10):1957-1963. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.161
- 104. Prickett C, Brennan L, Stolwyk R. Examining the relationship between obesity and cognitive function: A systematic literature review. *Obesity Research & Clinical Practice*. 2015;9(2):93-113. doi:10.1016/j.orcp.2014.05.001
- 105. Smith E, Hay P, Campbell L, Trollor JN. A review of the association between obesity and cognitive function across the lifespan: implications for novel approaches to prevention and treatment. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(9):740-755. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00920.x
- 106. Bischof GN, Park DC. Obesity and Aging: Consequences for Cognition, Brain Structure and Brain Function. *Psychosom Med.* 2015;77(6):697-709. doi:10.1097/PSY.00000000000212
- 107. Paz-Filho G, Wong M-L, Licinio J. The procognitive effects of leptin in the brain and their clinical implications. *Int J Clin Pract*. 2010;64(13):1808-1812. doi:10.1111/j.1742-1241.2010.02536.x
- 108. Fewlass DC, Noboa K, Pi-Sunyer FX, Johnston JM, Yan SD, Tezapsidis N. Obesityrelated leptin regulates Alzheimer's Abeta. *FASEB J*. 2004;18(15):1870-1878. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2572com
- 109. Isidori AM, Strollo F, Morè M, et al. Leptin and Aging: Correlation with Endocrine Changes in Male and Female Healthy Adult Populations of Different Body Weights. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2000;85(5):1954-1962. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.5.6572
- 110. Holden KF, Lindquist K, Tylavsky FA, Rosano C, Harris TB, Yaffe K. Serum leptin level and cognition in the elderly: Findings from the Health ABC Study. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2009;30(9):1483-1489. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.11.024
- 111. The Effects of Obesity on Brain Structure and Size Practical Neurology. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://practicalneurology.com/articles/2013-july-aug/the-effects-of-obesity-on-brain-structure-and-size
- 112. Raji CA, Ho AJ, Parikshak NN, et al. Brain structure and obesity. *Hum Brain Mapp*. 2010;31(3):353-364. doi:10.1002/hbm.20870
- 113. García-García I, Michaud A, Dadar M, et al. Neuroanatomical differences in obesity: meta-analytic findings and their validation in an independent dataset. *Int J Obes*. 2019;43(5):943-951. doi:10.1038/s41366-018-0164-4
- 114. Gunstad J, Paul RH, Cohen RA, et al. Relationship between body mass index and brain volume in healthy adults. *Int J Neurosci*. 2008;118(11):1582-1593. doi:10.1080/00207450701392282

- 115. Wijngaarden MA, Veer IM, Rombouts S a. RB, et al. Obesity is marked by distinct functional connectivity in brain networks involved in food reward and salience. *Behav Brain Res.* 2015;287:127-134. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.03.016
- 116. Brooks SJ, Cedernaes J, Schiöth HB. Increased Prefrontal and Parahippocampal Activation with Reduced Dorsolateral Prefrontal and Insular Cortex Activation to Food Images in Obesity: A Meta-Analysis of fMRI Studies. *Plos One*. 2013;8(4):e60393. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0060393
- 117. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *CMAJ*. 2006;174(6):801-809. doi:10.1503/cmaj.051351
- 118. McGee SL, Hargreaves M. Exercise adaptations: molecular mechanisms and potential targets for therapeutic benefit. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2020;16(9):495-505. doi:10.1038/s41574-020-0377-1
- 119. Government of Canada SC. Understanding seniors' risk of falling and their perception of risk. Published October 1, 2014. Accessed September 14, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2014001/article/14010-eng.htm
- 120. Exercise acts as a drug; the pharmacological benefits of exercise. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://bpspubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01970.x
- 121. Law TD, Clark LA, Clark BC. Resistance Exercise to Prevent and Manage Sarcopenia and Dynapenia. Annu Rev Gerontol Geriatr. 2016;36(1):205-228. doi:10.1891/0198-8794.36.205
- 122. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241599979
- 123. FastStats. Published June 11, 2021. Accessed September 13, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/exercise.htm
- 124. Taylor D. Physical activity is medicine for older adults. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*. 2014;90(1059):26-32. doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2012-131366
- 125. Government of Canada SC. The Daily Tracking physical activity levels of Canadians, 2016 and 2017. Published April 17, 2019. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/190417/dq190417g-eng.htm
- 126. Government of Canada SC. Physical activity, self reported, adult, by age group. Published March 22, 2017. Accessed September 13, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=1310009613
- 127. Dergance JM, Calmbach WL, Dhanda R, Miles TP, Hazuda HP, Mouton CP. Barriers to and Benefits of Leisure Time Physical Activity in the Elderly: Differences Across Cultures. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2003;51(6):863-868. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2389.2003.51271.x

- 128. Justine M, Azizan A, Hassan V, Salleh Z, Manaf H. Barriers to participation in physical activity and exercise among middle-aged and elderly individuals. *smedj*. 2013;54(10):581-586. doi:10.11622/smedj.2013203
- 129. Voss MW, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T, Kramer AF. Exercise, brain, and cognition across the life span. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2011;111(5):1505-1513. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00210.2011
- 130. Seo D-Y, Heo J-W, Ko JR, Kwak H-B. Exercise and Neuroinflammation in Health and Disease. *Int Neurourol J.* 2019;23(Suppl 2):S82-92. doi:10.5213/inj.1938214.107
- 131. Querido JS, Sheel AW. Regulation of cerebral blood flow during exercise. *Sports Med.* 2007;37(9):765-782. doi:10.2165/00007256-200737090-00002
- 132. Physical exercise and dementia | Alzheimer's Society. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-dementia/risk-factors-and-prevention/physicalexercise
- 133. Larson EB, Wang L, Bowen JD, et al. Exercise is associated with reduced risk for incident dementia among persons 65 years of age and older. *Ann Intern Med.* 2006;144(2):73-81. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-144-2-200601170-00004
- 134. Hillman CH, Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2008;9(1):58-65. doi:10.1038/nrn2298
- 135. Guadagni V, Drogos LL, Tyndall AV, et al. Aerobic exercise improves cognition and cerebrovascular regulation in older adults. *Neurology*. 2020;94(21):e2245-e2257. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000009478
- 136. Kovacevic A, Fenesi B, Paolucci E, Heisz JJ. The effects of aerobic exercise intensity on memory in older adults. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* 2020;45(6):591-600. doi:10.1139/apnm-2019-0495
- 137. Colcombe SJ, Kramer AF, Erickson KI, et al. Cardiovascular fitness, cortical plasticity, and aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2004;101(9):3316-3321. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400266101
- 138. Colcombe SJ, Erickson KI, Scalf PE, et al. Aerobic Exercise Training Increases Brain Volume in Aging Humans. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*. 2006;61(11):1166-1170. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.11.1166
- 139. Schmolesky MT, Webb DL, Hansen RA. The Effects of Aerobic Exercise Intensity and Duration on Levels of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Healthy Men. J Sports Sci Med. 2013;12(3):502-511.
- 140. Jiménez-Maldonado A, Rentería I, García-Suárez PC, Moncada-Jiménez J, Freire-Royes LF. The Impact of High-Intensity Interval Training on Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Brain: A Mini-Review. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*. 2018;12:839. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00839

- 141. Liu PZ, Nusslock R. Exercise-Mediated Neurogenesis in the Hippocampus via BDNF. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*. 2018;12:52. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00052
- 142. Thomas AG, Dennis A, Bandettini PA, Johansen-Berg H. The Effects of Aerobic Activity on Brain Structure. *Front Psychol.* 2012;3:86. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00086
- 143. Herold F, Törpel A, Schega L, Müller NG. Functional and/or structural brain changes in response to resistance exercises and resistance training lead to cognitive improvements a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act.* 2019;16:10. doi:10.1186/s11556-019-0217-2
- 144. Liu-Ambrose T, Nagamatsu LS, Voss MW, Khan KM, Handy TC. Resistance training and functional plasticity of the aging brain: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2012;33(8):1690-1698. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.05.010
- 145. Suo C, Singh MF, Gates N, et al. Therapeutically relevant structural and functional mechanisms triggered by physical and cognitive exercise. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2016;21(11):1633-1642. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.19
- 146. Broadhouse KM, Singh MF, Suo C, et al. Hippocampal plasticity underpins long-term cognitive gains from resistance exercise in MCI. *Neuroimage Clin*. 2020;25:102182. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102182
- 147. Cardoso Cassilhas R, Viana V, Grassmann V, et al. The Impact of Resistance Exercise on the Cognitive Function of the Elderly. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*. 2007;39:1401-1407. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e318060111f
- 148. Lachman ME, Neupert SD, Bertrand R, Jette AM. The effects of strength training on memory in older adults. *J Aging Phys Act*. 2006;14(1):59-73. doi:10.1123/japa.14.1.59
- 149. Marston KJ, Brown BM, Rainey-Smith SR, Peiffer JJ. Resistance Exercise-Induced Responses in Physiological Factors Linked with Cognitive Health. J Alzheimers Dis. 2019;68(1):39-64. doi:10.3233/JAD-181079
- 150. Vega SR, Knicker A, Hollmann W, Bloch W, Strüder HK. Effect of Resistance Exercise on Serum Levels of Growth Factors in Humans. *Horm Metab Res*. 2010;42(13):982-986. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1267950
- 151. Jakubowski H. Homocysteine is a protein amino acid in humans. Implications for homocysteine-linked disease. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(34):30425-30428. doi:10.1074/jbc.C200267200
- 152. Sachdev PS. Homocysteine and brain atrophy. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2005;29(7):1152-1161. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.06.026
- 153. Tsai C-L, Wang C-H, Pan C-Y, Chen F-C. The effects of long-term resistance exercise on the relationship between neurocognitive performance and GH, IGF-1, and homocysteine levels in the elderly. *Front Behav Neurosci.* 2015;9:23. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00023

- 154. Lihn AS, Pedersen SB, Richelsen B. Adiponectin: action, regulation and association to insulin sensitivity. *Obes Rev.* 2005;6(1):13-21. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2005.00159.x
- 155. Teixeira AL, Diniz BS, Campos AC, et al. Decreased levels of circulating adiponectin in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuromolecular Med*. 2013;15(1):115-121. doi:10.1007/s12017-012-8201-2
- 156. Park KM, Park SC, Kang S. Effects of resistance exercise on adipokine factors and body composition in pre- and postmenopausal women. *J Exerc Rehabil*. 2019;15(5):676-682. doi:10.12965/jer.1938368.184
- 157. Prestes J, Shiguemoto G, Botero JP, et al. Effects of resistance training on resistin, leptin, cytokines, and muscle force in elderly post-menopausal women. J Sports Sci. 2009;27(14):1607-1615. doi:10.1080/02640410903352923
- 158. Wirtz N, Wahl P, Kleinöder H, Mester J. Lactate Kinetics during Multiple Set Resistance Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med.* 2014;13(1):73-77.
- 159. Huey KA. Potential Roles of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor During Skeletal Muscle Hypertrophy. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 2018;46(3):195-202. doi:10.1249/JES.00000000000152
- 160. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, et al. Exercise and Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2010;33(12):e147-e167. doi:10.2337/dc10-9990
- 161. Look AHEAD Research Group, Wing RR, Bolin P, et al. Cardiovascular effects of intensive lifestyle intervention in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2013;369(2):145-154. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1212914
- 162. Gregory JM, Muldowney JA, Engelhardt BG, et al. Aerobic exercise training improves hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity, but reduces splanchnic glucose uptake in obese humans with type 2 diabetes. *Nutr Diabetes*. 2019;9(1):25. doi:10.1038/s41387-019-0090-0
- 163. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Yardley JE, et al. Physical Activity/Exercise and Diabetes: A Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(11):2065-2079. doi:10.2337/dc16-1728
- 164. Mehta BK, Singh KK, Banerjee S. Effect of exercise on type 2 diabetes-associated cognitive impairment in rats. *Int J Neurosci.* 2019;129(3):252-263. doi:10.1080/00207454.2018.1526795
- 165. Zhao RR, O'Sullivan AJ, Fiatarone Singh MA. Exercise or physical activity and cognitive function in adults with type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance or impaired glucose tolerance: a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act.* 2018;15(1):1. doi:10.1186/s11556-018-0190-1
- 166. Molina-Sotomayor E, Onetti-Onetti W, Castillo-Rodríguez A, González-Jurado JA. Changes in Cognitive Function and in the Levels of Glycosylated Haemoglobin

(HbA1c) in Older Women with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Subjected to a Cardiorespiratory Exercise Programme. *Sustainability*. 2020;12(12):5038. doi:10.3390/su12125038

- 167. Ibañez J, Izquierdo M, Argüelles I, et al. Twice-weekly progressive resistance training decreases abdominal fat and improves insulin sensitivity in older men with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(3):662-667. doi:10.2337/diacare.28.3.662
- 168. Turcotte LP, Fisher JS. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance: roles of fatty acid metabolism and exercise. *Phys Ther*. 2008;88(11):1279-1296. doi:10.2522/ptj.20080018
- 169. Bweir S, Al-Jarrah M, Almalty A-M, et al. Resistance exercise training lowers HbA1c more than aerobic training in adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome*. 2009;1(1):27. doi:10.1186/1758-5996-1-27
- 170. Callisaya ML, Daly RM, Sharman JE, et al. Feasibility of a multi-modal exercise program on cognition in older adults with Type 2 diabetes a pilot randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr*. 2017;17:237. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0635-9
- Shiroma EJ, Sesso HD, Lee I-M. Physical activity and weight gain prevention in older men. *Int J Obes*. 2012;36(9):1165-1169. doi:10.1038/ijo.2011.266
- 172. Stillman CM, Weinstein AM, Marsland AL, Gianaros PJ, Erickson KI. Body–Brain Connections: The Effects of Obesity and Behavioral Interventions on Neurocognitive Aging. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2017;9:115. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2017.00115
- 173. Goto M, Morita A, Goto A, et al. Reduction in Adiposity, β-Cell Function, Insulin Sensitivity, and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A Prospective Study among Japanese with Obesity. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(3):e57964. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057964
- 174. Coll-Padrós N, León M, Valech N, et al. Physical activity is associated with better global cognition and frontal function in overweight/obese older adults with metabolic syndrome. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*. 2019;16(1):23. doi:10.1186/s11556-019-0229-y
- 175. Napoli N, Shah K, Waters DL, Sinacore DR, Qualls C, Villareal DT. Effect of weight loss, exercise, or both on cognition and quality of life in obese older adults1234. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;100(1):189-198. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.082883
- 176. Espeland MA, Erickson K, Neiberg RH, et al. Brain and White Matter Hyperintensity Volumes After 10 Years of Random Assignment to Lifestyle Intervention. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(5):764-771. doi:10.2337/dc15-2230
- 177. Malin SK, Gerber R, Chipkin SR, Braun B. Independent and Combined Effects of Exercise Training and Metformin on Insulin Sensitivity in Individuals With Prediabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(1):131-136. doi:10.2337/dc11-0925

178. Baker LD, Frank LL, Foster-Schubert K, et al. Aerobic exercise improves cognition for older adults with glucose intolerance, a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2010;22(2):569-579. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-100768

Chapter 2

2 Brain deficits in prediabetic adults: A systematic review

The content in Chapter 2 has been published as:

Furlano JA, Horst BR, Nagamatsu LS. Brain deficits in prediabetic Adults: A systematic review. J Neurosci Res. 2021;00:1-19. doi:10.1002/jnr.24830

Some of the published content has been edited for this thesis.

2.1 Introduction

Globally, diabetes is the fourth leading cause of disability,¹ with over 400 million documented cases worldwide.² Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is characterized by high blood glucose levels associated with insulin resistance and glucose intolerance. While T2D is often accompanied by physical comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease and obesity, it is also associated with neural dysfunction. Specifically, studies have shown that T2D is correlated with deficits in brain health, including cortical and subcortical atrophy, reduced structural connectivity, and cerebrovascular pathology such as WMHs.³⁻⁶ Possible mechanisms linking T2D to neural dysfunction include hyperinsulinemia and abnormal β -cell function, chronic systematic inflammation, vascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension, hypercholesterolemia), and oxidative stress leading to neuronal death.⁷

One major risk factor for T2D is prediabetes, which is the state of having elevated blood glucose levels that are below the T2D classification threshold (i.e., an intermediate level between normal and diabetic levels). The full diagnostic criteria for prediabetes has been presented in Chapter 1; briefly, some of the main differences between the WHO⁸ and ADA⁹ definitions of prediabetes are that the ADA uses a lower threshold for FPG and has an additional measure of HbA1c. Prediabetes has been shown to be associated with cognitive deficits in areas such as global cognitive function, visuospatial processing, language, episodic memory, and executive function.^{5,10,11} As such, underlying deficits in brain structure and cerebrovascular function in this population are expected. However, previous research assessing the association between prediabetes and brain health have yielded largely mixed results. While some studies have found no differences in brain volume or cerebrovascular function between adults with normal blood glucose levels (normoglycemia) and those with

prediabetes, other studies have found significant differences suggesting that prediabetics experience some neural decline. For example, Schneider and colleagues (2017) found no differences in TBV and HV between these two populations,¹² while Hou and colleagues (2016) found lower GMV for prediabetics in areas such as the right (ACC) and left MTG.¹³ Evidently, the relationship between prediabetes and brain health is unclear, and conducting a systematic review of the literature will help summarize what is known thus far and identify what future research may be needed.

One 2019 meta-analysis examining prediabetes and structural brain abnormalities found that prediabetes is associated with increased risk for cerebral infarcts and WMHs, and decreased GMV and WMV.¹⁴ However, this paper included some studies in which clinical comorbidities that have been associated with neurological decline (e.g., stroke) were present.¹⁴ Importantly, our review focused on individuals with prediabetes that were otherwise neurologically healthy, which allows us to better understand potential brain abnormalities that may be the result of prediabetes alone.

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to examine prediabetes and brain deficits in otherwise healthy adults. In our review, we focused on brain volume (e.g., TBV, GMV, WMV, cortical thickness), structural connectivity, and cerebrovascular pathology (e.g., cerebral infarcts, microbleeds), as measured by MRI. These measures of brain health were chosen based on what is currently known about neural deficits in T2D. Ultimately, we aimed to identify areas of the brain that may be affected in prediabetes and the degree of possible deficits, in hopes that our findings will help inform future research including interventions targeted at improving brain health in this population.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Search strategy

Following the PRISMA reporting standards for systematic reviews, we conducted a systematic search of PsychINFO, Scopus, Web of Science, Ovid MEDLINE, CINAHL and EMbase databases to identify studies that examined the association between prediabetes and brain health. We included the following medical subject headings (MeSH): (a) 'Prediabetic State'; (b) 'Grey Matter'; (c) 'White Matter'; and (d) 'Magnetic Resonance Imaging'.

Additionally, free text words such as 'prediabetes' 'pre-diabetes', 'potential diabetes', 'prediabetic', 'frontal lobe', 'prefrontal cortex', 'medial temporal lobe', 'temporal cortex', 'parahippocampus', 'fusiform', 'hippocampus', 'diagnostic imaging', 'structural imaging', and 'diffusion tensor imaging' were included in the search with their related MeSH concept using the Boolean operator 'OR', and main concepts were further searched together using 'AND'. Studies were exported into Mendeley for review.

2.2.2 Selection of studies

Two reviewers (JAF and BRH) conducted an initial screening of exported studies based on titles and abstracts. Only peer-reviewed articles that were published in English between 2009 and April 2020 were included in our study. Additional inclusion criteria included: (a) human research; (b) participants aged 18 or older; (c) inclusion of a prediabetes group; (d) inclusion of a healthy normoglycemic control group; and (e) outcome measures related to brain health as measured using MRI. We excluded studies with the following criteria: (a) animal research; (b) samples that had other clinical diagnoses (e.g., stroke, bipolar disorder); or (c) non-primary research (e.g., abstracts, reviews, book chapters). Following the initial screening, a full-text review was conducted by both authors (JAF and BRH). Reference lists from selected studies were then reviewed and subjected to title and abstract evaluation in order to collect relevant studies that may have been missed in our original search. Individual results of the two reviewers were then compared, and consensus of final inclusion of articles was reached by discussion with the third author (LSN).

2.2.3 Data extraction

Using a standardized form, two authors (JAF and BRH) performed data extraction. Extracted data included: author(s), year of publication, study objective, study type, setting, population, inclusion/exclusion criteria, brain health outcome measures, statistical analysis and health covariates, summary of findings, study limitations, MRI resolution, MRI analysis and exclusion criteria, classification metric for diabetes type, and specific details regarding each group (i.e., T2D, prediabetes, normoglycemic control) if applicable including number of participants, mean age and sex breakdown, average FPG, average 2-h PG, and average HbA1c %.

2.2.4 Quality assessment

To assess the quality of each study, we used eight questions based on the National Institutes of Health Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-sectional Studies (**Table 2.1**).¹⁵ The eight questions included were: (1) Was the research question or objective clearly stated?; (2) Was the study population clearly specified and defined?; (3) Were participant inclusion and exclusion criteria specified?; (4) Was a sample size justification or power description provided?; (5) Are the main outcome measures clearly described?; (6) Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted for in analyses (for outcomes of interest)?; and (7) Was the prediabetes classification used recognized by an international association? Question 7 was created specifically for this study. Two authors (JAF and BRH) independently evaluated each study, and any discrepancies were discussed with the third author (LSN).

Reference	1. Was the research question or objective clearly stated?	2. Was the study population clearly specified and defined?	3. Were participant inclusion and exclusion criteria specified?	4. Was a sample size justification or power description provided?	5. Are the main outcome measures clearly described?	6. Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted for in analyses (for outcomes of interest)?	7. Was the prediabetes classification used recognized by an international association?
Bamberg et al 2017	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Cui et al. 2019	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Dong et al. 2019	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Hirabayashi et al. 2016	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Hou et al. 2016 ²¹	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Hou et al. 2016 ¹²	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Liang et al. 2019	+	+	+	-	+	_	+
Markus et al. 2017	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Marseglia et al. 2019	+	+	+	-	+	+	+

Table 2.1: Quality assessment of included studies.

Reitz et al. 2017	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Rusinek et al. 2015	+	+	+	_	+	_	_
Saczynski et al. 2009	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Samaras et al. 2014	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Schneider et al. 2017	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Shaw et al. 2017	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Storz et al. 2018	+	+	+	_	+	_	+
van Agtmaal et al. 2018	+	+	+	_	+	+	+
Vergoossen et al. 2020	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Walsh et al. 2018	+	+	+	_	+	+	+

"+" indicates the item was addressed in the article and "-" indicates that it was not addressed.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Selected studies

Our search of the combined databases yielded 1171 results, with 948 studies remaining after duplicates were excluded. After completion of initial title and abstract screening, 52 articles remained for full-text assessment. From these full-text articles, 64 additional studies from the reference lists were identified for further screening based on titles. After further abstract screening, 50 of these articles were excluded, leaving a total of 66 full text articles (original database plus reference-mined) to be evaluated. After full-text review using eligibility criteria, 19 studies were selected for data extraction. **Figure 2.1** shows a flow diagram of the review process for study selection, and **Table 2.2** includes the description and characteristics of included studies. To report study findings in our review, studies were divided into three categories: volumetric measures, structural connectivity, and cerebrovascular health, wherein some studies were included in more than one category.



Figure 2.1: Flow diagram of included studies.

Reference	Location	Study sample	Study design	Diabetes classification (prediabetes diagnostic measure)	Brain health outcomes	Confounding variables adjusted in analyses (for outcomes of interest)	MRI resolution
Bamberg et al. 2017	Germany	Community- dwelling Total: $N=400, 56.3 \pm 9.0$ years [†] 42.2% female Prediabetes: $N=103, 58.3 \pm 9.0$ years [†] 35.9% female Healthy controls: $N=243, 54.2 \pm 9.0$ years [†] 48.6% female	Cross-sectional (case-control) Data from the Cooperative Health Research in Region of Augsburg (KORA)	WHO	WMLs ARWMC CMBs	Age Sex Systolic blood pressure Smoking status HDL level LDL level Triglyceride level	3T
Cui et al. 2019	China	Hospital patients Total: $N=63, 55.9 \pm 8.0$	Cross-sectional	WHO	Subcortical GMV: Thalamus Caudate Putamen	Age Sex Education Head size	1.5T

 Table 2.2: Study description and characteristics.

	years [†] 65.1% female Prediabetes: N=21, 57.7 ± 6.6 years [†] 61.9% female Healthy controls: N=21, 52.4 ± 8.0 years [†] 66.7% female			Pallidum Hippocampus Amygdala Nucleus accumbens		
Dong et al. China 2019	Memory clinic patients Total: $N=60, 58.2 \pm 4.6$ years [†] 50% female Prediabetes: $N=17, 58.1 \pm 4.6$ years [†] 52.9% female Healthy controls: $N=22, 57.2 \pm 4.1$ years [†] 45.5% female	Cross-sectional	ADA (HbA1c)	Hippocampal subfield volumes: CA1 CA2 + CA3 CA4 Dentate gyrus Hippocampal tail Fimbria Hippocampal fissure Molecular layer Subiculum Parasubiculum Presubiculum GMV WMV CSFV	Age Gender Education BMI Hypertension Total cholesterol level Presence of ApoE4	3T

Hirabayashi et al. 2016	Japan	Community- dwelling Total: $N=1238, 74.8 \pm 6.8$ years [†] 56.4% female Prediabetes: Not provided [‡] Non-T2D: $N=952, 75 \pm 7.0$ years [†] 60.3% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Hisayama Study	WHO	TBV to ICV (global brain atrophy) HV to ICV (hippocampal atrophy) HV to TBV (hippocampal atrophy beyond global brain atrophy)	Fully adjusted models: Age Sex Education Hypertension Total cholesterol level BMI Smoking status Alcohol intake Regular exercise Cerebrovascular lesions on MRI Antidiabetic medication	1.5T
Hou et al. 2016 ²¹	Taiwan	Hospital outpatients Total: $N=118, 53.1 \pm 8.9$ years [†] 44.1% female Prediabetes: $N=64, 52.8 \pm 9.7$ years [†] 43.8% female Healthy controls:	Cross-sectional	ADA (FPG)	WM tracts (FA, RD, AD)	Global brain V Age Gender	3T

		$N=54, 53.5 \pm 7.9$ years [†] 44.4% female					
Hou et al. 2016 ¹²	Taiwan	Hospital outpatients Total: $N=118, 53.1 \pm 8.9$ years [†] 44.1% female Prediabetes: $N=64, 52.8 \pm 9.7$ years [†] 43.8% female Healthy controls: $N=54, 53.5 \pm 7.9$ years [†] 44.4% female	Cross-sectional	ADA (FPG)	GMV ACC V PCC V MTG V STG V Insula V	Fully adjusted models: Global brain V Age Gender BMI Education	3T
Liang et al. 2019	China	Hospital inpatients/outpatient s Total: $N=60, 53.9 \pm 7.1$ years [†] 66.7% female Prediabetes:	Cross-sectional	ADA (IFG and/or IGT)	WMLs (FA, MD, RD, AD)	N/A Initial t-test revealed no differences in gender, age, education, BMI, hypertension, total cholesterol level, LDL level between groups (prediabetes versus normoglycemia), but	3T
		N=30, 55.0 \pm 6.7 years [†] 66.7% female Healthy controls: N=30, age=52.8 \pm 7.5 years [†] 66.7% female				significant differences were found for triglyceride level and HDL level	
-----------------------	---------	---	---	-------------------------	------------	---	------
Markus et al. 2017	Germany	Community- dwelling Total: $N=1330, 49.3 (36, 69)^{\$}$ years [†] 55.9% female Healthy controls: $N=759, 45 (36, 55)^{\$}$ years [†] 62.5% female IFG: $N=310, 54 (45, 62)^{\$}$ years [†] 42.9 female IGT: $N=83, 50 (40, 61)^{\$}$ years [†]	Cross-sectional Data from the Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP)	ADA (IFG and/or IGT)	GMV WMV	Sex Age Weight Total brain V/intracranial V ratio Education Smoking status Total cholesterol level/HDL level ratio Estimated glomerular filtration rate Fasting time	1.5T

		71.1% female IFG+IGT: <i>N</i> =114, 59 (51, 66) [§] years [†] 45.6% female					
Marseglia et al. 2019	Sweden	Community- dwelling or institutional living Total: $N=2746, 72.7 \pm 10.2$ years [†] 62.7% female Prediabetes: $N=947, 74.6 \pm 10.4$ years [†] 65.6% female Healthy controls: $N=1557, 71.3 \pm 10.0$ years [†] 63.4% female	Longitudinal (cohort) (6 years) Data from the Swedish National Study on Aging and Care- Kungholmen (SNAC-K)	ADA (HbA1c)	TBV GMV WMV HV WMHV	Sex Education Socioeconomic status BMI Hypertension Heart diseases	1.5T
Reitz et al. 2017	United States	Community- dwelling, Medicare recipients Total:	Cross-sectional and longitudinal (cohort) (4 years)	ADA (HbA1c)	GMV WMV HV Cerebral infarcts WMHV	Fully adjusted models: ICV Age Sex Education	1.5T

		N=618, 80.0 \pm 5.4 years [†] 69.3% female Prediabetes: N=224, 80.6 \pm 5.6 years [†] 71.0% female Healthy controls: N=115, 79.8 \pm 5.4 years [†] 66.1% female				Ethnic group Presence of ApoE4 Hypertension Smoking status BMI HDL level	
Rusinek et al. 2015	United States	Not specified Total: $N=87, 52.2 \pm 4.6$ years [†] 57.5% female Prediabetes: $N=27, 50.9 \pm 4.5$ years [†] 52% female Healthy controls: $N=37, 51.8 \pm 3.8$ years [†] 59% female	Cross-sectional	Not association recognized; Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index	GM CBF	N/A	3T

Saczynski et al. 2009	Iceland	Community- dwelling Total: N=4415; 76.2 ± 5.5 years [†] 58.5% female Prediabetes: N=1599, 75.9 ± 5.4 years [†] 52.5% female Healthy controls: N=2327, 76.4 ± 5.5 years [†] 65% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Age Gene/Environm ent Susceptibility- Reykjavik Study (AGES- Reykjavik)	ADA (FPG) and WHO (FPG)	TBV GMV WMV Cerebral infarcts WMLs	Fully adjusted models: Age Sex Education Hypertension Smoking status Physical activity BMI Myocardial infarction	1.5T
Samaras et al. 2014	Australia	Community- dwelling Total: $N=795, 78.3 \pm 4.79$ years [†] 51.4% female Prediabetes: $N=346, 78.6 \pm 4.8$ years [†] 44% female	Longitudinal (cohort) (2 years) Data from the Sydney Memory and Ageing (MAS) Study	ADA (FPG)	TBV HV CSFV Parahippocampal gyrus V Precuneus V Frontal lobe V	Age Sex Education Non-English speaking background Smoking status Hypertension Lipid-lowering or antihypertensive medications ICV	1.5T

		Healthy controls: $N=343, 78.0 \pm 4.8$ years [†] 56% female					
Schneider et al. 2017	United States	Community- dwelling Total: $N=1713, 75.2 \text{ years}^{\dagger}$ 60.6.% female Prediabetes: $N=514, 75.2 \text{ years}^{\dagger}$ 61.7% female Healthy controls: $N=597, 75 \text{ years}^{\dagger}$ 59.7% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Neurocognitive Study (ARIC- NCS)	ADA (HbA1c, FPG)	TBV Lobule V: Frontal Temporal Occipital Parietal Deep grey subcortical structure V: Thalamus + Caudate + Putamen + Global Pallidum Alzheimer's disease signature region V: Parahippocampal + Entorhinal + Inferior parietal lobules + Hippocampus + Precuneus + Cuneus HV Cerebral infarcts LIs	Age Sex Race/field centre location Education Smoking status Hypertension Cardiovascular disease Presence of ApoE4 ICV	3Т

					Lobar microhemorrhages Subcortical microhemorrhages WMHV		
Shaw et al. 2017	Australia	Community- dwelling Total: $N=322, 63.1 \pm 1.5$ years [†] 50% female Prediabetes: $N=62, 62.9 \pm 1.4$ years [†] 34% female Healthy controls: $N=212, 63.1 \pm 1.5$ years [†] 55% female	Cross-sectional and longitudinal (12 years) Data from the Personality and Total Health Through Life (PATH) Study	WHO (FPG; two or more measurement s)	Cortical thickness	Age Age ² Sex Education BMI Presence of ApoE4 Hypertension Physical activity Depression status ICV Note, these covariates varied across analyses	1.5T
Storz et al. 2018	Germany	Community- dwelling Total: $N=243, 55.6 \pm 8.9$ years [†] 37.9% female	Cross-sectional (case-control)	WHO	ARWMC	N/A	3T

		Prediabetes: $N=48, 55.9 \pm 8.9$ years [†] 29.2% female Healthy controls: $N=157, 54.2 \pm 8.8$ years [†] 43.3% female					
van Agtmaal et al. 2018	Netherlan ds	Community- dwelling Total: $N=2228, 59.3 \pm 8.2$ years [†] 48.3% female Prediabetes: $N=347, 61.1 \pm 7.6$ years [†] 44.5% female Healthy controls: $N=1373, 57.6 \pm 8.1$ years [†] 55.6% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Maastricht Study	WHO	GMV WMV CFSV LIs WMHV CMBs	Fully adjusted models: Age Sex ICV Time between baseline and MRI BMI Education Smoking status Total cholesterol level/HDL level ratio Triglyceride level Estimated glomerular filtration rate Office systolic blood pressure or 24-hour systolic blood pressure Blood pressure-lowering and lipid-modifying	3T

						medication Urinary albumin excretion	
Vergoossen et al. 2020	Netherlan ds	Community- dwelling Total: $N=2219, 59.3 \pm 8.2$ years [†] 48.5% female Prediabetes: $N=348, 61.2 \pm 7.5$ years [†] 44.8% female Healthy controls: $N=1361, 57.6 \pm 8.1$ years [†] 55.8% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Maastricht Study	WHO	WM tractography: Node degree Topology: Clustering coefficient Local efficiency Global efficacy Communicability	Age Sex Education MRI date BMI Total cholesterol level/HDL level ratio Lipid-modifying medication Office systolic blood pressure Antihypertensive medication Cardiovascular disease MRI lag time Average node degree Note, these covariates varied across analyses	3T
Walsh et al. 2018	Australia	Community- dwelling Total: $N=494, 64.7 \pm 9.8$ years [†] 49.2% female	Cross-sectional Data from the Personality and Total Health Through Life (PATH) Study	ADA (FPG; two or more measurement s)	TBV GMV WMV Thalamus V Corpus callosum V	Age Sex ICV Cohort (age group) Education Hypertension Smoking status	1.5T

	Physical activity
Prediabetes:	
$N=95, 65.8 \pm 10.0$	
years [†]	
32.6% female	
Healthy controls:	
$N=353, 63.7 \pm 9.6$	
years [†]	
55.0% female	

[†]Mean age.

[§]Age range.

[‡]Non-T2D group included both healthy controls (normoglycemic) and prediabetics.

F = female; T = tesla; V = volume; WM = white matter; GM = grey matter; TBV = total brain volume; GMV = grey matter volume; WMV = white matter volume; HV = hippocampal volume; CFSV = cerebrospinal fluid volume; ICV = intracranial volume; WMHV = white matter hyperintensity volume; WMLs = white matter lesions; CMBs = cerebral microbleeds; LIs = lacunar infarcts; CBF = cerebral blood flow; ARWMC = age-related white matter changes; FA = fractional anisotropy; MD = mean diffusivity; RD = radial diffusivity; AD = axial diffusivity; ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; PCC = posterior cingulate cortex; MTG = middle temporal gyrus; STG = superior temporal gyrus; BMI = body mass index; HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; IFG = impaired fasting glucose; IGT = impaired glucose tolerance; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c = hemoglobin A1c; WHO = World Health Organization; ADA = American Diabetes Association.

2.3.2 Volumetric measures – 13 studies

Thirteen studies (nine cross-sectional, four longitudinal) assessed volumetric brain measures, including TBV, GMV, WMV, cerebrospinal fluid volume (CSFV), HV, regional subfield volumes, and cortical thickness. Results of these studies (comparing prediabetic and normoglycemic groups) are summarized in **Table 2.3**.

2.3.2.1 Cross-sectional

One study by Hirabayashi and colleagues (2016) assessed the relationship between diabetes status (normoglycemia, IFG, IGT, T2D) and brain atrophy in older adults.¹⁶ The authors examined ratios of TBV to intracranial volume (ICV) as an indicator of global brain atrophy, HV to ICV as an indicator of hippocampal atrophy, and HV to TBV as an indicator of hippocampal atrophy beyond global brain atrophy.¹⁶ When compared to those with normoglycemia, mean values for the three ratios were found to be similar in the IFG and IGT groups.¹⁶ However, the 2-h PG (but not FPG) trend was significant for all three ratios, indicating differences in diabetes measures.¹⁶

In another study examining IFG and IGT separately, Markus and colleagues (2017) measured GMV and WMV in adults with normal glucose tolerance (NGT), isolated IFG, isolated IGT, combined IFG and IGT (IFG+IGT), and undiagnosed T2D.¹⁷ Results showed significantly lower GMV in the IFG group, but not in the IGT or IFG+IGT groups, when compared to the NGT group.¹⁷ However, the IGT groups were underpowered.¹⁷ Significant inverse associations were also found for FPG and 2-h PG levels with GMV, but no association was found for HbA1c levels and GMV.¹⁷ Moreover, a 1 mmol/l increase in FPG was associated with a decrease of 7.02 ml in GMV, whereas a 1 mmol/l increase in 2-h PG was associated with a decrease of 1.97 ml in GMV.¹⁷ For WMV, no between group differences were found across all groups.¹⁷

A third cross-sectional study examined WMV, GMV, and CSFV in adults.⁶ Compared to normoglycemia, prediabetes was associated with significantly smaller WMV and larger

CSFV.⁶ Interestingly, the regression coefficient of prediabetes with WMV was approximately one-half that of T2D, suggesting a progressive decline.⁶ No differences were found between prediabetes and normoglycemia for GMV.⁶ In general, higher HbA1c, FPG, and 2-h PG levels were associated with lower WMV and GMV and higher CSFV.⁶

In a similar study, Saczynski and colleagues (2009) assessed differences in TBV, GMV, and WMV in older adults with normoglycemia, IFG, and T2D.³ In adjusted models, no significant associations were present between those with normoglycemia and IFG for any volumetric measures.³ HbA1c levels were also not associated with brain volumes in general analyses.³

Walsh and colleagues (2019) took a unique approach to examining TBV, GMV, WMV, thalamus volume, and volume of the corpus callosum in adults.¹⁸ Participants were characterized as having normal fasting glucose (NFG), IFG, or T2D based on glucose measurements, and data was divided into quartiles based on brain volume sizes.¹⁸ In those with average and small brains (50th and 25th percentiles, respectively), regression analyses showed that IFG was positively associated with TBV.¹⁸ In individuals with average-sized brains, IFG was positively associated with GMV, and in those with small brains, IFG was positively associated with large brains (75th percentile), BMI × blood glucose interaction was positively associated with TBV.¹⁸

In a cross-sectional study measuring grey matter alterations in adults with IFG and those with normoglycemia, those with IFG were found to have lower GMVs than those with normoglycemia in the right ACC, right posterior cingulate cortex, left insula, left superior temporal gyrus, and left MTG.¹³ In addition, serum glucose levels were negatively correlated with total GMV and right ACC GMV.¹³ Similarly, a study assessing reductions in subcortical grey matter structures (thalamus, caudate, putamen, pallidum, hippocampus, amygdala, nucleus accumbens) showed significantly lower volumes for the left hippocampus, left amygdala, and right putamen in prediabetics when compared to those with normoglycemia.¹⁹ No significant differences were found between prediabetes and T2D in this study.¹⁹

Additionally, Dong and colleagues (2019) examined HV, hippocampal subfield volumes (CA1, CA2 + CA3 combined, CA4, dentate gyrus, hippocampal tail, fimbria, hippocampal fissure, molecular layer, subiculum, parasubiculum, and presubiculum), GMV, WMV, and CSFV in adults with normoglycemia, prediabetes, and T2D.⁴ Compared to those with normoglycemia, prediabetics had smaller left hippocampal tail volumes.⁴ No significant differences were found between these two groups for other brain measures.⁴ Among all participants, significant correlations were found between HbA1c levels and total HV, left hippocampal tail, right presubiculum, and bilateral dentate gyrus, subiculum, and molecular layer.⁴

A final cross-sectional study examined regional brain volumes in adults with normoglycemia, prediabetes, and T2D.¹² Volumetric measures were reported for total brain, lobules (frontal, temporal, occipital, parietal), deep grey subcortical structure (defined as total volume of the thalamus, caudate, putamen, globus pallidum), Alzheimer's disease signature region (defined as total volume of the parahippocampal, entorhinal, and inferior parietal lobules, hippocampus, precuneus, cuneus), and hippocampus.¹² Prediabetics did not significantly differ in brain volumes when compared to those with normoglycemia.¹² In general however, increased HbA1c levels were associated with decreased TBV.¹²

2.3.2.2 Longitudinal

In a longitudinal cohort study in older adults, Reitz and colleagues (2017) assessed GMV, WMV, and HV in those with NGT, prediabetes, undiagnosed T2D, and known T2D.¹⁰ At baseline, there were no significant differences in measures between prediabetes and NGT.¹⁰ Comparatively, dysglycemia was associated with decreased WMV, GMV, and HV; however, since prediabetes and T2D were grouped together within the dysglycemia classification, it is unclear which group may be driving this association.¹⁰ In adjusted models, continuous HbA1c levels were associated with lower TBV when the sample was restricted to NGT and prediabetic individuals.¹⁰ Longitudinal analyses across four years also found that increased dysglycemia was associated with a significant decline in GMV, but not WMV or HV,

compared to NGT.¹⁰ When dysglycemia was separated into prediabetic and T2D groups, no significant rate of change was observed, but it was noted that WMV and HV were appreciably lower in these groups compared to NGT.¹⁰

A second longitudinal cohort study measured brain volumes (TBV, HV, CSFV, parahippocampal gyrus volume, precuneus volume, and frontal lobe volume) in older adults with NFG, IFG, and T2D.²⁰ At the two-year follow-up, individuals who had IFG at baseline showed significant declines in HV and parahippocampal gyrus volume compared to those who had NFG at baseline.²⁰ However, this relationship was altered when the blood glucose status at the two-year follow-up was considered.²⁰ Those who maintained stable IFG status (IFG at both assessment times) had similar declines in brain volumes as those who had stable NFG.²⁰ Comparatively, those who developed an incident glucose disorder (NFG at baseline, and IFG at follow-up) had significant decline in TBV and frontal lobe volumes, but not HV or parahippocampal gyrus volume.²⁰

Shaw and colleagues (2017) conducted a 12-year longitudinal study in older adults to examine the association between blood glucose levels and cortical thinning in NFG, IFG, and T2D.²¹ At baseline, cortical thickness did not significantly differ between those with IFG and NFG.²¹ For IFG, a trending, yet non-significant difference was found between higher FPG levels and age-related cortical thinning in the right insular cortex and an at-trend level result was found in the right posterior cingulate cortex, right parahippocampal gyrus, left medial orbitofrontal cortex, and left fusiform gyrus.²¹ Additionally, mean annual percent change (APC) in cortical thickness was significantly associated with baseline FPG levels for IFG.²¹ Finally, increased FPG levels were associated with higher APC regardless of diabetes status.²¹

In a final longitudinal cohort study in older adults, prediabetes but not T2D was associated with smaller TBV, particularly in the WMV, when compared to those with normoglycemia; no differences existed between prediabetes or T2D and normoglycemia for HV or GMV.⁵ However, hyperglycemia in general was positively associated with smaller TBV.⁵

Longitudinally across six years, no significant differences in rate of decline for brain measures were found between prediabetes or T2D and normoglycemia.⁵

In summary, of the 13 studies assessing volumetric measures, seven provide evidence that prediabetics experience some brain volumetric decline compared to those with normoglycemia.^{4,5,6,13,17,19,20} One study argued that brain deficits seen in prediabetes occur in a progressive declining manner,⁶ such that prediabetics experience decline greater than those with normal glucose levels but less than diabetics. Another study showed that prediabetes is positively associated with various volumetric measures, depending on one's brain volume size.¹⁸ In addition, multiple studies showed that blood glucose level is positively correlated with neural decline,^{4,5,6,10,12,13,16,17,21} even irrespective of diabetes status.²¹ Two studies also found differences in results based on the varying diagnostic measures used,^{16,17} suggesting that this may account for the variation in findings.

Table 2.3: Results of volumetric measure studies.

Reference	TBV	GMV	WMV	HV	CSFV	Thalamus	Other
Cui et al. 2019	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ (left)	N/A	-	+ left amygdala, right putamen - caudate, pallidum, pucleus accumbens
Dong et al. 2019	N/A	-	-	-	-	N/A	 CA1, CA2 + CA3, CA4, dentate gyrus, fimbria, hippocampal fissure, molecular layer, subiculum, parasubiculum, presubiculum
Hirabayashi et al. 2016	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	global brain atrophy, hippocampal atrophy, hippocampal atrophy beyond global brain atrophy
Hou et al. 2016 ¹²	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ right ACC, right PCC, left insula, left STG, left MTG
Markus et al. 2017	N/A	+ (IFG group, but not IGT or IFG+IGT groups)	-	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Marseglia et al.	+	-	+	-	N/A	N/A	N/A

2019							
Reitz et al. 2017	N/A	-	-	-	N/A	N/A	N/A
Saczynski et al. 2009	-	-	-	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Samaras et al. 2014	+ (incident glucose disorder)	N/A	N/A	-	-	N/A	+ Frontal lobe (incident glucose disorder) - Parahippocampal gyrus, precuneus
Schneider et al. 2017	-	N/A	N/A	-	N/A	N/A	lobules: frontal, temporal, occipital, parietal; deep grey subcortical structure: thalamus + caudate + putamen + globus pallidum; Alzheimer's disease signature region: parahippocampal + entorhinal + inferior parietal lobules, + hippocampus + precuneus + cuneus)
Shaw et al. 2017	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	- cortical thickness
van Agtmaal et al. 2018	N/A	-	+	N/A	+‡	N/A	N/A
Walsh et al. 2018	+‡	+‡	+‡	N/A	N/A	-	- corpus callosum

"+" indicates significant findings in the prediabetes group (smaller volume) compared to the normoglycemic group; all results were statistically significant.

"-" indicates non-significant differences between the prediabetes and normoglycemic groups.

[‡]larger volume in the prediabetes group compared to the normoglycemic group.

IFG = impaired fasting glucose; IGT = impaired glucose tolerance; ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; PCC = posterior cingulate cortex; MTG = middle temporal gyrus; STG = superior temporal gyrus.

2.3.3 Structural connectivity – 3 studies

Three cross-sectional studies examined structural connectivity in adults (e.g., microintegrity, white matter organization). Results of these studies (comparing prediabetic and normoglycemic groups) are summarized in **Table 2.4**.

In one study, Hou and colleagues (2016) used a type of diffusion-weighted MRI (dMRI) known as diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) to assess microintegrity alterations of white matter tracts in both adults with IFG and those with NFG.²² Three parameters were used to assess microintegrity: fractional anisotropy (FA; measures the fraction of diffusion of water in tissue that is directionally dependent), radial diffusivity (RD; the magnitude of diffusion perpendicular to axonal fiber tracts), and axial diffusivity (AD; the magnitude of diffusion parallel to axonal fiber tracts).^{22,23} FA values were found to be lower in the bilateral anterior thalamic radiation (ATR), left superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF), and left inferior longitudinal fasciculus (ILF) of those with IFG compared to those with NFG.²² Additionally, those with IFG had lower RD values in the bilateral ATR and left ILF, and lower AD values in the bilateral ATR and left SLF.²² Serum preprandial glucose levels were also negatively correlated with FA values in the left ATR and left ILF in those with IFG.²²

A second DTI study measured FA, mean diffusivity (MD; the overall directionally averaged magnitude of diffusion²³), RD, and AD to assess microscopic WMLs.²⁴ Compared to adults with normoglycemia, FA was smaller in the right part of the corpus callosum body, right superior longitudinal fasciculus, and SLF in prediabetics.²⁴ No significant differences were found in MD, RD, or AD values between these groups.²⁴

In a final dMRI study, Vergoossen and colleagues (2020) assessed white matter network organization in adults.²⁵ Specifically, the authors examined the number of white matter connections (node degree) between several brain regions as well as topology (graph measures, including clustering coefficient - number of connections between nearest neighbours of a region as a proportion of total possible connections, labelled as "clusters"; local efficiency - average efficiency of local clusters; global efficiency - the inverse of the

average shortest path length; and communicability - a measure of all possible paths of communication between regions).²⁵ Results showed that individuals with prediabetes had significantly lower node degrees (i.e., fewer white matter connections) compared to those with normoglycemia.²⁵ Prediabetics also had smaller tract volumes of several intrahemispheric connections associated with aging, compared to those with normoglycemia.²⁵ In addition, the local efficiency and clustering coefficient were lower (i.e., weaker local connectivity) in prediabetics compared to those with normoglycemia, although these effects diminished in fully adjusted models.²⁵ In general, continuous measures of hyperglycemia were associated with lower node degree, as well as higher communicability (likely the result of increased WML load).²⁵ However, in fully adjusted analyses, the association between HbA1c and communicability was non-significant, but was significant for FPG and 2-h PG.²⁵

In summary, all three studies assessing structural connectivity demonstrated some deficits in prediabetes.^{22,24,25} Deficits seen in prediabetes included DTI abnormalities and altered neural network organization and function. One study argued that prediabetes accelerates aging processes in the brain, and found varying results based on diagnostic measures used.²⁵ Two studies also provided more evidence that continuous levels of hyperglycemia is associated with neural decline.^{22,25}

Table 2.4: Results of structural connectivity studies.

Reference	FA	RD	AD	MD	Node degree	Other
Hou et al. 2016 ²¹	+	+	+	N/A	N/A	N/A
	ATR, left SLF, left ILF	ATR, left ILF	ATR, left SLF			
Liang et al. 2019	+ corpus callosum body, left and right SLF	-	-	-	N/A	N/A
Vergoossen et al. 2020	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	+	+ tract volumes of intrahemisphereic connections - clustering coefficient, local
						efficiency global efficiency, communicability

"+" indicates significant findings in the prediabetes group (greater deficits in structural connectivity) compared to the normoglycemic group; all results were statistically significant.

"-" indicates non-significant differences between the prediabetes and normoglycemic groups.

ATR = anterior thalamic radiation; SLF = superior longitudinal fasciculus; ILF = inferior longitudinal fasciculus.

2.3.4 Cerebrovascular health – 8 studies

Eight studies (six cross-sectional, two longitudinal) examined cerebrovascular pathology, including cerebral infarcts, cerebral microbleeds (CMBs), WMHs, and WMLs. Results of these studies (comparing prediabetic and normoglycemic groups) are summarized in **Table 2.5**.

2.3.4.1 Cross-sectional

One study assessed differences in vascular pathology (cerebral infarcts, lacunar infarcts (LI), lobar microhemorrhages, subcortical microhemorrhages) and WMH volume (WMHV) in adults with normoglycemia, prediabetes, and T2D.¹² No significant differences in cerebrovascular measures were found between prediabetes and normoglycemia.¹²

A similar cross-sectional study in adults assessed differences in LIs, WMHV, and CMBs.⁶ Compared to normoglycemia, prediabetes was associated with more LIs and larger WMHV, specifically deep cortical WMHs and periventricular WMHs.⁶ Interestingly, the regression coefficients of prediabetes for WMHV were approximately one-third to one-half that of the T2D coefficient, suggesting a progressive nature of decline.⁶ Prediabetes was not associated with the presence of CMBs.⁶ Additionally, continuous hyperglycemia was associated with LIs and higher WMHV.⁶ Another study measuring cerebral infarcts and WMLs in older adults found no differences between IFG and normoglycemia.³ In this study, HbA1c levels were also not associated with cerebral infarcts in general analyses.³

A fourth cross-sectional study examined grey matter cortical perfusion in adults using arterial spin labeling MRI in normoglycemia, prediabetes (insulin resistant), and T2D.²⁶ Grey matter cerebral blood flow was found to be significantly lower in prediabetes, compared to normoglycemia, but not in T2D as most diabetics were being treated with medications to lower their blood pressure.²⁶

Finally, in a cross-sectional case-cohort study, Bamberg and colleagues (2017) examined the presence of WMLs, CMBs, and age-related white matter changes (ARWMC) in adults.²⁷ No

significant differences in WMLs were found between normoglycemia and prediabetes.²⁷ Prediabetics were shown to have higher ARWMC scores compared to those with normoglycemia, but these results attenuated after adjustment.²⁷ No significant differences were observed in CMBs across all groups (normoglycemia, prediabetes, T2D).²⁷ On the contrary, one cross-sectional case-control study did find significantly higher ARWMC scores in adults with prediabetics compared to those with normoglycemia.²⁸

2.3.4.2 Longitudinal

One longitudinal cohort study assessed WMHV and number of cerebral infarcts in older adults with NGT, prediabetes, and T2D.¹⁰ The authors found no significant differences between measures in NGT versus prediabetes at baseline.¹⁰ In adjusted models, continuous HbA1c levels were positively associated with WMHV.¹⁰ Moreover, continuous HbA1c levels in NGT only were associated with higher WMHV.¹⁰ Dysglycemia was associated with higher WMHV and more cerebral infarcts, however as previously mentioned prediabetes and T2D were grouped together within the dysglycemia classification.¹⁰ In longitudinal analyses across four years, no significant differences in rate of change of brain measures were found, but those with dysglycemia had persistently higher WMHV compared to NGT.¹⁰

Lastly, a separate longitudinal study in older adults found that prediabetes was not associated with larger WMHV or faster WMHV accumulation over time (across six years) compared to those with normoglycemia.⁵ However, hyperglycemia was positively associated with larger WMHV in this study.⁵

In summary, only three of the eight studies assessing cerebrovascular health showed deficits in prediabetes (cerebral infarcts, CMBs, WMHs, WMLs).^{6,26,28} One study previously mentioned again provided evidence of the progressive nature of decline,⁶ such that prediabetics experience decline greater than those with normoglycemia but less than diabetics. Three studies also demonstrated that increased hyperglycemia in general is associated with decline in cerebrovascular health.^{5,6,10} Even within a normoglycemic range, increased HbA1c levels was shown to be associated with brain deficits.¹⁰

Reference	Cerebral infarcts	LIs	CMBs	WMHV	WMLs	ARWMC	Other
Bamberg et al. 2017	N/A	N/A	-	N/A	-	-	N/A
Marseglia et al. 2019	N/A	N/A	N/A	-	N/A	N/A	N/A
Reitz et al. 2017	-	N/A	N/A	-	N/A	N/A	N/A
Rusinek et al. 2015	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ CBF
Saczynski et al. 2009	-	N/A	N/A	N/A	-	N/A	N/A
Schneider et al. 2017	-	-	N/A	-	N/A		- lobular microhemorrhages, subcortical microhemorrhages
Storz et al. 2018	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	+	N/A
van Agtmaal et al. 2018	N/A	+	-	+	N/A	N/A	N/A

Table 2.5: Results of cerebrovascular health studies.

"+" indicates significant findings in the prediabetes group (greater cerebrovascular pathology) compared to the normoglycemic group; all results were statistically significant.

"-" indicates non-significant differences between the prediabetes and normoglycemic groups.

LIs = lacunar infarcts; CMBs = cerebral microbleeds; WMHV = white matter hyperintensity volume; WMLs = white matter lesions; ARWMC = age-related white matter changes; CBF = cerebral blood flow.

2.3.5 Quality of included studies

As described in **Table 2.1**, all 19 articles included in this systematic review stated their research objective clearly, defined their study population, specified their inclusion and exclusion criteria, and described their outcome measures in detail. Of the 19 articles, only one provided a sample size calculation or power description, and 16 accounted for appropriate confounding variables in their relevant MRI data analyses. One article did not use a prediabetes classification that was recognized by an international association (e.g., WHO or ADA).

2.4 Discussion

We conducted the first systematic review to our knowledge examining brain health in adults who have prediabetes but are otherwise healthy. Based on our review, we found that deficits in structural connectivity appear to be present in prediabetics. Other deficits that may exist in this population include smaller brain volumes and cerebrovascular pathology; however, mixed results in these areas were found.

Specifically, for studies that examined brain volume, no single brain region had consistent positive findings (indicative of reduced brain volume in prediabetes) across studies. For example, HV was lower in prediabetics compared to those with normoglycemia in Cui et al. (2019)¹⁹ but no significant differences between groups were found in Marseglia et al. (2019)⁵ or any of the other studies assessing HV.^{4,10,12,20} Similarly, positive findings from studies assessing cerebral infarcts, LIs, CMBs and other indicators of cerebrovascular health (indicative of pathology in prediabetes) were inconsistent. Comparatively, some consistencies were found across structural connectivity studies, as both dMRI studies measuring FA showed lower levels in prediabetics compared to those with normoglycemia.^{22,24} Thus, it may be the case that some changes in brain microstructure (e.g., FA) are present in prediabetes prior to measurable macro-level changes such as reduced WMV.

Surprisingly, one volumetric study found that prediabetics had larger TBV, GMV, and WMV compared to those with normoglycemia (this was mediated by brain volume size).¹⁸ Regardless of brain size, increased brain volume in IFG may be the result of neuroinflammation as an initial effect of hyperglycemia.^{5,6} To note, this study also did not provide a power calculation or sample size calculation, and thus the validity of their statistical findings may be questioned. In a separate study, prediabetes but not T2D was associated with smaller TBV.⁵ However, whether T2D is associated with smaller TBV remains controversial, as other studies have shown that this association exists.^{3,12} Another surprising finding was that in one study, RD values were shown to be lower in prediabetics compared to those with normoglycemia, suggesting that prediabetics may experience less myelin abnormalities than healthy controls.²² While some research has shown that RD is positively correlated with dysmyelination or demyelination,²⁹ other research has suggested that alterations in white matter microintegrity may instead be derived from glial cell alterations.³⁰ Evidently, it currently remains unknown as to what RD values represent, thus RD results must be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, as suggested by the authors, more research on RD and the causes of variation is needed.²²

A more general finding from our review is that blood glucose levels may correlate with brain decline regardless of clinical definitions of diabetic status. The majority of studies in our review that assessed correlational evidence of blood glucose levels and brain health decline found a positive relationship between the two.^{4,5,6,10,12,13,16,17,21,22,25} Moreover, even those with normoglycemic status may begin to experience some brain deficits with increases in blood glucose.^{10,21} As previously mentioned, a fundamental mechanism that may explain the association between elevated glucose and deficits in brain health is cardiovascular comorbidities such as hypercholesterolemia and hypertension, which may lead to microvascular changes, endothelial dysfunction, and atherosclerosis.^{17,31} Studies have shown that elevated glucose levels, even in the normal range, lead to the production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and promote oxidative stress, which may lead to neuronal

dysfunction and cell death.^{17,32,33} Thus, brain deficits may occur in any scenario in which there are increases in blood glucose levels as a result of micro-level changes.

Importantly, one possible explanation for inconsistencies across study findings in our review is varying diagnostic measures used and definitions of prediabetes. For example, the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) used to produce 2-h PG levels has been shown to have low reproducibility,^{34,35} yet may have superior sensitivity compared to FPG.³⁶ The majority of studies in our review that used FPG or OGTT also only collected single-measurements of glucose which may lead to low accuracy in diagnoses. Additionally, whether HbA1c is an appropriate diagnostic tool for diabetes remains controversial. Currently, the WHO does not consider HbA1c to be a suitable diagnostic test for diabetes,⁸ however the ADA argues that it is a reliable measure of chronic glycemia,⁹ as it correlates well with long-term diabetes complications.³⁷ As such, the accuracy and reliability of diagnostic measures used in included studies may be questioned, and could have resulted in misdiagnoses and/or false or missed results. Furthermore, some studies in our review that directly compared diagnostic measures for a more standardized diagnostic measure.

Aside from diagnostic variability, there are several other limitations of the included studies that should be addressed. First, no studies considered the duration of prediabetes diagnosis in their sample. One study, for example, showed that duration of T2D is correlated with greater brain deficits,¹² and this may also be the case in prediabetes. Second, some studies that had three groups (T2D, prediabetes, normoglycemia) ran omnibus testing without additional posthoc testing, thus it was not clear where differences between groups existed and made it difficult to assess the relationship of prediabetes and T2D. Third, there was a wide variation in study methodologies, including setting, inclusion/exclusion criteria, adjusted covariates in analyses, and MRI scanners used. As such, the heterogeneity between studies makes it difficult to compare between them and make concrete conclusions, and could be the reasoning behind inconsistent findings. Most studies in this review also did not conduct a

power calculation or provide a sample size justification, and thus the validity of findings may be questionable.

Another large limitation is that the majority of studies did not provide effect sizes of significant findings, particularly those pertaining to between-group differences. Thus, we were unable to appropriately gauge the magnitude of results seen in prediabetes, nor determine whether non-significant results were due to inadequate power to detect differences. In addition, most studies had age ranges that included both middle and older adults, thus we cannot comment on the results of these two groups separately, and how age may have affected results. Typically, glucose levels increase with age,³⁸ and thus older adult groups may have experienced more brain deficits compared to younger adults as a result of the natural aging process. Lastly, one limitation to our review is that cross-sectional and longitudinal studies do not allow us to infer causal relationships between variables, hence we cannot conclude that prediabetes causes brain deficits.

Future studies assessing prediabetes and brain health should use more consistent diagnostic tools and procedures to be able to produce replicable results. Moreover, more longitudinal studies are needed to assess the relationship between changes in glucose levels and brain health over time. More research evaluating structural connectivity changes is also needed to provide stronger evidence for its relationship to prediabetes and its potential for further structural decline. Additionally, one study in our review explicitly provided evidence that prediabetes is progressive in nature,⁶ such that greater neural decline occurs as normoglycemia progresses to prediabetes and eventually T2D. As such, more studies examining direct comparisons between prediabetes and diabetes are needed in order to shed light on this possible progression of the disease.

Finally, as our review focused mainly on structural deficits in prediabetes, future studies should also examine functional activation patterns and connectivity in this population. Currently, there are only two known studies that have examined this. One study by Liu and colleagues (2019) assessed functional connectivity in the default mode network in

prediabetics and found no differences compared to healthy normoglycemic controls.³⁹ Another study by van Bussel et al. (2016) found that prediabetics display altered functional brain networks compared to controls.⁴⁰ Evidently, more research on brain function in prediabetics is needed.

In conclusion, this systematic review presents some evidence that prediabetics may experience deficits in brain volume, structural connectivity, and cerebrovascular health compared to non-diabetics. However, more cross-sectional and longitudinal studies that use standardized protocols are needed to allow for more direct comparisons between studies. Ultimately, understanding micro- and macro-level changes in the brain that may occur in prediabetes can help inform future intervention work in this population.

Summary

This chapter reported findings from a systematic review of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies that examined brain deficits in prediabetic adults using MRI. Results show that deficits in structural connectivity may be present in prediabetes, however mixed results were shown for volumetric measures and cerebrovascular health. These findings suggest that changes in brain microstructure may be present in prediabetes prior to measurable macro-level changes. Additionally, blood glucose levels were positively correlated with brain deficits regardless of diabetes status (e.g., even in normoglycemia). A mechanism that may explain this association is cardiovascular comorbidities that often occur in prediabetes, including hypertension.

One possible explanation for the inconsistencies across study findings is the use of varying diagnostic measures and definitions of prediabetes, highlighting the need for more standardized measures and classifications. Future studies should consider using multiple measurements of glucose to increase accuracy, and it is suggested that HbA1c be measured for a better indication of chronic glycemia levels.

References

- 1. Global trends in diability. Accessed August 15, 2021. http://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/infographics/Infographic_GBD2017-YLDs-Highlights_2018.pdf
- 2. Diabetes. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://www.who.int/health-topics/diabetes#tab=tab_1
- 3. Saczynski JS, Siggurdsson S, Jonsson PV, et al. Glycemic Status and Brain Injury in Older Individuals: The Age Gene/Environment Susceptibility–Reykjavik Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(9):1608-1613. doi:10.2337/dc08-2300
- 4. Dong S, Dongwei L, Zhang J, Liang J, Sun Z, Fang J. Individuals in the prediabetes stage exhibit reduced hippocampal tail volume and executive dysfunction. *Brain Behav*. 2019;9(8):e01351. doi:10.1002/brb3.1351
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, Wang R, Bäckman L, Xu W. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: A populationbased cohort study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019;15(1):25-33. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3060
- 6. van Agtmaal MJM, Houben AJHM, Wit V de, et al. Prediabetes Is Associated With Structural Brain Abnormalities: The Maastricht Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(12):2535-2543. doi:10.2337/dc18-1132
- 7. Jayaraman A, Pike CJ. Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes: multiple mechanisms contribute to interactions. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2014;14(4):476. doi:10.1007/s11892-014-0476-2
- 8. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://www.who.int/error-pages/500
- 9. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2021 | Diabetes Care. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/44/Supplement_1/S15
- 10. Reitz C, Guzman VA, Narkhede A, DeCarli C, Brickman AM, Luchsinger JA. Relation of Dysglycemia to Structural Brain Changes in a Multiethnic Elderly Cohort. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2017;65(2):277-285. doi:10.1111/jgs.14551
- 11. Convit A, Wolf OT, Tarshish C, de Leon MJ. Reduced glucose tolerance is associated with poor memory performance and hippocampal atrophy among normal elderly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(4):2019-2022. doi:10.1073/pnas.0336073100

- Schneider ALC, Selvin E, Sharrett AR, et al. Diabetes, Prediabetes, and Brain Volumes and Subclinical Cerebrovascular Disease on MRI: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Neurocognitive Study (ARIC-NCS). *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(11):1514-1521. doi:10.2337/dc17-1185
- Hou Y-C, Lai C-H, Wu Y-T, Yang S-H. Gray matter alterations and correlation of nutritional intake with the gray matter volume in prediabetes. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016;95(25):e3956. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000003956
- Zhou J-B, Tang X-Y, Han Y-P, Luo F-Q, Cardoso MA, Qi L. Prediabetes and structural brain abnormalities: Evidence from observational studies. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*. 2020;36(4):e3261. doi:10.1002/dmrr.3261
- 15. Study Quality Assessment Tools | NHLBI, NIH. Accessed September 1, 2021. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools
- Hirabayashi N, Hata J, Ohara T, et al. Association Between Diabetes and Hippocampal Atrophy in Elderly Japanese: The Hisayama Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(9):1543-1549. doi:10.2337/dc15-2800
- Markus MRP, Ittermann T, Wittfeld K, et al. Prediabetes is associated with lower brain gray matter volume in the general population. The Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP). *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*. 2017;27(12):1114-1122. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2017.10.007
- 18. Walsh EI, Shaw M, Sachdev P, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N. The impact of type 2 diabetes and body mass index on cerebral structure is modulated by brain reserve. *European Journal of Neurology*. 2019;26(1):121-127. doi:10.1111/ene.13780
- Cui D, Liu X, Liu M, et al. Subcortical gray matter structural alterations in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Neuroreport*. 2019;30(6):441-445. doi:10.1097/WNR.00000000001224
- 20. Samaras K, Lutgers HL, Kochan NA, et al. The impact of glucose disorders on cognition and brain volumes in the elderly: the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study. *Age* (*Dordr*). 2014;36(2):977-993. doi:10.1007/s11357-013-9613-0
- Shaw ME, Nettersheim J, Sachdev PS, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N. Higher Fasting Plasma Glucose is Associated with Increased Cortical Thinning Over 12 Years: The PATH Through Life Study. *Brain Topogr*. 2017;30(3):408-416. doi:10.1007/s10548-017-0544-4

- 22. Hou Y-C, Yang S-H, Wu Y-T, Lai C-H. Alterations of neocortico-limbic association fibers and correlation with diet in prediabetes diagnosed by impaired fasting glucose. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2016;43(6):1500-1506. doi:10.1002/jmri.25127
- 23. O'Donnell LJ, Westin C-F. An introduction to diffusion tensor image analysis. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* 2011;22(2):185-viii. doi:10.1016/j.nec.2010.12.004
- Liang M, Cai X, Tang Y, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of white matter in patients with prediabetes by trace-based spatial statistics. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2019;49(4):1105-1112. doi:10.1002/jmri.26290
- 25. Vergoossen LW, Schram MT, de Jong JJ, et al. White Matter Connectivity Abnormalities in Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes: The Maastricht Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2020;43(1):201-208. doi:10.2337/dc19-0762
- 26. Rusinek H, Ha J, Yau PL, et al. Cerebral perfusion in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2015;35(1):95-102. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2014.173
- Bamberg F, Hetterich H, Rospleszcz S, et al. Subclinical Disease Burden as Assessed by Whole-Body MRI in Subjects With Prediabetes, Subjects With Diabetes, and Normal Control Subjects From the General Population: The KORA-MRI Study. *Diabetes*. 2017;66(1):158-169. doi:10.2337/db16-0630
- Storz C, Rospleszcz S, Lorbeer R, et al. Phenotypic Multiorgan Involvement of Subclinical Disease as Quantified by Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Subjects With Prediabetes, Diabetes, and Normal Glucose Tolerance. *Invest Radiol.* 2018;53(6):357-364. doi:10.1097/RLI.00000000000451
- 29. Caeyenberghs K, Wenderoth N, Smits-Engelsman BCM, Sunaert S, Swinnen SP. Neural correlates of motor dysfunction in children with traumatic brain injury: exploration of compensatory recruitment patterns. *Brain.* 2009;132(Pt 3):684-694. doi:10.1093/brain/awn344
- 30. Fields RD. White matter matters. *Sci Am.* 2008;298(3):42-49.
- 31. Iadecola C. Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2004;5(5):347-360. doi:10.1038/nrn1387
- 32. Tan ZS, Beiser AS, Fox CS, et al. Association of metabolic dysregulation with volumetric brain magnetic resonance imaging and cognitive markers of subclinical brain aging in middle-aged adults: the Framingham Offspring Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(8):1766-1770. doi:10.2337/dc11-0308

- Gaspar JM, Baptista FI, Macedo MP, Ambrósio AF. Inside the Diabetic Brain: Role of Different Players Involved in Cognitive Decline. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2016;7(2):131-142. doi:10.1021/acschemneuro.5b00240
- Ko GT, Chan JC, Woo J, et al. The reproducibility and usefulness of the oral glucose tolerance test in screening for diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 1998;35 (Pt 1):62-67. doi:10.1177/000456329803500107
- Libman IM, Barinas-Mitchell E, Bartucci A, Robertson R, Arslanian S. Reproducibility of the oral glucose tolerance test in overweight children. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2008;93(11):4231-4237. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0801
- 36. Maynard JD, Rohrscheib M, Way JF, Nguyen CM, Ediger MN. Noninvasive Type 2 Diabetes Screening: Superior sensitivity to fasting plasma glucose and A1C. *Diabetes Care*. 2007;30(5):1120-1124. doi:10.2337/dc06-2377
- Sherwani SI, Khan HA, Ekhzaimy A, Masood A, Sakharkar MK. Significance of HbA1c Test in Diagnosis and Prognosis of Diabetic Patients. *Biomark Insights*. 2016;11:95-104. doi:10.4137/BMI.S38440
- 38. Ko GTC, Wai HPS, Tang JSF. Effects of age on plasma glucose levels in non-diabetic Hong Kong Chinese. *Croat Med J.* 2006;47(5):709-713.
- Liu H, Liu J, Peng L, et al. Changes in default mode network connectivity in different glucose metabolism status and diabetes duration. *Neuroimage Clin*. 2019;21:101629. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2018.101629
- van Bussel FCG, Backes WH, van Veenendaal TM, et al. Functional Brain Networks Are Altered in Type 2 Diabetes and Prediabetes: Signs for Compensation of Cognitive Decrements? The Maastricht Study. *Diabetes*. 2016;65(8):2404-2413. doi:10.2337/db16-0128

Chapter 3

3 Scientific outcomes: Cognitive changes following 26 weeks of resistance exercise in older adults at risk for diabetes

This chapter will explore the cognitive changes in older adults at risk for diabetes following a 26-week pilot randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise. A manuscript for the reported findings is currently in preparation.

Some content in Chapter 3 is from the following published protocol manuscript:

Furlano JA, Nagamatsu LS. Feasibility of a 6-month pilot randomised controlled trial of resistance training on cognition and brain health in Canadian older adults at-risk for diabetes: study protocol. *BMJ Open.* 2019;9(10),e032047. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032047

3.1 Introduction

Dementia, including Alzheimer's disease, affects approximately 55 million people worldwide,¹ and is a major cause of disability among older adults.² One of the largest modifiable risk factors for dementia is T2D,³ characterized by high blood glucose levels. In fact, individuals with T2D are at a 50% or greater risk of developing dementia compared to those without T2D.^{4,5} Furthermore, there is increasing evidence that T2D is associated with deficits in a variety of cognitive domains. In a meta-analysis, it was shown that adults and older adults with T2D experience deficits in all evaluated cognitive abilities, including processing and motor speed, attention, non-verbal reasoning, and memory, when compared to diabetes-free individuals.⁶

Importantly, older adults with prediabetes (i.e., those with elevated blood glucose levels that are below the T2D cutoff) already show evidence of cognitive decline. In one cross-sectional study, prediabetes in adults and older adults was found to be related to some deficits in global cognition, processing speed, and executive function compared to normal glucose tolerance.⁷

Similarly, Marseglia and colleagues (2016) found that older adults with prediabetes perform significantly worse on cognitive tasks assessing memory, perceptual speed, and category fluency compared to healthy age-matched controls.⁸ Within the same data set, prediabetes was also found to be associated with faster cognitive decline over nine years compared to diabetes-free status.⁹ Moreover, glucose regulation has been shown to be inversely related to cognitive function. This was demonstrated, for example, in a study by Convit and colleagues (2003) where a negative correlation was found between glucose levels and delayed memory recall even in healthy middle-aged and older adults.¹⁰

Another risk factor for T2D is obesity, a common comorbidity of prediabetes. Like prediabetics, overweight (BMI 25–29.9) or obese (BMI 30 and above) individuals already experience some cognitive dysfunction that is associated with T2D. One review and metaanalysis found that those with obesity showed impairments in executive function (response inhibition, cognitive flexibility, working memory), while overweight participants showed deficits in inhibition and working memory specifically.¹¹ In another review assessing the relationship between executive function and excessive body weight, most included studies found that overweight or obese individuals have impaired inhibitory control, working memory, and cognitive flexibility compared to those with in the normal weight range (BMI < 25).¹² Taken together, it appears that older adults at risk for T2D experience cognitive deficits that may worsen as the progression to T2D occurs, and intervention strategies aimed at improving cognitive function in this at-risk group may represent an ideal time point to prevent or delay future decline.

One promising lifestyle intervention that may improve cognitive function is exercise. Baker and colleagues (2010) assessed the effects of aerobic training in sedentary older adults with prediabetes or newly diagnosed T2D (the majority of participants were prediabetic).¹³ Participants were randomly assigned to an aerobic training or stretching control group, in which they completed their respective exercise four times per week for six months.¹³ Results showed that compared to the control group, those in the aerobic training group improved on tasks of executive function including selective and divided attention, cognitive flexibility, and working memory.¹³ Despite the majority of research on exercise and cognition focusing on aerobic training, there are other forms of exercise that may also be beneficial for older adults. Specifically, resistance training has been shown to improve cognitive function and brain health in several populations of older adults. One study in sedentary women with mild cognitive impairment found improvements in executive function and associative memory following six months of progressive resistance training.¹⁴ Another study showed that six months of moderate-to-high intensity resistance exercise improved short- and long-term memory, attention, and executive function in older men.¹⁵ Furthermore, resistance training has additional benefits for older adults, such as improving muscle function and reducing sarcopenia,¹⁶ and may be useful for older adults who may suffer from some physical or mobility limitations and cannot perform aerobic training. As most older adults can perform some form of resistance training, it therefore provides older adults with an alternative form of exercise that may benefit cognition.

Further benefits of resistance training are highlighted in animal and human research focused on neural mechanisms. Research in rats have shown that resistance training may increase IGF-1,^{17,18} known to have neuroprotective abilities associated with improved cognitive function.¹⁹ Other research has shown that low levels of IGF-1 are associated with IGT and a higher risk for T2D in humans. For example, Friedrich and colleagues (2012) found that low levels of IGF-1 serum concentrations are associated with insulin resistance in adults of various ages.²⁰ Schneider et al (2011) measured IGF-1 levels in non-diabetic individuals and assessed incident diabetes during follow-up, and found that patients with low IGF-1 levels were at an increased risk for glucose intolerance and developing diabetes.²¹ Based on these combined findings, resistance training may be particularly useful in not only improving insulin resistance and reducing one's risk of developing T2D, but also improving cognitive function in our study population.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the effects of resistance training on cognition in older adults at risk for diabetes (i.e., those with prediabetes and/or obesity). To address whether resistance training may benefit cognitive function in this population, a large-
scale RCT is needed. However, we first conducted a pilot RCT to assess the feasibility and efficacy of this training program in this at-risk group. Although the primary outcome measure of this study was feasibility of the exercise program, here we will present preliminary efficacy findings on cognition. Specifically, we hypothesized that 26 weeks of thrice-weekly resistance training would lead to improvements in attention, executive function, and memory in older adults at risk for T2D when compared to balance and stretching exercises.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study overview

We conducted a single-blinded pilot RCT of thrice-weekly resistance exercise for 26 weeks in older adults at risk for T2D. Data was collected from November 2017 to August 2019. Cognitive and physical assessments were conducted at baseline, midpoint (13 weeks), and trial completion (26 weeks), and were conducted on Western University campus in London, Ontario, along with all exercise sessions. To assess changes in brain structure and function, MRI was done at baseline and trial completion at the Centre for Functional and Metabolic Mapping at Robarts Research Institute; MRI findings are described in Chapter 4. Ethics approval was obtained from the Health Sciences Research Ethics Board at Western University, and our trial was registered at clinicaltrials.gov (ID NCT03254381; released August 3, 2017). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials and Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials checklists were completed.

Initial screening of participants was conducted via telephone, and interested participants were invited to come into the lab for three testing sessions on separate days to confirm eligibility and collect baseline measures. Session 1 consisted of MRI screening and baseline cognitive and physical testing (1.5 hours), while session 2 consisted of collecting FPG (which required participants to fast eight hours prior to testing) and completing descriptive questionnaires (30 minutes). Assessments were divided into two days to avoid participants having to complete

cognitively and physically demanding tests while fasting. Individuals who were deemed eligible at the end of session 2 then completed an MRI scan during session 3 (1.5 hours; described in Chapter 4). After baseline assessments were complete, participants were randomized (randomisation.com; random block sizes of two, four and six) into either the resistance training group or balance and tone (control) group by the Primary Investigator. Participants were informed of their group allocation in order to obtain their personal physicians' approval to exercise, however they did not have direct contact with the other exercise groups nor were they made aware of our hypotheses. All assessment staff were blinded to group allocation.

3.2.2 Recruitment and Sample size

We recruited participants from the city of London, Ontario (urban community) on a rolling basis via posters in community centres, short presentations at community seminars, word-of-mouth, and advertisements in the Villager Publications Community Magazine (print) and Kijiji (online). We chose these recruitment methods based on the recommendation of researchers at Western University whom have had success in recruiting older adults for similar studies. Enrolment in the study was ongoing until we reached our target sample size (10 participants per arm). This was the recommended size for a pilot study in which the full-scale trial would have an anticipated medium effect size ($0.3 \le d < 0.7$) and power of 0.80.²²

3.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

To be included in our study, individuals had to: (1) be community-dwelling, (2) be aged 60-80 years, (3) be 'at risk' for T2D, where they have BMI \geq 25 and/or FPG 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/l; the glucose range is based on the WHO's classification of prediabetes,²³ (4) score >24/30 on Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)²⁴, (5) score >6/8 on the Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) Scale,²⁵ (6) have visual acuity of at least 20/40 with or without corrective lenses, (7) speak and understand English fluently, and (8) complete the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire and obtain their physician's clearance to start a supervised exercise program.²⁶

We excluded those who: (1) had a medical condition for which exercise was contraindicated, (2) had participated regularly (>1/week) in structured resistance or aerobic exercise within six months, (3) had been diagnosed with neurodegenerative disease (including dementia or Parkinson's disease), (4) had experienced a vascular incident (including stroke or myocardial infarction), (5) had been diagnosed with a psychiatric condition, (6) had untreated depression, (7) was on hormone replacement therapy, (8) had clinically significant peripheral neuropathy or severe musculoskeletal or joint disease, (9) was taking psychotropic medications, or (10) was unable to participate in MRI (had metal or electronic implants or was claustrophobic).

3.2.4 Descriptive measures

To describe our sample and/or assess eligibility, we collected the following measures: (1) demographic information (age, sex, education, income), (2) medication use, (3) falls history, (4) sleep quantity and quality using a monthly questionnaire, (5) number and type of comorbidities using the Functional Comorbidity Index,²⁷ (6) ability to perform daily tasks using the IADL, (7) depression screening using the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS),²⁸ and (8) global cognitive impairment using the MMSE and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA).²⁹ FPG and BMI measures are described in section 3.2.8 below.

3.2.5 Feasibility outcomes

Our primary outcome measure of feasibility was assessed mainly via participant recruitment, adherence, and retention rates. These outcomes will be presented in Chapter 5.

3.2.6 Cognitive outcomes

All standardized tests used to measure cognition were chosen based on their use within the resistance exercise literature.

3.2.6.1 Executive function

Selective attention and conflict resolution was measured via the Stroop Test.³⁰ This test features three conditions, in which participants are instructed to read words as quickly as possible. For the first condition (A), participants read out words (names of colours) printed in blank ink (e.g., 'RED'). For the second condition (B), participants read out the colour of the X's that appear on the sheet (e.g., XXX printed in red ink, with the correct response being 'red'). For the third condition (C), participants name the colour of the words (e.g., RED printed in blue ink, with the correct response being 'blue'), thus ignoring the written word itself. Each condition has 80 trials, in which time to complete all trials (in seconds) is recorded for each condition. We calculated the difference between time to complete conditions C and B of the task, with lower scores indicating better cognitive performance.

Additionally, task-switching was measured via the TMT (Parts A and B).³⁰ For this test, participants are instructed to connect a set of 25 dots as quickly and accurately as possible, and time to complete the task (in seconds) is recorded. In Part A, participants connect encircled numbers (1 to 24) in sequential order. In Part B, participants connect encircled numbers (1 to 12) and encircled letters (A to L) in alternating fashion (i.e., 1-A-2-B-3-C, etc.). The time difference for completing Part B minus Part A was calculated, with lower scores indicating better performance.

To assess working memory, we used the Digit Span Test (Forward and Backward).³¹ Both conditions consist of seven pairs of random number sequences that are read out loud by the assessor (one number per second), with each pair containing the same number of three or more digits. The digits are increased by one across pairs of sequences (up to nine). For the Forward test, participants repeat each sequence as it is read, while in the Backward test participants repeat the sequence in reverse order. Testing ceases when the participant fails to recollect both sequences within one pair. Scores range from 1 to 14 (one point is given for each correct sequence). To measure the central executive component of working memory, we

calculated Forward minus Backward scores, with lower scores indicating better working memory.

3.2.6.2 Other

Participants completed the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) to assess auditoryverbal memory.³² For this test, assessors read out a list of 15 random words (one per second) over five trials and instruct participants to recall as many words as possible after each trial. The assessor then presents a separate list of 15 unrelated words to participants, who are instructed to recall as many words as possible from the new list. Immediately following this, participants are instructed to recall as many words as possible from the original list. Following a 20 minute delay, participants again are asked to recall as many words as possible from the original list (out of 15). Performance on the last task (20 minute delay recall) was used to determine long-term memory ability, with higher scores indicating better memory.

Finally, the Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12 (ADAS-Cog 12) was used to assess various cognitive functions (e.g., language, constructional praxis, orientation) associated with risk for Alzheimer's disease.³³ For this test, participants complete several tasks including naming the fingers of their dominant hand, naming a set of 12 common objects, drawing geometric shapes, identifying their location and date, and recalling words. The maximum score on this test is 80, with lower scores indicating better performance.

3.2.7 MRI outcomes

Brain structure and function were assessed via MRI in a 3 Tesla Siemens scanner. MRI outcomes are discussed in Chapter 4.

3.2.8 Physical outcomes

One repetition maximum (1RM; which is a physical measure of an individual's maximum muscle strength during a single movement repetition) for the quadricep muscles was recorded for both resistance training and balance and tone groups. One repetition maximum for

additional muscle groups (latissimus (lat) dorsi, hamstrings, pectoralis major, biceps, triceps, deltoids, trapezius muscles) was also recorded for the resistance training group for the purpose of determining progressive resistance loads. In addition, balance and mobility were measured using the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB; administered monthly)³⁴ and the Timed Up and Go (TUG) Test.³⁵ For the SPPB, participants perform a side-by-side, semi-tandem, and tandem stand (each for 10 seconds). In this test, participants also perform a four meter walk (timed) and a five-time chair stand (timed). A higher total score (out of 14) on the SPPB indicates better performance. For the TUG, participants are instructed to stand up from a chair, walk three meters at their usual pace, turn around and walk back to the chair and sit down in it (timed), where a lower score indicates better performance. Finally, participants completed the Six Minute Walk Test which is an aerobic test that measures the distance an individual can walk in six minutes at a self-determined pace.³⁶

Other physical measures included: (1) BMI calculated via height and weight, (2) FPG using a glucometer following participant fasting, (3) hip and waist circumference, and (4) monthly levels of leisure, household, and occupational physical activity using the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE) questionnaire, where a higher score (out of 793) indicates greater physical activity levels.³⁷

3.2.9 Exercise intervention

Participants in both groups completed 60 minutes of exercise (including 10 minutes of warmup and 10 minutes of cool-down) three times per week on non-consecutive days for 26 weeks. Exercise protocols were adapted from those developed by Dr. Teresa Liu-Ambrose and used successfully in similar interventions.^{14,38,39} Classes were made up of 2-4 participants (based the exercise room's available capacity) and were led by 1-2 trained fitness leaders who were undergraduate students in the School of Kinesiology at Western University. All participants were asked not to engage in structured exercise outside of the study's exercise program, and to maintain their usual diet and sleeping patterns when possible.

3.2.9.1 Resistance exercise

Participants in this group underwent progressive resistance training (i.e., loading was increased over time). Participants used seven programmable pressurized air weight machines (leg press, lat pulldown, leg curl, chest press, bicep curl, tricep curl, seated row) and completed body weight exercises to target primary muscle groups as listed in section 3.2.8 of this Chapter. The number of sets completed and the weight lifted for each exercise was recorded at every class for all participants. Warm-up and cool-down sessions consisted of walking on a treadmill or using an elliptical machine at a light pace (based on participant preference). The exercise protocol was individualized to meet each participant's physical needs.

The first three weeks of the exercise program was used to introduce participants to the weights and machines, and allow them to become familiar with the machines' set-up. Participants exercised using a light and easy resistance during this time and were monitored for proper form by instructors. At the end of week 3, 1RM was calculated on all exercise machines. Since calculating a true 1RM may be impractical for older adults due to their fragility, we instead calculated *predicted 1RM* using the following validated formula:

Weight \div (1.0278 - (0.0278 × Number of repetitions)),

which takes into account both the weight being applied and the number of repetitions comfortably possible.⁴⁰ This formula is more accurate the closer the repetitions are to one and becomes unreliable beyond ten.⁴⁰ Therefore, assessors needed to first take an educated guess as to what weight the participant would be able to lift that would not exceed ten repetitions (this was adjusted if it became apparent that the weight was far too light). Participants were closely monitored to prevent discomfort or injury.

For weeks 4 and 5, applied weight was based on increasing percentages of predicted 1RM (**Table 3.1**). Weight gradually increased (and number of reps decreased) until participants were able to complete two sets of 6-8 reps at 80% of predicted 1RM. Participants reached

this target by the end of week 5. After this, training stimulus was increased in increments of 1kg using the 7RM method—when two sets of 6-8 reps were completed with proper form and without discomfort. In addition, participants completed two sets of 6-8 mini-squats, mini-lunges, and lunge walks at each class. To increase load for squats and lunges over time, participants used hand-weights (starting with five pounds and increasing by 2-5 pounds) beginning at week 4.

Week	Exercise load
1-3	Light load, 10-15 reps, 1-2 sets
4	1RM testing (day 1)
	55% 1RM, 15 reps, 2 sets (day 2)
	61% 1RM, 13 reps, 2 sets (day 3)
5	67% 1RM, 11 reps, 2 sets (day 1)
	73% 1RM, 10 reps, 2 sets (day 2)
	80% 1RM, 8 reps, 2 sets (day 3)
6-26	80% 1RM, 6-8 reps, 2 sets (with added resistance)

 Table 3.1: Resistance exercise protocol.

1RM = one repetition maximum (predicted).

3.2.9.2 Balance and tone exercise

Participants in the control group engaged in light exercises including balance and stretching exercises; only bodyweight was applied (i.e., no additional loading). These specific balance and tone exercises have not been shown to significantly improve cognitive function in previous research.⁴¹ Warm-up and cool-down sessions consisted of stretching as a group, and the exercise protocol was individualized as needed. The control group served to control for confounding variables in the study such as socialization, commitment to the program, and any lifestyle changes associated with completing the program.

3.2.10 Monitoring

While this study was low risk, adverse events associated with exercise or physical testing were possible, such as pain, discomfort, shortness of breath, or injury. All participants were monitored closely by instructors for symptoms of these occurrences during exercise sessions.

3.2.11 Data analysis

Means (standard deviations (SD)) and percentages by group were used to describe baseline characteristics of our sample. Since pilot studies are used to estimate possible effects rather than formally testing hypotheses,^{42,43} we focused on descriptive statistics and estimation (means, standard errors (SEs), medians, confidence intervals (CIs)) to infer the possible size and direction of effects, and did not report p-values. Thus, cognitive and physical results are presented as means and SE at baseline, midpoint, and trial completion, and change over time is presented as means and 95% CIs. This method of presenting data has been used previously in pilot trials, including a similar pilot exercise study in diabetic older adults.⁴⁴ Lastly, bivariate Spearman correlation coefficients were used to examine the possible magnitude and direction of associations between change in characteristics across the trial (trial completion relative to baseline), namely BMI and FPG with cognitive outcomes. Quality assessment of data was performed and discussed by two researchers to identify scores that were unreliable

(i.e., not plausible). However, since this was a pilot study, potential outliers that were deemed possible were included in analyses.

3.3 Results

Screening, recruitment, and study retention is summarized in **Figure 3.1** (further details will be provided in Chapter 5). Twenty-four participants were included in our trial, with 13 participants being randomized to the resistance training group and eleven to the balance and tone group. One balance and tone participant dropped out of the study at week ten due to health issues, therefore only their baseline data was used in our analyses in line with the intent-to-treat principle.⁴⁵ To note, some participant data is missing for outcome measures due to: assessor errors (e.g., incorrect timing on tests), unreliability (i.e., scores that were not plausible), or purposefully not collected (e.g., one balance and tone participant did not complete quadricep 1RM testing at midpoint due to joint discomfort).

3.3.1 Descriptive measures

Baseline characteristics of participants are described in **Table 3.2**. The mean age of participants (n = 24) was 68.7 years ± 5.7 (50% female). At baseline, all participants were overweight or obese (mean BMI 31.4 ± 5.0 kg/m²), while four participants (16.7%) had prediabetes (mean FPG for all participants was 5.3 ± 0.8 mmol/l). Two participants with prediabetes were randomized to the resistance training group, and two to the balance and tone group.



Figure 3.1: Recruitment flow diagram.

Variable	Total $(n-24)$	DT(n - 12)	$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{T}(n-11)$
variable	10tar (n = 24)	K1 (n = 15)	DAI $(n = 11)$
Age, years	68.7 ± 5.7	68.2 ± 6.0	69.3 ± 5.6
Female – n (%)	12 (50)	6 (46.2)	6 (54.5)
Education – n (%)			
High school diploma	2 (8.3)	2 (15.4)	0 (0)
Some college	6 (25.0)	3 (23.1)	3 (27.3)
College/trade degree	3 (12.5)	2 (15.4)	1 (9.1)
Bachelor's degree	8 (33.3)	4 (30.8)	4 (36.4)
Graduate degree	5 (20.8)	2 (15.4)	3 (27.3)
Annual income			
Over \$20,000	4 (16.7)	3 (23.1)	1 (9.1)
Under \$20,000	20 (83.3)	10 (76.9)	10 (90.9)
BMI, kg/m ²	31.4 ± 5.0	30.9 ± 3.0	31.9 ± 6.7
FPG, mmol/l	5.3 ± 0.8	5.2 ± 0.9	5.3 ± 0.8
Sleep per night, hours	6.9 ± 1.1	6.8 ± 0.9	7.0 ± 1.3
FCI, max. 18 pts	1.5 ± 1.3	0.8 ± 0.7	2.5 ± 1.3
IADL, max. 8 pts	7.8 ± 0.5	7.9 ± 0.3	7.7 ± 0.6
GDS, max. 15 pts	2.3 ± 2.5	1.8 ± 2.1	2.9 ± 3.0
MMSE, max. 30 pts	27.5 ± 1.8	27. 5 ± 2.1	27.5 ± 1.5
MoCA, max. 30 pts	24.9 ± 2.9	25.0 ± 2.1	24.8 ± 3.7

Table 3.2: Baseline characteristics of participants.

Note: All data expressed as mean ± standard deviation unless otherwise indicated. BMI = body mass index; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; FCI = Functional Comorbidity Index; IADL = Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; GDS = Geriatric Depression Scale; MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination; MoCA = Montreal Cognitive Assessment; RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group.

3.3.2 Cognitive outcomes

Changes in cognitive outcomes by group over the 26-week intervention are shown in **Table 3.3** (midpoint > baseline, and trial completion > baseline) and are presented visually via box plots in **Figure 3.2** (trial completion > baseline). Note, when presenting means, SEs, and medians at each timepoint in **Table 3.3**, we used all available data; however when calculating mean and CIs for change over time (midpoint > baseline, or trial completion > baseline), we only included participants who had data from both timepoints (i.e., had no missing data).

3.3.2.1 Executive function

Compared to those in the balance and tone group, participants in the resistance training group showed sizable improvements in TMT at trial completion relative to baseline (**Table 3.3**, **Figure 3.2**). At midpoint, improvements on the TMT were already apparent in the resistance training group (**Table 3.3**). Interestingly, however, those in the balance and tone group showed improvements on the TMT at midpoint but had worse performance at trial completion (**Table 3.3**).

Both groups had comparable improvements in selective attention and conflict resolution (Stroop Test) at midpoint relative to baseline, but the resistance training group had greater improvements at trial completion compared to the balance and tone group (**Table 3.3, Figure 3.2**). Surprisingly, the balance and tone group but not the resistance training group improved in working memory (Digit Span) at trial completion relative to baseline (**Table 3.3, Figure 3.2**); at midpoint, however, both groups had improvements, but these were very small for the resistance training group (**Table 3.3**). To note, there was more variability in the resistance training group scores than the balance and tone group scores in these measures (**Figure 3.2**).

3.3.2.2 Other

Relative to baseline, the balance and tone group improved more than the resistance training group at trial completion in long-term memory (RAVLT, 20 minute delay condition), with some improvements also seen at midpoint for both groups (**Table 3.3, Figure 3.2**). In

addition, both groups improved on the ADAS-Cog 12 at both timepoints relative to baseline (**Table 3.3, Figure 3.2**), but these changes are not considered clinically significant in the literature.⁴⁶

Variable	Baseline		Midpoint		Trial com	oletion	Δ Baseline to		Δ Baseline to	
							midpoint		trial completion	L
	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (95% CI)	Median	Mean (95% CI)	Median
RT										
Stroop (C-B)	44.1 (7.2)	43.5	40.2 (4.0)	36.9	36.9 (3.8)	33.4	-3.8 (-18.7, 11.0)	-8.9	-7.2 (-23.5, 9.8)	-9.7
TMT (B-A)	^b 33.7 (5.0)	^b 35.3	^b 25.3 (3.8)	^b 19.4	e23.1 (3.6)	^e 23.6	-11.9 (-19.6, -4.1)	-12.3	-9.6 (-21.8, 2.5)	-3.2
Digit Span (F- B)	2.5 (1.1)	3.0	2.2 (0.8)	2.0	3.5 (0.7)	4.0	-0.3 (-3.1, 2.5)	-1.0	1.1 (-1.2, 3.4)	0.0
RAVLT (20 minute delay)	^b 7.0 (1.2)	^b 7.5	8.5 (1.2)	9.0	^e 9.0 (1.6)	^e 10.5	1.2 (-0.9, 3.2)	2.0	1.7 (-0.5, 3.8)	2.0
ADAS-Cog 12	7.1 (1.1)	6.3	5.0 (0.7)	4.5	5.6 (0.9)	4.7	-2.0 (-3.5, -0.5)	-1.7	-1.4 (-2.9, 0.1)	-1.7
BAT										
Stroop (C-B)	52.4 (6.1)	49.6	^a 43.6 (6.7)	^a 50.7	^a 41.6 (2.8)	^a 41.4	-3.8 (-20.6, 12.9)	-3.3	-5.8 (-13.4, 1.7)	-7.5
TMT (B-A)	40.9 (11.8)	24.0	^a 27.4 (4.0)	^a 28.7	^d 41.5 (6.0)	^d 41.2	-2.4 (-14.4, 9.6)	-0.4	11.0 (-2.6, 24.5)	13.1
Digit Span (F- B)	1.9 (0.7)	2.0	^a -0.2 (0.4)	^a 0.0	^a 1.0 (0.7)	^a 1.0	-2.3 (-3.9, -0.7)	-1.5	-1.1 (-3.0, 0.8)	-0.5
RAVLT (20 minute delay)	^b 7.0 (1.5)	^b 5.0	°12.1 (1.5)	°14.0	^d 12.5 (1.1)	^d 14.0	4.3 (0.1, 8.4)	4.5	5.3 (2.1, 8.5)	5.0
ADAS-Cog 12	5.3 (1.1)	5.7	^a 4.1 (0.8)	^a 3.5	^a 3.1 (0.4)	^a 3.2	-0.6 (-2.6, 1.5)	0.0	-1.5 (-3.3, 0.4)	-1.5

Table 3.3: Cognitive outcomes by group.

Stroop (C-B) = Stroop Test condition C minus condition B; TMT (B-A) = Trail Making Test part B minus part A; Digit Span (F-B) = Digit Span Test Forward minus Backward; RAVLT (20 minute delay) = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test 20 minute delay condition; ADAS-Cog 12 = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12; RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group; SE = standard error; CI = confidence interval.

^a Missing data for n = 1 (dropout).

- ^b Missing data for n = 1 (data collection error).
- ^c Missing data for n = 2 (1 dropout, 1 data collection error).
- ^d Missing data for n = 3 (1 dropout, 2 data collection errors).
- ^e Missing data for n = 3 (3 data collection errors).



Figure 3.2: Mean change in scores on cognitive tests (trial completion > baseline). Note: the box represents the interquartile range, where the bottom line of the box represents quartile 1 (25^{th} percentile) and the top line represents quartile 3 (75^{th} percentile); the whiskers

represent the minimum and maximum values excluding outliers; 'X' represents the mean; and the middle line of the box represents the median.

Stroop C-B = Stroop Test condition C minus condition B; TMT B-A = Trail Making Test part B minus part A; Digit Span F-B = Digit Span Test Forward minus Backward; RAVLT (20 minute delay) = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test 20 minute delay condition; ADAS-Cog 12 = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12; RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group.

3.3.3 Physical outcomes

Change in physical measures by group across the 26 weeks are presented in **Table 3.4**. A larger increase in 1RM was seen for the resistance training group compared to the balance and tone group (**Table 3.4**, **Figure 3.3**), and this was gradual from midpoint to trial completion. Across the trial, most changes in other physical measures were small and comparable for both resistance training and balance and tone groups, including FPG and BMI (**Table 3.4**). However, the resistance training group had larger increases in PASE scores at both midpoint and trial completion compared the balance and tone group, as well as larger improvements on the six minute walk test at both time points (**Table 3.4**).

Variable	Baseline		Midpoint		Trial completion		Δ Baseline to midpoint		Δ Baseline to trial completion	
	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (SE)	Median	Mean (95% CI)	Median	Mean (95% CI)	Median
RT										
1RM, kg	49.5 (3.9)	50.0	61.5 (4.9)	64.0	70.7 (3.5)	69.0	12.0 (4.9, 18.9)	9.0	21.2 (15.8, 26.5)	22.0
BMI, kg/m ²	30.9 (0.8)	30.7	30.7 (0.9)	31.3	30.3 (1.1)	30.5	-0.2 (-1.0, 0.6)	0.2	-0.6 (-1.8, 0.7)	0.1
FPG, mmol/l	5.2 (0.3)	5.1	5.3 (0.2)	5.1	5.5 (0.2)	5.4	0.1 (-0.3, 0.5)	0.0	0.2 (-0.3, 0.8)	0.3
Hip circumference, cm	110.2 (3.0)	111.0	110.9 (2.8)	110.5	^h 112.5 (3.0)	^h 111.0	0.7 (-4.4, 5.8)	0.0	4.2 (-1.3, 9.8)	3.0
Waist circumference, cm	108.1 (3.3)	104.1	108.5 (3.4)	108.0	^h 107.4 (3.9)	^h 105.5	0.4 (-1.6, 2.4)	0.0	0.2 (-2.4, 2.8)	-0.1
PASE	^b 109.5 (10.2)	^b 101.0	135.9 (17.6)	136.7	144.8 (19.0)	138.0	28.0 (-17.0, 73.0)	12.7	35.9 (4.7, 67.1) 37.5
SPPB	10.2 (0.4)	10.0	10.5 (0.3)	11.0	10.5 (0.4)	10.0	0.3 (-0.4, 1.0)	0.0	0.3 (-0.7, 1.3)	0.0
TUG, s	8.8 (0.6)	8.8	8.3 (0.4)	8.2	8.8 (0.5)	8.5	-0.6 (-1.7, 0.5)	-0.2	0.0 (-1.5, 1.4)	-0.2
Six minute walk test, m	478.9 (11.9)	465.0	503.0 (20.7)	507.0	513.3 (16.0)	510.0	24.1 (-21.1, 69.3)	32.0	34.4 (-6.7, 75.5)	48.0
BAT										
1RM, kg	^b 50.4 (6.2)	^b 51.5	^f 64.2 (6.2)	^f 72.0	^f 66.4 (6.8)	^f 64.0	9.1 (-2.6, 20.8)	13.0	9.1 (-3.2, 21.4)) 8.0
BMI, kg/m ²	31.9 (2.0)	29.9	^g 32.0 (2.8)	^g 30.4	^a 32.3 (2.4)	^a 30.7	0.4 (-0.7, 1.5)	0.1	0.0 (-1.2, 1.2)	0.0
FPG, mmol/l	5.3 (0.2)	5.6	^d 5.1 (0.2)	^d 5.2	^a 5.6 (0.2)	^a 5.8	0 (-0.5, 0.5)	-0.1	0.3 (-0.3, 0.9)	0.4
Hip	°113.4	^c 112.0	^e 116.2	^e 113.0	^e 118.7 (5.6)	^e 112.0	2.7 (-3.9, 9.2)	-0.5	5.2 (-0.4, 10.7)) 2.2

 Table 3.4: Physical outcomes by group.

circumference, cm	(5.7)		(6.8)							
Waist circumference, cm	^c 114.4 (5.9)	^c 111.0	^e 110.2 (6.4)	^e 113.0	^e 111.0 (6.5)	^e 113.0	-4.6 (-11.4, 2.1)	-3.0	-3.8 (-10.5, 2.9)	-1.0
PASE	^b 115.9 (15.2)	^b 133.9	^a 97.5 (11.0)	^a 92.3	^d 117.9 (12.0)	^d 116.0	-10.1 (-59.4, 39.1)	15.0	5.2 (-25.2, 35.7)	-4.4
SPPB	9.5 (0.4)	9.0	^a 10.9 (0.3)	^a 11.0	^a 9.9 (0.5)	^a 10.0	1.3 (0.2, 2.4)	1.5	0.3 (-1.0, 1.6)	-0.5
TUG, s	8.6 (0.3)	8.6	^d 8.1 (0.4)	^d 7.4	^a 9.3 (0.9)	^a 9.2	-0.5 (-1.3, 0.2)	-0.6	0.6 (-1.3, 2.5)	0.3
Six minute walk test, m	468.8 (25.0)	485.0	^d 454.3 (21.5)	^d 480.0	^a 474.4 (21.7)	^a 484.5	1.2 (-56.5, 58.9)	-5.0	7.4 (-52.6, 67.3)	9.5

1RM = one repetition maximum (predicted) - quadricep; BMI = body mass index; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; PASE = Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; SPPB = Short Physical Performance Battery; TUG = Timed Up and Go Test; RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group; SE = standard error; CI = confidence interval.

^a Missing data for n = 1 (dropout).

^b Missing data for n = 1 (data collection error).

^c Missing data for n = 1 (1 identified as unreliable).

^d Missing data for n = 2 (1 dropout, 1 data collection error).

^e Missing data for n = 2 (1 dropout, 1 identified as unreliable).

^f Missing data for n = 2 (1 dropout, 1 data not collected due to physical discomfort).

^g Missing data for n = 3 (1 dropout, 2 data collection errors).

^h Missing data for n = 4 (4 data collection errors).





Note: the box represents the interquartile range, where the bottom line of the box represents quartile 1 (25^{th} percentile) and the top line represents quartile 3 (75^{th} percentile); the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values excluding outliers; 'X' represents the mean; and the middle line of the box represents the median.

1RM = one repetition maximum (predicted) – quadricep; RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group.

3.3.4 Correlations

Table 3.5 shows correlations between change in BMI, FPG, and cognitive outcome measures at trial completion relative to baseline. Interestingly, increased 1RM strength was moderately correlated with reduced RAVLT scores. In addition, a weak-to-moderate positive correlation was found for 1RM and Digit Span scores (i.e., increased 1RM was related to a decline in performance on the Digit Span Test). Increased BMI had a weak-to-moderate association with improved ADAS-Cog 12 scores, which was also surprising. Finally, increased FPG levels was related to improved performance on the TMT (weak-to-moderate correlation). All other correlations were weak in strength.

	Stroop (C-B)	TMT (B- A)	Digit Span (F-B)	RAVLT (20 minute delay)	ADAS-Cog 12
1RM, kg	098	112	.393	571	021
BMI, kg/m ²	.007	.098	076	.124	331
FPG, mmol/l	067	356	059	.010	181

Table 3.5: Spearman correlations for cognitive and physical outcomes (trial completion> baseline).

1RM = one repetition maximum (predicted) – quadricep; BMI = body mass index; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; Stroop (C-B) = Stroop Test condition C minus condition B; TMT (B-A) = Trail Making Test part B minus part A; Digit Span (F-B) = Digit Span Test Forward minus Backward; RAVLT (20 minute delay) = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test 20 minute delay condition; ADAS-Cog 12 = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12.

3.4 Discussion

Results from the current study suggest that 26 weeks of thrice-weekly resistance training may benefit certain cognitive domains in older adults at risk for diabetes. This is in line with previous research that has shown that positive effects of resistance training on cognitive function in older adults may be selective.^{38,47} In our study, the largest improvement in cognition as a result of resistance training was seen in task-switching performance, as measured by the TMT. The ability to switch between tasks is a higher-order function shown to decline naturally with age,⁴⁸ with greater impairment seen in many chronic illnesses including hyperglycemia and obesity.^{49,50} Previous study findings have shown that endurance exercise positively affects task-switching in older adults,⁵¹ as demonstrated in our study. Moreover, the size of improvements seen in our study is similar to what has been statistically found in another resistance training intervention in older adults;³⁸ based on this, we can infer that we would see similar cognitive improvements in large-scale resistance training trials in our target population.

Another positive finding from our study–that resistance training improves selective attention and conflict resolution–also corroborates previous work in older adults. Liu-Ambrose et al. (2010) found that older adults who performed resistance exercise twice per week for 12 months significantly improved in selective attention and conflict resolution as measured by the Stroop Test.³⁸ Comparatively, our study found even greater improvements on the Stroop task than this study did after progressive resistance training, however our frequency/duration of exercise differed. Additionally, an important finding that emerged from the 12-month study data set was that Stroop performance during the trial predicted maintenance of physical activity post-intervention, such that those with greater improvements on the Stroop Test remained more physically active than those with poorer scores.⁵² Improvements in selective attention and conflict resolution along with other measures of executive function, also have important implications to everyday living for older adults. For example, such executive functions are known to be essential to balance, postural maintenance, ambulation, and the prevention of falls.⁵³ Furthermore, many studies show that executive functioning is positively correlated with basic activities of daily living, including preparing meals, handling finances, driving, and shopping, among others.⁵⁴

Notably, improvements in cognitive function (task-switching, selective attention, conflict resolution) in response to resistance training in our study were already apparent to some degree at trial midpoint. In line with this, previous studies have shown that improvements in cognition can be evident after short-term resistance training. An RCT by Santos et al. (2020) assessed the effects of resistance training on cognition after only 12 weeks of thrice-weekly resistance training in community-dwelling older adults.⁵⁵ At trial completion, the authors found significant improvements in selective attention, conflict resolution, working memory, and verbal fluency.⁵⁵ However, the extent to which short-term resistance training such as this has lasting effects on cognition is not well understood, thus more exercise studies with follow-ups are needed. Moreover, cognitive improvements seen in our population early on in the trial may be the result of the degree of impairment at baseline. Other clinical populations of older adults (e.g., those with MCI) have been shown to experience cognitive benefits from resistance training faster than healthy older adults,^{14,38} and this may be due to having worse baseline cognition and therefore greater room for improvements. Future correlational studies assessing cognitive abilities in our population versus healthy age-matched controls are needed.

One possible explanation for why resistance training led to improvements in executive function but not memory in our study is the use of higher-order cognitive functions to perform the resistance training exercises. It may be that resistance exercise, compared to other forms of exercise including aerobic training, is more cognitively stimulating and demanding. Resistance training often requires learning new equipment as well as attention and concentration while performing the exercises themselves (to ensure proper form, to count repetitions, etc.). Thus, execution functioning is perhaps being strengthened in this manner during resistance training. Additionally, findings on whether resistance training improves memory remain fairly inconsistent in the literature, while more consistent research demonstrates the positive relationship between resistance training and executive function.

Liu-Ambrose and colleagues (2010) found no improvements in memory as measured by the Digit Span Test, but did find improvements in executive function, following a progressive resistance training intervention in older adults.³⁸ Moreover, a systematic review by Loprinzi et al. (2018) found that only three of eight studies provided some evidence of a positive effect of resistance training on memory (episodic memory).⁵⁶ Evidently, more RCTs assessing the effects of resistance training on memory are needed.

An unexpected finding in the current trial was that balance and tone participants showed some improvements in cognitive function. This differs from a previous resistance training study in older adults that used a similar balance and tone protocol but found much smaller or no improvements in cognitive function (e.g., on the Stroop and Digit Span tests) for control participants.³⁸ Given that our study only measured quadricep muscle strength and included no other measure of muscle function in the balance and tone group, it is possible that this group improved in muscle strength in an undetected way. Studies have shown that balance and stretching exercises can in fact improve muscle strength^{57,58} that may be positively related to cognition.⁵⁹ As such, future trials may benefit from including additional tests of muscle function, perhaps lean body mass measures for example, as well as further exploring the potential physical and cognitive benefits that balance and tone exercise may have in older adults at risk for diabetes. Other possible explanations for this unexpected finding, including differences in socialization between the two groups, are discussed in Chapter 5. In addition, some unexpected findings were seen in our correlational data. For example, it appears that increased muscle strength may actually be associated with reduced scores on selective cognitive tests, and increased BMI and FPG may be associated with better performance on some tests. Since we did not assess statistical significance of measured correlations, nor did we control for certain variables, future trials with a larger sample size are needed to better examine the potential relationships between physical and cognitive outcomes in response to resistance training.

While resistance training did lead to some improvements in cognition, it did not result in improvements in most physical measures including BMI or FPG. In line with this, some

studies have found that resistance training does not improve weight or glycemic control like aerobic exercise does.^{60,61} However, a review and meta-analysis showed that resistance training can lead to improvements in HbA1c levels, but high-intensity training leads to much greater improvements than low-intensity training;⁶² this may be the result of greater glucose uptake in skeletal muscle during high-intensity exercises.⁶³ This is important as the majority of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake occurs in skeletal muscle.⁶⁴ Based on this, it is possible that the resistance training group in our study did not exercise at a high enough intensity to allow for increased glucose uptake. Although our trial participants did exercise at 80% of their predicted 1RM, it has been shown that predicted 1RM may underestimate true 1RM values in older adults.⁶⁵ and thus participants may have been exercising at a lower intensity than intended. Interestingly, though, participants in the resistance training group did improve in aerobic function (walking ability) as measured by the six minute walk test. Future trials with additional tests of aerobic function may help shed light on the relationship between resistance training and aerobic function, and should examine the possible differences between resistance training and aerobic training (as well as resistance training combined with aerobic training) on physical and cognitive function in older adults at risk for diabetes.

When interpreting results, it is important to consider the potential clinical significance of cognitive changes that occur in response to exercise. For example, changes seen in ADAS-Cog 12 for both groups are considered non-clinically significant given that they were below the literature-informed minimal clinically important difference (MCID) of three.⁴⁶ Minimal clinically important difference is defined as the smallest difference in a disease score that a patient would benefit from and would lead to a change in the patient's management plan.⁶⁶ To our knowledge, MCIDs have yet to be established for many commonly used neuropsychological tests such as the Stroop Test and TMT. Thus, large-scale prospective population-based studies are needed to determine the usefulness of such tools in a clinical context. Until this is achieved, one previously proposed way to measure meaningful change from RCTs is the use of the Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY), an internationally-recognized tool which assesses both quality and quantity of life.⁶⁶ Future trials may benefit

from incorporating this tool or similar measures of disease burden to determine how cognitive changes as a result of resistance training may benefit health long-term.

Importantly, there are several limitations to the current study that need be to addressed. Firstly, given that this was an underpowered pilot study, it is important that results are interpreted with caution. Furthermore, as we did not run inferential statistics, we cannot conclude that trends (both between-group and across timepoints) are significant, nor were we able to control for any variables that may affect results such as differences in baseline characteristics between groups. Based on our findings, it may have been beneficial to control for PASE performance in analyses had that been possible, as the resistance training group had increased PASE scores over time compared to the balance and tone group. This suggests that those in the resistance training group could have benefitted from additional leisure, occupational, or household physical activity outside of the exercise program, which may have affected results. While we did collect information on leisure physical activity and sleep, it may also be advantageous to collect information on diet and other lifestyle behaviours that could affect results.

Additionally, there were a number of errors in assessment delivery which resulted in missing data. At times, assessors forgot to administer parts of the psychological questionnaires (e.g., the 20 minute delay recall test for the RAVLT) or mis-timed the completion of tasks such as the TMT. Further supervision and check-ins may help to avoid this issue in the future and is discussed further in Chapter 5. Other recommendations for future research include examining how resistance training may affect individuals with hyperglycemia who have normal BMI compared to those who are overweight but have normoglycemia. As our sample size was small, and we were only able to recruit a very limited number of people with prediabetes (who were all overweight or obese), we were unable to effectively test this. However, we speculate that both groups would experience improvements in cognition following resistance training, as individuals with hyperglycemia or obesity are known to experience cognitive deficits and have been shown to benefit from other exercise types.^{13,67} Similarly, future studies should assess potential differences between those who are overweight versus obese,

since these groups are known to have some differing cognitive abilities.¹² It would also be interesting to examine potential sex differences, as women, in general, have been shown to benefit more cognitively from exercise compared to men (which may be a result of differences in hormones, body composition, etc.).⁶⁸

Future studies should also assess the underlying neuropsychological mechanisms that may explain the benefits of resistance training on cognition. For example, at the molecular and cellular level, resistance training leads to the release of neurochemicals (including IGF-1) that stimulate the growth of new neurons and blood vessels, as well as the strengthening of neuronal connections.⁶⁹ Resistance training has also been shown to lead to increased cytokines such as interleukin-6, which reduces beta-amyloid levels in the brain that disrupts brain cell function, and increased lactate levels that can lead to improved brain metabolism.^{70,71} Understanding these mechanisms may also help link changes in cognition to structural and functional brain changes as a result of resistance training. Finally, an interesting future component to our trial would be to examine whether changes in cognition that may result from our intervention last beyond the trial, as previous studies have shown that positive effects on cognition from resistance training may persist at least one year after study completion.⁵²

In conclusion, our pilot study demonstrates the preliminary efficacy of a 26-week resistance training program improving cognition in older adults at risk for diabetes. Resistance training led to some improvements in cognitive function, mainly in attention and executive functions that are important to everyday function in older adults. Based on our findings, there may also be some benefits from balance and tone exercises in this population. In the future, large-scale powered trials are needed to further explore our preliminary findings.

Summary

This chapter assessed cognitive changes following 26 weeks of thrice-weekly progressive resistance training in older adults at risk for diabetes. Compared to balance and tone exercise, resistance training led to a larger increase in 1RM quadricep strength, which provides evidence toward the effectiveness of the resistance training program in increasing muscle mass as intended. For both groups, very small changes were seen in FPG and BMI across the trial. When assessing cognition, those in the resistance training group improved in task-switching, selective attention, and conflict resolution, whereas those in the balance and tone group improved on two memory tasks. Based on these findings, it appears that resistance training may improve select cognitive functions over others, and that there may be unexpected benefits of balance and tone exercise. It is possible that the unexpected improvements in the latter group may be a result of other factors (such as socialization) outside the physical exercise itself. Considerations of ways to improve the study protocol and reduce possible confounding variables that may account for these findings are discussed in Chapter 5.

Having examined cognitive changes, we can gain a deeper understanding of the possible effects of the resistance training intervention by investigating underlying changes to neurological mechanisms in our target population. Moreover, exploring changes to brain volume and functional activation patterns may provide insight into whether changes at the structural and functional levels may be related to behavioural changes. In this regard, Chapter 4 examines structural and functional brain changes using MRI following the 26-week resistance training intervention in older adults at risk for diabetes.

References

- 1. Diabetes. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia
- 2. Risk Reduction of Cognitive Decline and Dementia: WHO Guidelines. Accessed September 15, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK542801/
- 3. Albai O, Frandes M, Timar R, Roman D, Timar B. Risk factors for developing dementia in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2019;15:167-175. doi:10.2147/NDT.S189905
- 4. Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 2019;157. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843
- 5. Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, et al. Diabetes in Older Adults. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(12):2650-2664. doi:10.2337/dc12-1801
- Monette MCE, Baird A, Jackson DL. A Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Functioning in Nondemented Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*. 2014;38(6):401-408. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.01.014
- Dybjer E, Nilsson PM, Engström G, Helmer C, Nägga K. Pre-diabetes and diabetes are independently associated with adverse cognitive test results: a cross-sectional, population-based study. *BMC Endocr Disord*. 2018;18(1):91. doi:10.1186/s12902-018-0318-3
- 8. Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Laukka EJ, et al. Early Cognitive Deficits in Type 2 Diabetes: A Population-Based Study. *J Alzheimers Dis*. 2016; 53(3):1069-1078. doi:10.3233/JAD-160266
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, Wang R, Bäckman L, Xu W. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: A populationbased cohort study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019;15(1):25-33. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3060
- 10. Convit A, Wolf OT, Tarshish C, de Leon MJ. Reduced glucose tolerance is associated with poor memory performance and hippocampal atrophy among normal elderly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(4):2019-2022. doi:10.1073/pnas.0336073100

- Yang Y, Shields GS, Guo C, Liu Y. Executive function performance in obesity and overweight individuals: A meta-analysis and review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2018;84:225-244. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.020
- 12. Favieri F, Forte G, Casagrande M. The Executive Functions in Overweight and Obesity: A Systematic Review of Neuropsychological Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Studies. *Front Psychol.* 2019;10:2126. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02126
- Baker LD, Frank LL, Foster-Schubert K, et al. Aerobic exercise improves cognition for older adults with glucose intolerance, a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;22(2):569-579. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-100768
- Nagamatsu LS, Handy TC, Hsu CL, Voss M, Liu-Ambrose T. Resistance training promotes cognitive and functional brain plasticity in seniors with probable mild cognitive impairment: A 6-month randomized controlled trial. *Arch Intern Med*. 2012;172(8):666-668. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2012.379
- 15. Cassilhas RC, Viana VAR, Grassmann V, et al. The impact of resistance exercise on the cognitive function of the elderly. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2007;39(8):1401-1407. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e318060111f
- Law TD, Clark LA, Clark BC. Resistance Exercise to Prevent and Manage Sarcopenia and Dynapenia. *Annu Rev Gerontol Geriatr*. 2016;36(1):205-228. doi:10.1891/0198-8794.36.205
- Cassilhas RC, Lee KS, Venâncio DP, Oliveira MGM, Tufik S, de Mello MT. Resistance exercise improves hippocampus-dependent memory. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* 2012;45(12):1215-1220. doi:10.1590/s0100-879x2012007500138
- Kido K, Ato S, Yokokawa T, Makanae Y, Sato K, Fujita S. Acute resistance exerciseinduced IGF1 expression and subsequent GLUT4 translocation. *Physiol Rep.* 2016;4(16):e12907. doi:10.14814/phy2.12907
- 19. Guan J, Mathai S, Liang H, Gunn AJ. Insulin-like growth factor-1 and its derivatives: potential pharmaceutical application for treating neurological conditions. *Recent Pat CNS Drug Discov.* 2013;8(2):142-160. doi:10.2174/1574889811308020004
- 20. Friedrich N, Thuesen B, Jørgensen T, et al. The Association Between IGF-I and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(4):768-773. doi:10.2337/dc11-1833
- Schneider HJ, Friedrich N, Klotsche J, et al. Prediction of incident diabetes mellitus by baseline IGF1 levels. *Eur J Endocrinol*. 2011;164(2):223-229. doi:10.1530/EJE-10-0963

- 22. Bell ML, Whitehead AL, Julious SA. Guidance for using pilot studies to inform the design of intervention trials with continuous outcomes. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2018;10:153-157. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S146397
- World Health Organization, International Diabetes Federation. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia : report of a WHO/IDF consultation. Published online 2006. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43588
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.* 1975;12(3):189-198. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- 25. Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Nursing Research*. 1970;19(3):278.
- 26. Adams R. Revised Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire. *Can Fam Physician*. 1999;45:992-1005.
- 27. Groll DL, To T, Bombardier C, Wright JG. The development of a comorbidity index with physical function as the outcome. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2005;58(6):595-602. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.10.018
- 28. Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *J Psychiatr Res.* 1982;17(1):37-49. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(82)90033-4
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2005;53(4):695-699. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- 30. Spreen O, Strauss E. (1998). *A compendium of neurological tests*. 2. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- 31. Wechsler D. (1981). *Wechsler adult intelligence scale revised*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- 32. Lezak MD. (1995). *Neuropsychological assessment*. 3rd ed New York, USA: Oxford University Press.
- 33. Rosen WG, Mohs RC, Davis KL. A new rating scale for Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1984;141(11):1356-1364. doi:10.1176/ajp.141.11.1356

- 34. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. *J Gerontol*. 1994;49(2):M85-94. doi:10.1093/geronj/49.2.m85
- 35. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 1991;39(2):142-148. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x
- 36. Balke B. A simple field test for the assessment of physical fitness. REP 63-6. *Rep Civ Aeromed Res Inst US*. Published online April 1963:1-8.
- Washburn RA, Smith KW, Jette AM, Janney CA. The Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE): development and evaluation. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1993;46(2):153-162. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(93)90053-4
- Liu-Ambrose T, Nagamatsu LS, Graf P, Beattie BL, Ashe MC, Handy TC. Resistance training and executive functions: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010;170(2):170-178. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2009.494
- 39. Liu-Ambrose T, Nagamatsu LS, Voss MW, Khan KM, Handy TC. Resistance training and functional plasticity of the aging brain: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2012;33(8):1690-1698. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.05.010
- 40. Brzycki M. Strength Testing—Predicting a One-Rep Max from Reps-to-Fatigue. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*. 1993;64(1):88-90. doi:10.1080/07303084.1993.10606684
- 41. Colcombe SJ, Kramer AF, Erickson KI, et al. Cardiovascular fitness, cortical plasticity, and aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2004;101(9):3316-3321. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400266101
- 42. Leon AC, Davis LL, Kraemer HC. The role and interpretation of pilot studies in clinical research. *J Psychiatr Res*. 2011;45(5):626-629. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.008
- 43. Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2010;10(1):1. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-10-1
- 44. Callisaya ML, Daly RM, Sharman JE, et al. Feasibility of a multi-modal exercise program on cognition in older adults with Type 2 diabetes a pilot randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr*. 2017;17:237. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0635-9
- 45. Gupta SK. Intention-to-treat concept: A review. *Perspect Clin Res.* 2011;2(3):109-112. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.83221
- Schrag A, Schott JM, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. What is the clinically relevant change on the ADAS-Cog? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2012;83(2):171-173. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-300881
- Nagamatsu LS, Chan A, Davis JC, et al. Physical Activity Improves Verbal and Spatial Memory in Older Adults with Probable Mild Cognitive Impairment: A 6-Month Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Aging Research*. 2013;2013:e861893. doi:10.1155/2013/861893
- Gold BT, Powell DK, Xuan L, Jicha GA, Smith CD. Age-related slowing of task switching is associated with decreased integrity of frontoparietal white matter. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2010;31(3):512. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.04.005
- 49. Gul A, Sehar M, Jawad U. Relationship between Neuropsychological Functioning, Behavioral Inhibition, and Glycemic Control in Type 2 Diabetes: Findings from Taskswitching Study. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2017;130(4):487-489. doi:10.4103/0366-6999.199842
- 50. Steenbergen L, Colzato LS. Overweight and Cognitive Performance: High Body Mass Index Is Associated with Impairment in Reactive Control during Task Switching. *Front Nutr.* 2017;4:51. doi:10.3389/fnut.2017.00051
- 51. Fong D-Y, Chi L-K, Li F, Chang Y-K. The benefits of endurance exercise and Tai Chi Chuan for the task-switching aspect of executive function in older adults: an ERP study. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*. 2014;6:295. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00295
- 52. Best JR, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T. Improvements to executive function during exercise training predict maintenance of physical activity over the following year. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*. 2014;8:353. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00353
- Persad CC, Jones JL, Ashton-Miller JA, Alexander NB, Giordani B. Executive Function and Gait in Older Adults With Cognitive Impairment. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*. 2008;63(12):1350-1355. doi:10.1093/gerona/63.12.1350
- 54. Marshall GA, Rentz DM, Frey MT, Locascio JJ, Johnson KA, Sperling RA. Executive function and instrumental activities of daily living in MCI and AD. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2011;7(3):300-308. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2010.04.005
- 55. Santos PRPD, Cavalcante BR, Vieira AKDS, et al. Improving cognitive and physical function through 12-weeks of resistance training in older adults: Randomized controlled trial. *J Sports Sci.* 2020;38(17):1936-1942. doi:10.1080/02640414.2020.1763740

- 56. Loprinzi PD, Frith E, Edwards MK. Resistance exercise and episodic memory function: a systematic review. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*. 2018;38(6):923-929. doi:10.1111/cpf.12507
- Avelar BP, Costa JN de A, Safons MP, et al. Balance Exercises Circuit improves muscle strength, balance, and functional performance in older women. *Age (Dordr)*. 2016;38(1):14. doi:10.1007/s11357-016-9872-7
- Morton SK, Whitehead JR, Brinkert RH, Caine DJ. Resistance training vs. static stretching: effects on flexibility and strength. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2011;25(12):3391-3398. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31821624aa
- 59. Sui SX, Williams LJ, Holloway-Kew KL, Hyde NK, Pasco JA. Skeletal Muscle Health and Cognitive Function: A Narrative Review. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;22(1):E255. doi:10.3390/ijms22010255
- 60. Gilbert D, Mounsey A. Does resistance training improve glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes? *Evidence-Based Practice*. 2021;24(1):26-27. doi:10.1097/EBP.00000000000827
- 61. Lee S, Deldin AR, White D, et al. Aerobic exercise but not resistance exercise reduces intrahepatic lipid content and visceral fat and improves insulin sensitivity in obese adolescent girls: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 2013;305(10):E1222-1229. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00285.2013
- 62. Liu Y, Ye W, Chen Q, Zhang Y, Kuo C-H, Korivi M. Resistance Exercise Intensity is Correlated with Attenuation of HbA1c and Insulin in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2019;16(1):140. doi:10.3390/ijerph16010140
- 63. Castaneda C, Layne JE, Munoz-Orians L, et al. A randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise training to improve glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(12):2335-2341. doi:10.2337/diacare.25.12.2335
- 64. Lee J, Kim D, Kim C. Resistance Training for Glycemic Control, Muscular Strength, and Lean Body Mass in Old Type 2 Diabetic Patients: A Meta-Analysis. *Diabetes Ther*. 2017;8(3):459-473. doi:10.1007/s13300-017-0258-3
- 65. Knutzen KM, Brilla LR, Caine D. Validity of 1RM Prediction Equations for Older Adults. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 1999;13(3):242-246.
- 66. Davis JC, Hsiung G-YR, Liu-Ambrose T. Challenges moving forward with economic evaluations of exercise intervention strategies aimed at combating cognitive impairment and dementia. *Br J Sports Med.* 2011;45(6):470-472. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2010.077990

- 67. Chan JSY, Yan JH, Payne VG. The Impact of Obesity and Exercise on Cognitive Aging. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2013;5:97. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2013.00097
- 68. Barha CK, Liu-Ambrose T. Exercise and the Aging Brain: Considerations for Sex Differences. *Brain Plast.* 4(1):53-63. doi:10.3233/BPL-180067
- 69. Voss MW, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T, Kramer AF. Exercise, brain, and cognition across the life span. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2011;111(5):1505-1513. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00210.2011
- 70. Calle MC, Fernandez ML. Effects of resistance training on the inflammatory response. *Nutr Res Pract*. 2010;4(4):259-269. doi:10.4162/nrp.2010.4.4.259
- 71. Wirtz N, Wahl P, Kleinöder H, Mester J. Lactate Kinetics during Multiple Set Resistance Exercise. *J Sports Sci Med*. 2014;13(1):73-77.

Chapter 4

4 Scientific outcomes: Structural and functional brain changes following 26 weeks of resistance exercise in older adults at risk for diabetes

This chapter will explore the structural and functional brain changes in older adults at risk for diabetes using MRI following a 26-week randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise. A manuscript for the reported findings is currently in preparation.

Some content in Chapter 4 is from the following published protocol manuscript:

Furlano JA, Nagamatsu LS. Feasibility of a 6-month pilot randomised controlled trial of resistance training on cognition and brain health in Canadian older adults at-risk for diabetes: study protocol. *BMJ Open.* 2019;9(10),e032047. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032047

4.1 Introduction

Diabetes is associated with several anatomical and functional brain abnormalities. Crosssectional MRI work has demonstrated that individuals with T2D exhibit smaller brain volumes, including TBV and regional volumes (e.g., HV), compared to healthy controls.¹ Research assessing functional brain patterns have also shown that diabetics experience reduced levels of brain activation associated with impaired cognitive function. One study by Chen and colleagues (2014) found that those with T2D had reduced activation in the superior and middle frontal gyri during a working memory task compared to healthy controls, and this was correlated with worse memory performance.² Taken together, this evidence suggests that diabetics experience deficits in brain health and, consequently, are at an increased risk for dementia.

Two major risk factors for T2D are prediabetes (the precursor stage of T2D) and obesity. Statistically, up to 70% of individuals with prediabetes will develop T2D,³ and it has been reported that roughly 30% of people who are overweight also have T2D.⁴ Compared to early life, these comorbidities occur more frequently in old age when the brain undergoes neurodegenerative changes due to aging.⁵ Furthermore, given the evidence that diabetics experience various structural and functional brain deficits, prediabetics and overweight/obese individuals, especially in late life, are at high risk for brain dysfunction. However, whether these individuals already experience deficits in brain health remains under investigation.

Based on findings from the systematic review presented in Chapter 2, it appears that prediabetic adults and older adults may experience some deficits in brain structure. Marseglia and colleagues (2019) showed that prediabetes is associated with smaller TBV, particularly WMV.⁶ Similarly, Cui et al. (2019) found that prediabetics have reduced GMV in the left hippocampus compared to healthy controls.⁷ Continuous hyperglycemia (measured via FPG) has also been shown to be associated with lower WMV and GMV.⁸ In this study, structural brain abnormalities observed in prediabetics were comparable to 2.1 years of brain aging, suggesting that prediabetes accelerates brain health declines seen in natural aging.⁸ Despite this evidence, findings are inconsistent across studies, and may be the result of varying diagnostic measures and other methodological flaws as highlighted in Chapter 2.

Similar to prediabetes, obesity has also been shown to accelerate brain decline associated with aging. Compared to normal weight people, the brains of overweight individuals (BMI 25-29) appear 8 years older, while the brains of obese individuals (BMI 30+) appear 16 years older.⁹ More specifically, studies have shown that higher BMI is associated with lower brain volumes, including HV, in overweight and obese older adults.^{10,11} One study in individuals with both T2D and high BMI found a reduction in WMV compared to healthy controls.¹² In fMRI work, regions implicated in memory, including the hippocampus and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, have reduced activation in obese participants compared to healthy weight participants.¹³

There are several potential mechanisms that may explain the association between prediabetes and obesity with brain health dysfunction. In prediabetes, hyperglycemia may cause the production of glycotoxins and promote oxidative stress,¹⁴ which can in turn lead to neuronal

cell toxicity and death.¹⁵ Further, hyperglycemia is associated with cerebral endothelial dysfunction,¹⁶ and ultimately cerebral perfusion and brain tissue ischemia.¹⁷ In obesity, high BMI is linked to systemic inflammation, inefficient leptin signaling, and decreased cerebral blood flow, all of which have been associated with brain dysfunction.^{18,19} Reduced cerebral blood flow, in particular, is one of the top predictors of developing Alzheimer's,²⁰ and studies have shown that areas of the brain vulnerable to Alzheimer's disease, including the hippocampus, have reduced blood flow as BMI increases.²¹

Evidently, there is a need for targeted interventions to improve brain health in individuals with prediabetes and obesity. Moreover, these disorders provide a window of opportunity for the prevention of further brain dysfunction seen in T2D. Exercise is one behavioural strategy that is known to improve brain structure and function. Higher fitness levels are associated with larger brain volumes, ²² and this may be the result of released neurotrophic factors such as BDNF and IGF-1 that stimulate neurogenesis and preserve neuronal health.²³ While most exercise interventions to improve brain health focus on aerobic exercise, resistance training has more recently been shown to have its own neurocognitive benefits, and is often more widely accessible for older adults, as previously discussed. A recent systematic review showed that resistance exercise interventions, ranging in weeks to several months in duration, led to substantial functional brain changes accompanied by improvements in cognition, as well as a reduction in brain atrophy, specifically white matter.²⁴ Furthermore, these improvements appear to hold true across several populations, including healthy and cognitively impaired adults.²⁴

To date, research has not yet examined whether resistance training may improve brain structure and function in older adults at risk for T2D. To accomplish this, we first conducted a pilot RCT to evaluate preliminary efficacy. Cognitive changes measured in this study via neuropsychological tests were previously discussed in Chapter 3, thus this Chapter will focus on MRI outcomes. Importantly, brain atrophy and other changes in brain health may be detectable via MRI even before cognitive impairment is evident,²⁵ and thus measuring brain changes may help us further understand the potential benefits of resistance training. Based on what is known in the literature, we hypothesized that 26 weeks of resistance training in older adults at risk for diabetes would lead to increased brain volumes, including TBV and HV, as well as increased functional activation in memory-related areas during an associative memory task.

As highlighted in Chapter 1, associative memory (the ability to memorize unrelated items in conjunction) is one cognitive function that declines with age and neurodegenerative disease. Areas of the brain implicated in learning associations include the occipital association cortex, lingual and fusiform gyri, inferior temporal gyrus, inferior pre- and postcentral gyri, orbitofrontal cortex, and precuneus.²⁶ Additionally, hippocampal function has been shown to be correlated with associative memory performance, as demonstrated in animal research assessing neuronal firing patterns.²⁷ Studies on the effects of resistance training on associative memory have shown a positive causal relationship in older adults. For example, one study found that six months of twice-weekly resistance training, compared to balance and tone exercise, improves associative memory in older adults with MCI.²⁸ In this study, resistance training also led to increased activation in brain regions involved in memorizing associations including the right lingual and occipital-fusiform gyri and the right frontal pole.²⁸ Therefore, in addition to increased functional activation in memory-related areas, we hypothesized that 26 weeks of resistance training would lead to improve associative memory performance in our study population.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study design

We conducted a single-blinded pilot RCT to examine the preliminary effects of a 26-week, thrice-weekly resistance exercise program on brain structure and function in older adults at risk for T2D. Magnetic resonance imaging was completed at baseline and trial completion (26 weeks) and was 1.5 hours long per session. Further details of our study design have been reported in Chapter 3.

4.2.2 Participants

Older adults (aged 60-80) who were overweight or obese (BMI \ge 25) and/or prediabetic (FPG 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/l) were recruited from the community in London, Ontario, Canada. Details of recruitment and inclusion/exclusion criteria can be found in Chapter 3.

4.2.3 Exercise intervention

Participants were randomized into either the resistance training or balance and tone (control) group. Exercise classes were one hour in length and were instructor-led. Classes were made up of 2-4 participants and were held three times per week on non-consecutive days for 26 weeks. Participants in the resistance training group underwent progressive resistance training (i.e., loading was increased over time based on predicted 1RM), while participants in the balance and tone group completed balance and stretching exercises. Study methods have been described in detail in Chapter 3.

4.2.4 Outcome measures

4.2.4.1 Structural MRI outcomes

T1-weighted images (TR=2300, TE=2.98, voxel size=1x1x1 mm) were used to measure whole brain and regional volumes. Percent brain volume change (PBVC) was calculated using SIENA (Structural Image Evaluation, using Normalization, of Atrophy) in the FMRIB (Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Brain) Software Library (FSL; Version 5.0.10), specifically within FAST (FMRIB's Automated Segmentation Tool).²⁹ SIENA is an automated method for measuring brain change across multiple time points, and has been shown to have an error rate of 0.2%.³⁰ SIENA starts by extracting non-brain tissue from both time-point whole-head input images, and registers the two brains using the skull images to keep the scaling constant.²⁹ It then estimates brain change between the two time points based on mean edge displacement.²⁹ Although fully automated, visual checks of output were performed to minimize error during brain extraction, spatial alignment, and tissue segmentation. SIENA was run for all participants, and PBVC by group was reported.

SIENAX (an adaptation of SIENA to measure brain volume at a single time point) was used to estimate GMV and WMV at both time points (as SIENA does not provide tissue type calculations).²⁹ Like SIENA, SIENAX first performs non-brain tissue extraction and estimates the outer skull surface.²⁹ The brain image is then registered to MNI152 (MNI = Montreal Neurological Institute) standard space using the skull image to determine the registration scaling, allowing for normalization of subject skull size.²⁹ Next, tissue-type segmentation is carried out in order to calculate volume estimation of grey and white matter separately.²⁹ Volumes for each participant at both baseline and trial completion were recorded, and average volume change overtime by group was calculated.

Left and right HVs were calculated via FIRST (FMRIB's Integrated Registration and Segmentation Tool), which is FSL's tool for automatic segmentation of subcortical structures.³¹ It uses default settings for each structure which have been empirically determined.³¹ FIRST was run for all participants at both time points, and left and right values were added together to produce total HVs. Average change in total HV by group across the trial was then reported.

4.2.4.2 Behavioural MRI outcomes

Performance on an associative memory task during fMRI was measured, where both associative and item memory were assessed. The memory task was a mixed block/event-related design that had been used in a previous study of resistance exercise in older adults.³² The task required participants to view a series of photos of faces superimposed onto sceneries, in which participants encoded and recalled items separately (face or scenery; measure of item memory) and items in conjunction (face paired with scenery; measure of associative memory) (**Figure 4.1**). The task featured six conditions: face encoding, face recognition, scenery encoding, scenery recognition, face–scenery encoding, and face–scenery recognition (**Figure 4.1**). Participants completed three blocks (runs), each comprised of the six conditions with the order of conditions counterbalanced in pairs (encoding plus recognition; e.g., scenery coding with scenery recognition). Each condition featured 12

separate photos; each of the 12 photos appeared for three seconds, separated by a fixation cross appearing for six seconds.

While performing the task inside the MRI scanner, participants used a two-button response pad. During the encoding conditions, participants were asked to indicate one of the following: (1) if the face shown was male or female (to help direct participants to memorizing faces only; in this case, the scenery remained constant across photos), (2) if the scenery contained liquid water (to help direct participants to memorizing scenery only; in this case, the face remained constant across photos), or (3) if the face 'fit well' with the scenery (to direct participants to memorizing the face with the scenery; there was no correct answer to this question). Following each encoding condition, participants, in the recognition condition, were asked to indicate whether they had previously seen each of the images during the encoding sequence. Each recognition block contained six photos from the encoding condition and six distractor photos. At the beginning of each condition (encoding or recognition), instructions appeared on screen for 10 seconds to inform participants of what their specific task was (e.g., to decide if the face is male or female (encoding), to indicate whether they had seen the image previously (recognition)). Participants completed several practice trials of each condition prior to completing the task in the scanner.

Task performance was determined using Signal Detection Theory, a method of measuring the ability to differentiate between information under conditions of uncertainty.³³ According to this theory, there are four possible outcomes for the recognition conditions in the memory task (**Figure 4.2**): (1) 'hit' – when a participant says they saw the image previously and they actually had (correct); (2) 'miss' – when a participant says they did not see the image previously but they had (incorrect); (3) 'false alarm' – when a participant says they saw the image previously but they had not (incorrect); and (4) 'correct rejection' – when a participant says they did not see the image alarm data, d prime was calculated, which is a measure of signal detection that accounts for response bias (i.e., participants are more likely to report that they did see an image versus

reporting that they did not see an image).³³ D prime is calculated using the following formula:

d prime =
$$z(H) - z(F)$$

where 'H' represents hits and 'F' represents false alarms.³³ D prime values typically range from 0 to 4.65, with larger values indicating better memory performance (i.e., more accurate responses).³⁴ D prime was calculated for both associative and item memory performance at baseline and trial completion, and change in d prime over time by group was then reported.





Figure 4.1: Associative memory task.

a) Item memory (face) condition; b) Item memory (scenery) condition; c) Associative memory (face-scenery) condition.

	Participant responds 'yes'	Participant responds 'no'
Saw image	Hit	Miss
Did not see image	False Alarm	Correct Rejection

Figure 4.2: Possible outcomes for the recognition conditions of the associative memory task.

4.2.4.3 Functional MRI outcomes

Functional MRI was used to assess changes in activation over time. Participants completed the associative memory task (previously described) during BOLD imaging (TR=1000, TE=30, slice thickness=2.5 mm). Using the correct response data (hits and correct rejections) from the task, first-level fMRI analysis was performed in FSL's FEAT (FMRIB's Expert Analysis Tool) to create signal contrasts during a single task run.³⁵ The data modelling which FEAT uses is based on general linear modelling (GLM).³⁵ With this, a model is created to fit the data, identifying where brain activation has occurred in response to a stimuli.³⁵ The six signal contrasts of interest were as follows: item (face or scenery) encoding, item recognition, associative (face-scenery) encoding, associative recognition, associative > item encoding, associative > item recognition. Pre-statistics processing included motion correction using MCFLIRT (Motion Correction using FMRIB's Linear Image Registration Tool),³⁶ brain extraction using BET (Brain Extraction Tool),³⁷ spatial smoothing using a Gaussian kernel FWHM (full-width at half-maximum) of 5 mm, and registration and normalization using a 2 mm MNI152 standard space image. Results were analyzed at a cluster threshold of Z > 1.65, p = 0.05. Two researchers independently reviewed the output data to determine final suitability for inclusion in analyses; a motion cut-off of 3 mm was used (i.e., participants with motion values above this were automatically excluded from analyses).

Higher-level analyses using fixed effects were then run to (1) create an average contrast over the three runs for each participant at both time points, and (2) create a contrast across the time points for each participant (trial completion > baseline).³⁵ Following this, a multisubject higher-level analysis using mixed effects was done to create group contrasts.³⁸ All higher-level results were also analyzed at a cluster threshold of Z > 1.65, p = 0.05. The multi-subject analysis produced clusters that showed significant change in activation for each of the six signal contrasts (item encoding, item recognition, associative encoding, associative recognition, associative > item encoding, associative > item recognition). Regions of interest (ROIs) were then created based on identified clusters, and percent signal change (PSC) was calculated via FSL's Featquery for each participant.³⁵ From this, average PSC over time by group was calculated and compared.

4.2.5 Data analysis

Behavioural outcomes are presented as means and SEs at baseline, midpoint, and trial completion, and change over time is presented as percent change (average) and 95% CIs by group. Structural and functional analysis was done in FSL, and these outcomes are also presented as means and SEs at baseline and trial completion. Change overtime for sMRI outcomes is presented as percent change and 95% CIs, while fMRI outcomes are presented as change in PSC and 95% CIs. Quality assessment of data was performed and discussed by two researchers. Potential outliers were included in analyses, as in Chapter 3, however some fMRI data was excluded due to excess motion (described in section 4.3.4 of this Chapter). Bivariate Spearman correlation coefficients were also used to examine the possible magnitude and direction of associations between change (across the trial) in brain and physical outcomes, as well as brain and cognitive outcomes from Chapter 3.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Descriptive measures

Baseline characteristics of participants are described in **Table 3.2** of Chapter 3. Briefly, A total of 24 participants were randomized into our trial (13 into the resistance training group and 11 in the balance and tone group). Participants were 68.7 ± 5.7 years old on average and were 50% female. All participants were overweight or obese based on BMI, and four were also prediabetic based on FPG.

Twenty-three participants completed both baseline and trial completion MRI scans, while one participant (from the balance and tone group) only completed the baseline MRI due to dropping out of the study after 10 weeks. This individual's baseline behavioural and sMRI data was used in analyses (except in PBVC calculations which requires input from two timepoints), however their baseline fMRI data was excluded from analyses.

4.3.2 Structural MRI outcomes

Structural MRI outcomes are presented in **Table 4.1** and **Figure 4.3**, where percent change across the trial is reported. Results show that the resistance training group had less of a decline in TBV (presented as PBVC; -0.13%) compared to the balance and tone control group (-0.37%). Similarly, less hippocampal atrophy was found in the resistance training group (-1.24%) compared to the control group (-1.74%). However, the control group increased in GMV and WMV (0.29% and 0.15%, respectively) compared to the resistance training group who had a 1.18% decrease in GMV and a 0.91% decrease in WMV.

Variable	Baseline	Trial completion	Δ Baseline to trial completion	
	^a Mean (SE)	^a Mean (SE)	Percent change (95% CI)	
RT				
PBVC	N/A	N/A	-0.13 (-0.58, 0.32)	
GMV	754939.81 (10206.60)	746013.50 (11272.60)	-1.18 (-2.80, 0.44)	
WMV	626335.00 (10483.75)	620351.896 (10442.01)	-0.91 (-2.95, 1.13)	
HV	7170.31 (215.56)	7082.39 (225.45)	-1.24 (-3.41, 0.93)	
BAT				
PBVC	N/A	N/A	-0.37 (-0.83, 0.08)	
GMV	757173.07 (18523.49)	759611.69 (19958.85)	0.29 (-0.92, 1.50)	
WMV	653713.39 (17636.66)	653591.58 (14274.20)	0.15 (-2.45, 2.75)	
HV	6968.00 (194.61)	6889.00 (216.81)	-1.74 (-4.73, 1.25)	

 Table 4.1: Structural outcomes by group.

^aNote: Volumes are in mm³.

PBVC = precent brain volume change (total brain volume); GMV = grey matter volume; WMV = white matter volume; HV = hippocampal volume; RT = resistance training; BAT = balance and tone group; SE = standard error; CI = confidence interval.



Figure 4.3: Percent volume change for brain measures (trial completion > baseline).

Note: the bars represent standard errors.

RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group.

4.3.3 Behavioural MRI outcomes

At baseline, nine participants were missing partial associative memory task data (i.e., partial conditions from 1-2 task runs). Data from three participants was missing due to task or fMRI issues, five due to participant withdrawal (i.e., participants requested to only complete 2/3 task runs due to discomfort in the scanner), and one due to the participant being late to the scan and therefore unable to complete all three runs in the allotted scanning time. At trial completion, seven participants had partial behavioural data missing, in which data from four participants was missing due to task/fMRI issues, and three due to participant withdrawal.

When assessing d prime results, participants in the resistance training group improved slightly in item memory (i.e., increased d prime) across the trial when compared to the balance and tone group (**Table 4.2**, **Figure 4.4**). In addition, both groups had small, comparable decreases in associative memory over time (**Table 4.2**, **Figure 4.4**).

Variable	Baseline Trial completio		Δ Baseline to trial completion
	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	Percent change (95% CI)
RT			
d prime (associative)	2.0 (0.2)	1.8 (0.2)	-0.2 (-1.0, 0.5)
d prime (item)	1.5 (0.2)	1.7 (0.3)	0.2 (-0.2, 0.7)
BAT			
d prime (associative)	2.5 (0.8)	2.3 (0.5)	-0.3 (-2.0, 1.3)
d prime (item)	1.0 (0.1)	1.0 (0.1)	-0.1 (-0.4, 0.2)

 Table 4.2: Behavioural outcomes by group.

RT = resistance training; BAT = balance and tone group; SE = standard error; CI = confidence interval.



Figure 4.4: Mean change in scores on the associative memory task (trial completion > baseline).

Note: the box represents the interquartile range, where the bottom line of the box represents quartile 1 (25th percentile) and the top line represents quartile 3 (75th percentile); the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values excluding outliers; 'X' represents the mean; and the middle line of the box represents the median.

RT = resistance training group; BAT = balance and tone group.

4.3.4 Functional MRI outcomes

In addition to missing associative memory data described in section 4.3.3 of this Chapter, additional task data was excluded for fMRI analyses. One participant was excluded from both baseline and trial completion analyses due to excess head motion (i.e., > 3mm). At baseline, two participants also had 1/3 memory task runs excluded, while an additional participant had 2/3 runs excluded, all due to excess motion. At trial completion, one participant had 2/3 runs excluded also due to motion. Altogether, we analyzed fMRI data from 22 participants at baseline (19 with full data, three with partial data) and 22 at endpoint (21 with full data, one with partial data). Since this is a pilot study, we included participants who had at least one run of the task deemed usable in analyses at either time points.

We identified brain areas showing significant changes in hemodynamic activity between groups at trial completion relative to baseline. The identified ROIs are presented in **Table 4.3**, **Table 4.4**, and **Table 4.5**. Across the trial, the resistance training group had a 0.11% increase in activation in the postcentral gyrus during associative > item encoding compared to the balance and tone group (**Table 4.6**, **Figure 4.5**). In addition, those in the resistance training group had a 0.13% increase in activation in the precentral gyrus and a 0.11% increase in the middle temporal gyrus (posterior) during associative > item recognition compared to the balance and tone group (**Table 4.6**, **Figure 4.5**). Comparatively, those in the balance and tone group had an increase in activation overtime in the anterior supramarginal gyrus (by 0.18%) and juxtapositional lobule cortex (by 0.12%) during associative > item encoding compared to the resistance training group (**Table 4.6**, **Figure 4.5**). No other areas were identified as having significant between-group differences in activation for any of the remaining four contrasts (item encoding, item recognition, associative encoding, associative recognition) at trial completion relative to baseline.

Hemisphere	Region	Cluster size ^a	Max Z ^b	MNI coordinates ^c		
				Х	Y	Ζ
Left	Postcentral gyrus	1539	3.17	-34	-38	40
Left	Postcentral gyrus		2.95	-38	-38	48
Left	Postcentral gyrus		2.76	-32	-26	68
Left	Supramarginal gyrus		2.68	-52	-34	38
	(anterior)					
Left	Postcentral gyrus		2.67	-44	-20	56
Left	Superior parietal lobule		2.64	-28	-44	48

 Table 4.3: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item encoding in the resistance training group at trial completion compared with baseline.

^a Cluster size = size of maximum cluster in voxels.

^b Max Z = maximum Z statistic for the cluster.

^c MNI coordinates = location of the cluster maxima in Montreal Neurological Institute standard space.

Hemisphere	Region	Cluster size ^a	Max Z ^b	MNI coordinates ^c		
-	-			Х	Y	Ζ
Left	Precentral gyrus	6593	3.02	-38	-4	46
Left	Precuneus cortex		2.99	-4	-56	34
Left	Middle temporal gyrus (posterior)		2.88	-72	-28	-10
Left	Postcentral gyrus		2.84	-42	-12	28
Left	Superior temporal gyrus (posterior)		2.81	-58	-34	4
Left	Inferior temporal gyrus (posterior)		2.79	-46	-36	-22
Right	Middle temporal gyrus (posterior)	5853	3.14	46	-36	0
Right	Supramarginal gyrus (posterior)		3.13	56	-40	6
Right	Thalamus		2.86	18	-24	14
Right	Middle temporal gyrus (posterior)		2.84	50	-24	-10
Right	Precentral gyrus		2.83	30	-22	48
Right	Central opercular cortex		2.83	42	10	2

 Table 4.4: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item recognition in the resistance training group at trial completion compared with baseline.

^a Cluster size = size of maximum cluster in voxels.

^b Max Z = maximum Z statistic for the cluster.

^c MNI coordinates = location of the cluster maxima in Montreal Neurological Institute standard space.

Hemisphere	Region	Cluster size ^a	Max Z ^b	MNI coordinates ^c			
				Х	Y	Ζ	
Left	Supramarginal gyrus	3413	3.13	-62	-30	42	
	(anterior)						
Left	Supramarginal gyrus		3.08	-56	-30	42	
	(anterior)						
Left	Precentral gyrus		3.06	-50	2	46	
Left	Supramarginal gyrus		2.99	-64	-28	38	
	(anterior)						
Left	Inferior frontal gyrus		2.81	-52	12	16	
	(pars opercularis)						
Left	Middle frontal gyrus		2.79	-40	8	48	
Left	Juxtapositional lobule	1206	3.1	-4	0	60	
	cortex						
Left	Juxtapositional lobule		3.04	-6	4	58	
	cortex						
Left	Superior frontal gyrus		2.84	-2	18	60	
Left	Paracingular gyrus		2.83	-4	24	40	
Left	Superior frontal gyrus		2.56	-2	32	48	
Left	Superior frontal gyrus		2.49	-8	14	56	

 Table 4.5: Clusters identified as being significantly more active for associative > item encoding in the balance and tone group at trial completion compared with baseline.

^a Cluster size = size of maximum cluster in voxels.

^b Max Z = maximum Z statistic for the cluster.

^c MNI coordinates = location of the cluster maxima in Montreal Neurological Institute standard space.

Variable Baseline		Trial completion	Δ Baseline to trial completion	
	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)	Change in PSC (95% CI)	
RT				
^a PoCG	-0.08 (0.02)	0.03 (0.03)	0.11 (0.04, 0.18)	
^b PreCG	-0.08 (0.03)	0.05 (0.03)	0.13 (0.04, 0.22)	
^b MTGp	-0.06 (0.02)	0.04 (0.02)	0.11 (0.03, 0.19)	
BAT				
^a SMGa	-0.27 (0.07)	-0.08 (0.04)	0.18 (0.00, 0.36)	
^a JPC	-0.06 (0.05)	0.06 (0.02)	0.12 (0.01)	

 Table 4.6: Percent signal change in brain regions identified as having significant activation.

^aEncoding conditions

^bRecognition conditions

PoCG = postcentral gyrus; PreCG = precentral gyrus; MTGp = middle temporal gyrus (posterior); SMGa = supramarginal gyrus (anterior); JPC = juxtapositional lobule cortex; PSC = percent signal change; RT = resistance training; BAT = balance and tone group; SE = standard error; CI = confidence interval.



Figure 4.5: Significant changes in activation during the associative memory task (trial completion > baseline).

a. Resistance training group, associative > item encoding; main activation is found in the left postcentral gyrus (arrow).

b. Resistance training group, associative > item recognition; main activation is found in the left precentral gyrus. (arrow).

c. Balance and tone group, associative > item encoding; main activation is found in the left anterior supramarginal gyrus (arrow).

4.3.5 Correlations

Table 4.7 shows correlations between change in brain and physical/cognitive measures (Chapter 3) at trial completion relative to baseline. For brain and physical outcomes, most associations were weak, however, there were some surprising correlations including (1) a moderate negative association between PBVC and 1RM (i.e., increased brain volume was related to decreased 1RM), (2) a weak-to-moderate positive association between PBVC and FPG (i.e., increased brain volume was related to increased FPG levels), and (3) a weak-to-moderate positive association between WMV and BMI (i.e., increased volume was related to increased BMI).

For brain and cognitive outcomes, increased PBVC was moderately related to improved ADAS-Cog 12 scores. Unexpectedly, however, increased PBVC was associated with a decline in TMT performance, although this association was weak-to-moderate in strength. Similarly, a weak-to-moderate positive association was found between GMV and TMT scores as well as Digit Span scores (i.e., increased volume was related to a decline in performance on both tests). For WMV, a weak-to-moderate positive correlation was found with TMT scores and a weak-to-moderate negative correlation with RAVLT scores, as well as a moderate positive correlation with Stroop scores; for all three correlations, increased volume was associated with a decline in cognitive performance. A moderate negative correlation was also found between WMV and ADAS-Cog 12 scores (i.e., increased volume was related to improved scores). Finally, increased HV was moderately related to a decline in Digit Span performance. All other associations were weak.

	PBVC	GMV	WMV	HV
1RM, kg	433	.151	070	.106
BMI, kg/m ²	.031	-1.48	.259	125
FPG, mmol/l	.344	.000	037	193
Stroop (C-B)	005	.093	.410	.007
TMT (B-A)	.278	.252	.320	.136
Digit Span (F-B)	128	.294	.156	.466
RAVLT (20 minute delay)	016	086	222	.030
ADAS-Cog 12	570	.161	414	.045

 Table 4.7: Spearman correlations between brain and physical/cognitive outcomes (trial completion > baseline).

1RM = one repetition maximum (predicted) – quadricep; BMI = body mass index; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; Stroop (C-B) = Stroop Test condition C minus condition B; TMT (B-A) = Trail Making Test part B minus part A; Digit Span (F-B) = Digit Span Test Forward minus Backward; RAVLT (20 minute delay) = Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test 20 minute delay condition; ADAS-Cog 12 = Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive 12; PBVC = percent brain volume change (total brain volume); GMV = grey matter volume; WMV = white matter volume; HV = hippocampal volume.

4.4 Discussion

This chapter examined the effects of a 26-week resistance training program on sMRI and fMRI outcomes in older adults at risk for diabetes. Results from our pilot study demonstrate that resistance training may preserve whole brain volume decline associated with aging. Specifically, we found an average TBV decline of 0.13% in the resistance training group and 0.37% in the balance and tone group. The latter rate of decline is fairly consistent with what has been shown to occur in age-related atrophy. For example, a longitudinal study in healthy older adults aged 60-80 found an average rate of whole brain atrophy of ~0.5% per year.³⁹ Similarly, another study found that nondemented older adults had a 0.45% annual decline in TBV, while rates in those with early stages of dementia were double this.⁴⁰

Contrary to our finding, a previous study in older adults found that twice-weekly resistance training led to more TBV atrophy (-0.43%) when compared to balance and tone exercise.⁴¹ However, the authors of this study noted that this unexpected decline may be due to the removal of beta-amyloid in the brain as a result of resistance training, and with it, cerebral fluid shifts that could account for whole brain volume reductions.⁴¹ Strengthening this argument, this study found improvements in cognitive function in response to resistance training despite showing a decrease in TBV.⁴¹ Beyond this study, however, there is a lack of RCTs examining the effects of resistance training on TBV in older adults. This is surprising given that older adults are prone to whole brain atrophy as a result of aging, and this is associated with cognitive deficits in important domains (e.g., memory, global cognition) as well as an increased risk for dementia.⁴² Given our positive findings, more trials assessing the effects of resistance exercise on brain volume in older adult populations who are at risk of brain and cognitive decline should be prioritized.

Although our results show that the resistance training group had less TBV atrophy than the control group, those in the resistance exercise group showed more GMV and WMV atrophy overtime. These differing findings may be the result of the analysis tools used within FSL to assess longitudinal changes. While SIENA is known to have a low error rate (0.2%),

SIENAX has been shown to have a higher error rate of 1% and may not be the most appropriate measure of longitudinal change (its main purpose is to be used in cross-sectional analyses).⁴² Therefore, future trials should consider using additional analysis tools beyond FSL to measure change in GMV and WMV, which would also allow for a direct comparison to FSL's output. Our study also showed less decline in HV following resistance exercise; however, whether these changes are statistically significant cannot be concluded. In comparison to our findings, a similarly designed study in older women with MCI found that six months of resistance exercise led to a HV decrease of 2.17% (compared to a decrease of 1.75% in their balance and tone control group).⁴³ However, these differences were not statistically significant.⁴³ Interestingly, the amount of HV atrophy seen in both groups in our study is comparable to other clinical populations of older adults, such as those with Alzheimer's disease. For example, multiple longitudinal studies have shown that Alzheimer's disease patients have an annual HV loss of 3.5-3.98%.^{44,45} Evidently, more cross-sectional studies are needed in older adults at risk for diabetes to better understand possible HV impairment in this population.

One surprising finding in our study was that resistance exercise did not improve associative memory performance. This contrasts a previous study which found that six months of twice-weekly resistance training, compared to balance and tone exercise, improved associative memory in older adults.³² However, this study, compared to ours, involved individuals with MCI.³² Given that deficits in associative memory have been shown to occur in mild dementia,⁴⁶ it might be the case that those with MCI experience greater deficits in associative memory compared to our target population (and thus may benefit more from exercise). Cross-sectional studies examining associative memory ability in our target population compared to both healthy older adults and other clinical populations could help shed light on potential group differences in brain health and cognition. Further, while we did not see an improvement in associative memory, we did see an improvement in item memory in response to resistance training, however these changes were very small. Future large-scale resistance exercise trials are needed to examine these possible effects more closely.

Interestingly, we did not see significant changes in activation in cortical areas that have been previously implicated in associative memory and have shown to positively respond to resistance training, such as the lingual and occipital-fusiform gyri.³² However, when comparing trial completion relative to baseline (associative > item), those in the resistance training group did have increased activation in the postcentral gyrus during encoding and in the precentral gyrus and middle temporal gyrus during recognition when compared to the balance and tone group. Previous research examining differences in brain function in young versus older adults have found greater activation in these areas in younger adults.⁴⁷ Similarly, one study showed that greater activation in the precentral gyrus during a memory task was evident in healthy controls versus Alzheimer's disease patients.⁴⁸ Based on these findings, it appears that patterns of increased activation in our resistance training group may reflect that of younger, healthy adults. On the contrary, individuals in the balance and tone group, when compared to the resistance training group, had increased activation overtime in the supramarginal gyrus and juxtapositional lobule cortex during encoding conditions. Activation in the supramarginal gyrus has previously been implicated in the use of rehearsal strategies during working memory encoding,⁴⁹ and thus those in the balance and tone group may have used this specific strategy to memorize images. Finally, impairments in working memory have been shown to be associated with less activation in the juxtapositional lobule cortex.⁵⁰ therefore it is possible that balance and tone exercise selectively improves memory function. This is also in line with findings from Chapter 3, in which balance and tone exercise was shown to improve working memory.

Given that those in the resistance training group did improve slightly in item memory during the fMRI task, but not in other measures of memory as described in Chapter 3, it appears that resistance training may improve certain types of short-term memory over others, namely visual-item memory but not auditory-verbal memory. These findings may be the result of participants using varying strategies for memorization depending on the type of memory task (e.g., for visual but not auditory memory tasks, participants may have created categorical representations or used visual traces). Coupled with the finding of increased activation patterns in the juxtapositional lobule cortex for the balance and tone group, future trials may benefit from collecting self-reported data on the type of memory strategy employed by participants to remember pictures.

A large limitation to the current study is the amount of participant data that was missing or excluded in analyses. When collecting fMRI task data, we experienced multiple issues running our memory task during the scan which required on-the-spot troubleshooting; this was especially difficult given that MRI scans are on a strict time schedule. As a result, several participants had partial memory task data excluded. Additionally, many participants experienced discomfort while in the scanner and requested to not complete the full memory task. Future trials should consider cutting down imaging time where possible, and developing improved methods of task troubleshooting prior to scanning. Further suggestions on how to improve these in the future are examined in Chapter 5. Moreover, it may be interesting to assess participant performance on the associative memory task while outside of the scanner to further assess behaviour outcomes and avoid any issues that occurred with use of the scanner.

In addition, similar to Chapter 3 limitations, we are unable to make definite conclusions on the effect of resistance training on brain structure and function in older adults at risk for diabetes due to this being an underpowered study. As also previously highlighted, future studies are needed to examine the underlying mechanisms (e.g., release of neurotrophic factors, increased levels of neurotransmitters) by which resistance training may improve brain structure and function, as well as the possible relationship between improvement in brain health and cognitive function in our target population. In our study, we briefly explored the relationship between change in brain health and cognitive/physical measures via correlational analyses, which showed that there may be unexpected relationships between outcomes (e.g., improved GMV was related to a decline in task-switching and working memory performance). However, there is a need to explore our correlational findings further as they were not statistically measured. Finally, future studies may also examine how quickly the positive effects of resistance training on brain structure and function may occur (e.g., < six months) as well as their potential lasting effects.

To sum, resistance exercise appears to slow down total age-related brain atrophy and possibly regional atrophy (HV) in older adults at risk for diabetes. Additionally, it was found that increased activation patterns as a result of resistance training may lead to functionally healthier brains in this clinical population. However, negative effects of resistance training were found for GMV and WMV which may be the result of analysis methods used, and resistance training did not improve associative memory performance as anticipated.

Summary

This chapter assessed structural and functional brain changes following 26 weeks of thriceweekly progressive resistance training in older adults at risk for diabetes. Those in the resistance training group showed less age-related TBV decline and HV atrophy compared to the balance and tone group, however they did experience greater GMV and WMV decline which may be the result of the analysis tool used for tissue type segmentation. When assessing functional activation patterns during the memory task (associative > item), resistance training led to increased activation during the encoding and retrieval phases that mimics patterns of younger adults and healthy older adults. These findings suggest that resistance training may lead to a functionally 'younger' and healthier brain. In comparison, during the encoding phase, those in the balance and tone group experienced an increase in activation in areas implicated in working memory and rehearsal memory, the latter of which may indicate use of specific memory strategies in this group. Moreover, these activation patterns may explain the improvements in short-term memory tasks seen in the balance and tone group in Chapter 3. No other significant between-group activation patterns were found in our fMRI analysis. Finally, despite activation patterns found in the resistance training group, they did not improve in associative memory performance.

While our pilot MRI findings are promising, powered RCTs are needed in this population to further assess these possible effects. In Chapter 5, the feasibility of conducting a large-scale study in older adults at risk for diabetes is examined.
References

- 1. Moheet A, Mangia S, Seaquist E. Impact of diabetes on cognitive function and brain structure. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2015;1353:60-71. doi:10.1111/nyas.12807
- 2. Chen Y, Liu Z, Zhang J, et al. Altered brain activation patterns under different working memory loads in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(12):3157-3163. doi:10.2337/dc14-1683
- Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M. Prediabetes: A high-risk state for developing diabetes. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9833):2279-2290. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60283-9
- 4. Writer APHS. Obesity? Diabetes? We've been set up. Harvard Gazette. Published March 7, 2012. Accessed September 16, 2021. https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2012/03/the-big-setup/
- 5. S Roriz-Filho J, Sá-Roriz TM, Rosset I, et al. (Pre)diabetes, brain aging, and cognition. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2009;1792(5):432-443. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.12.003
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, Wang R, Bäckman L, Xu W. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: A populationbased cohort study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019;15(1):25-33. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3060
- Cui D, Liu X, Liu M, et al. Subcortical gray matter structural alterations in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. *Neuroreport*. 2019;30(6):441-445. doi:10.1097/WNR.00000000001224
- Agtmaal MJM van, Houben AJHM, Wit V de, et al. Prediabetes Is Associated With Structural Brain Abnormalities: The Maastricht Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(12):2535-2543. doi:10.2337/dc18-1132
- 9. Raji CA, Ho AJ, Parikshak NN, et al. Brain structure and obesity. *Hum Brain Mapp*. 2010;31(3):353-364. doi:10.1002/hbm.20870
- Ward MA, Carlsson CM, Trivedi MA, Sager MA, Johnson SC. The effect of body mass index on global brain volume in middle-aged adults: a cross sectional study. *BMC Neurol.* 2005;5:23. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-5-23
- Ho AJ, Raji CA, Saharan P, et al. Hippocampal volume is related to body mass index in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroreport*. 2011;22(1):10-14. doi:10.1097/wnr.0b013e3283412868

- 12. van Bloemendaal L, Ijzerman RG, ten Kulve JS, et al. Alterations in white matter volume and integrity in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Metab Brain Dis.* 2016;31:621-629. doi:10.1007/s11011-016-9792-3
- 13. Cheke LG, Bonnici HM, Clayton NS, Simons JS. Obesity and insulin resistance are associated with reduced activity in core memory regions of the brain. *Neuropsychologia*. 2017;96:137-149. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.01.013
- Nowotny K, Jung T, Höhn A, Weber D, Grune T. Advanced glycation end products and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biomolecules*. 2015;5(1):194-222. doi:10.3390/biom5010194
- Ramasamy R, Vannucci SJ, Yan SSD, Herold K, Yan SF, Schmidt AM. Advanced glycation end products and RAGE: a common thread in aging, diabetes, neurodegeneration, and inflammation. *Glycobiology*. 2005;15(7):16R-28R. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwi053
- 16. Sajja RK, Prasad S, Cucullo L. Impact of altered glycaemia on blood-brain barrier endothelium: an in vitro study using the hCMEC/D3 cell line. *Fluids and Barriers of the CNS*. 2014;11(1):8. doi:10.1186/2045-8118-11-8
- Cipolla MJ, Godfrey JA. Effect of Hyperglycemia on Brain Penetrating Arterioles and Cerebral Blood Flow Before and After Ischemia/Reperfusion. *Transl Stroke Res*. 2010;1(2):127-134. doi:10.1007/s12975-010-0014-8
- Rhea EM, Salameh TS, Logsdon AF, Hanson AJ, Erickson MA, Banks WA. Blood-Brain Barriers in Obesity. AAPS J. 2017;19(4):921-930. doi:10.1208/s12248-017-0079-3
- 19. Ellulu MS, Patimah I, Khaza'ai H, Rahmat A, Abed Y. Obesity and inflammation: the linking mechanism and the complications. *Arch Med Sci.* 2017;13(4):851-863. doi:10.5114/aoms.2016.58928
- Korte N, Nortley R, Attwell D. Cerebral blood flow decrease as an early pathological mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*. 2020;140(6):793-810. doi:10.1007/s00401-020-02215-w
- 21. Amen DG, Wu J, George N, Newberg A. Patterns of Regional Cerebral Blood Flow as a Function of Obesity in Adults. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*. 2020;77(3):1331-1337. doi:10.3233/JAD-200655
- 22. http://fyra.io. The Effects of Obesity on Brain Structure and Size. Practical Neurology. Accessed September 13, 2021. https://practicalneurology.com/articles/2013-july-aug/the-effects-of-obesity-on-brain-structure-and-size

- 23. Voss MW, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T, Kramer AF. Exercise, brain, and cognition across the life span. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2011;111(5):1505-1513. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00210.2011
- 24. Herold F, Törpel A, Schega L, Müller NG. Functional and/or structural brain changes in response to resistance exercises and resistance training lead to cognitive improvements a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act*. 2019;16:10. doi:10.1186/s11556-019-0217-2
- Morra JH, Tu Z, Apostolova LG, et al. Automated mapping of hippocampal atrophy in 1-year repeat MRI data from 490 subjects with Alzheimer's disease, mild cognitive impairment, and elderly controls. *Neuroimage*. 2009;45(1 Suppl):S3-15. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.10.043
- Herholz K, Ehlen P, Kessler J, Strotmann T, Kalbe E, Markowitsch H-J. Learning facename associations and the effect of age and performance: a PET activation study. *Neuropsychologia*. 2001;39(6):643-650. doi:10.1016/S0028-3932(00)00144-5
- 27. Associative learning and the hippocampus. Accessed September 16, 2021. https://www.apa.org/science/about/psa/2005/02/suzuki
- Nagamatsu LS, Chan A, Davis JC, et al. Physical Activity Improves Verbal and Spatial Memory in Older Adults with Probable Mild Cognitive Impairment: A 6-Month Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Aging Research*. 2013;2013:e861893. doi:10.1155/2013/861893
- 29. Smith SM, Zhang Y, Jenkinson M, et al. Accurate, robust, and automated longitudinal and cross-sectional brain change analysis. *Neuroimage*. 2002;17(1):479-489. doi:10.1006/nimg.2002.1040
- 30. SIENA Brain Change Analysis. Accessed September 16, 2021. https://www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/datasets/techrep/tr04ss2/tr04ss2/node14.html
- 31. Patenaude B, Smith SM, Kennedy DN, Jenkinson M. A Bayesian model of shape and appearance for subcortical brain segmentation. *Neuroimage*. 2011;56(3):907-922. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.046
- Nagamatsu LS, Handy TC, Hsu CL, Voss M, Liu-Ambrose T. Resistance training promotes cognitive and functional brain plasticity in seniors with probable mild cognitive impairment: A 6-month randomized controlled trial. *Arch Intern Med*. 2012;172(8):666-668. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2012.379
- dprime analysis. Accessed September 16, 2021. http://phonetics.linguistics.ucla.edu/facilities/statistics/dprime.htm

- 34. Stanislaw H, Todorov N. Calculation of signal detection measures. *Behavior research methods, instruments, & computers : a journal of the Psychonomic Society, Inc.* 1999;31:137-149.
- Woolrich MW, Ripley BD, Brady M, Smith SM. Temporal autocorrelation in univariate linear modeling of FMRI data. *Neuroimage*. 2001;14(6):1370-1386. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0931
- Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady M, Smith S. Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage*. 2002;17(2):825-841. doi:10.1016/s1053-8119(02)91132-8
- Smith SM. Fast robust automated brain extraction. *Hum Brain Mapp*. 2002;17(3):143-155. doi:10.1002/hbm.10062
- Woolrich MW, Behrens TEJ, Beckmann CF, Jenkinson M, Smith SM. Multilevel linear modelling for FMRI group analysis using Bayesian inference. *Neuroimage*. 2004;21(4):1732-1747. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.023
- Scahill RI, Frost C, Jenkins R, Whitwell JL, Rossor MN, Fox NC. A Longitudinal Study of Brain Volume Changes in Normal Aging Using Serial Registered Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Archives of Neurology*. 2003;60(7):989-994. doi:10.1001/archneur.60.7.989
- Fotenos AF, Snyder AZ, Girton LE, Morris JC, Buckner RL. Normative estimates of cross-sectional and longitudinal brain volume decline in aging and AD. *Neurology*. 2005;64(6):1032-1039. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000154530.72969.11
- 41. Liu-Ambrose T, Nagamatsu LS, Graf P, Beattie BL, Ashe MC, Handy TC. Resistance training and executive functions: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *Arch Intern Med.* 2010;170(2):170-178. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2009.494
- 42. Sluimer JD, van der Flier WM, Karas GB, et al. Whole-brain atrophy rate and cognitive decline: longitudinal MR study of memory clinic patients. *Radiology*. 2008;248(2):590-598. doi:10.1148/radiol.2482070938
- 43. ten Brinke LF, Bolandzadeh N, Nagamatsu LS, et al. Aerobic exercise increases hippocampal volume in older women with probable mild cognitive impairment: a 6-month randomised controlled trial. *Br J Sports Med.* 2015;49(4):248-254. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-093184
- 44. Jack CR, Petersen RC, Xu Y, et al. Rates of hippocampal atrophy correlate with change in clinical status in aging and AD. *Neurology*. 2000;55(4):484-489. doi:10.1212/wnl.55.4.484

- 45. Jack CR, Petersen RC, Xu Y, et al. Rate of medial temporal lobe atrophy in typical aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1998;51(4):993-999. doi:10.1212/wnl.51.4.993
- 46. Bastin C, Bahri MA, Miévis F, et al. Associative memory and its cerebral correlates in Alzheimer's disease: evidence for distinct deficits of relational and conjunctive memory. *Neuropsychologia*. 2014;63:99-106. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.08.023
- 47. Daselaar SM, Veltman DJ, Rombouts SARB, Raaijmakers JGW, Jonker C. Deep processing activates the medial temporal lobe in young but not in old adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*. 2003;24(7):1005-1011. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00032-0
- Peters F, Collette F, Degueldre C, Sterpenich V, Majerus S, Salmon E. The neural correlates of verbal short-term memory in Alzheimer's disease: an fMRI study. *Brain*. 2009;132(Pt 7):1833-1846. doi:10.1093/brain/awp075
- 49. Salmon E, Van der Linden M, Collette F, et al. Regional brain activity during working memory tasks. *Brain*. 1996;119 (Pt 5):1617-1625. doi:10.1093/brain/119.5.1617
- Peters S, Van Duijvenvoorde ACK, Koolschijn PCMP, Crone EA. Longitudinal development of frontoparietal activity during feedback learning: Contributions of age, performance, working memory and cortical thickness. *Dev Cogn Neurosci*. 2016;19:211-222. doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2016.04.004

Chapter 5

5 Process outcomes: Feasibility of conducting a large-scale resistance training randomized controlled trial in older adults at risk for diabetes

The content in Chapter 3 has been published as:

Furlano JA, Nagamatsu LS. Feasibility of a 26-week exercise program to improve brain health in older adults at risk for type 2 diabetes: A pilot study. *Can J Diabetes*. 2020;45(6):546-552. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2020.11.001

Some of the published content has been edited for this thesis.

5.1 Introduction

Over three million Canadians are living with T2D,¹ and this number continues to steadily increase each year.² While T2D affects people of all ages, older adults are particularly at high risk for this disease. Studies show that older adults with T2D experience deficits in cognitive function (e.g., executive function, processing speed, memory) and brain health (structure and function).^{3,4} Importantly, both overweight/obese individuals and those with prediabetes (i.e., those at risk for T2D) already show some evidence of such decline.⁵⁻⁷ Therefore, intervention strategies aimed at improving cognitive and brain health in this at-risk group is imperative, as it may help prevent or delay future decline.

One lifestyle intervention strategy known to improve neurocognitive function is exercise. For example, six months of structured aerobic training has been shown to improve memory and executive function in older adults at risk for T2D.⁸ However, whether other types of exercise may benefit this specific population, such as resistance training, is unknown. In other populations of older adults, however, resistance exercise has been shown to improve both cognitive and brain health. Nagamatsu et al. (2012) showed that six months of resistance training leads to improved selective attention, conflict resolution, and associative memory, as well as increased hemodynamic activity in associative memory-related areas (e.g., right

lingual gyrus) in older adults with probable MCI.⁹ In another study, older adults with MCI exhibited improved global cognition and increased cortical thickness of grey matter in the posterior cingulate gyrus after 26 weeks of resistance training.¹⁰ In studies in healthy older adults, resistance training has led to reduced cortical white matter atrophy,¹¹ reduced WMLs,¹² and increased HV.¹³ These changes may be caused by the release of neurotrophic factors through resistance training, in particular IGF-1 associated with neuroplasticity (e.g., angiogenesis, axon growth, etc.) and neuronal survival.^{14,15} Additionally, changes in response to resistance training may be due to improved metabolic risk factors and reduced adiposity via muscle mass development,¹⁶ and with this increased insulin-mediated glucose uptake in muscles as well as improved insulin sensitivity.^{17,18}

To address whether resistance training may benefit cognitive function and brain health in older adults at risk for T2D, a powered RCT is needed. However, prior to conducting a large-scale trial, there is first a need to assess the feasibility of conducting a resistance exercise intervention in this population, to ultimately determine the accessibility of the program and the ability to recruit this specific population. Prior to our study, we expected that recruiting this population may be difficult, as these individuals may have low motivation to exercise, low energy levels, and/or physical limitations that prevent them from being physically active. In addition to this, prediabetes may go unnoticed and undiagnosed, as its symptoms (i.e., having elevated blood glucose levels beyond the normal range) may not be obvious.

To assess feasibility in our pilot study, we aimed to (1) examine recruitment, adherence, and retention rates of program participants, and (2) assess delivery of the intervention and barriers for study participation from the perspective of both program participants and research assistants (RAs; i.e., exercise instructors) through feedback questionnaires. We hypothesized that adherence and retention rates would be high, while recruitment rates would be low. Ultimately, this study aimed to provide unique insight into strategies for working with an at-risk population that has been relatively understudied to date, and to provide methodological recommendations to implement into future trials.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Study design

Details of our study design have been reported in depth in Chapter 3. Briefly, we conducted a single-blinded pilot RCT to examine the feasibility of a 26-week, thrice-weekly resistance training intervention in older adults at risk for T2D.

5.2.2 Participants

Participants were community-dwelling older adults aged 60-80 who were at risk for diabetes (had BMI \geq 25 and/or FPG 6.1 to 6.9 mmol/l). As previously mentioned, participants were recruited through posters in community centers, short presentations at community seminars, word-of-mouth and ads in the Villager Publications' community magazine (print) and Kijiji (online classified advertisement). Further details on inclusion/exclusion criteria can be found in Chapter 3.

5.2.3 Exercise intervention

Following baseline assessments, participants were randomized into a thrice-weekly resistance training or balance and tone (control) group for 26 weeks. Participants exercised in small groups of 2-4 and all classes were led by 1-2 instructors (RAs). Timing of classes differed per group depending on participant availability (ranged from morning to evening). Participants in the resistance training group completed exercises using programmable resistance machines and body weight/hand weights, while participants in the balance and tone group completed balance and stretching exercises (as a group). Warm-up and cool down time for the resistance training group consisted of walking on a treadmill or using an elliptical machine, while participants in the balance and tone group performed stretches together. Study methods have been described in further detail in Chapter 3.

5.2.4 Primary feasibility outcome measures

5.2.4.1 Recruitment

Time and number of individuals screened to enroll 10 program participants per group was recorded. Recruitment strategies (type, time of year) were also examined.

5.2.4.2 Adherence

Adherence to the exercise program, calculated by [(number of classes attended/78 classes maximum) x 100%)], was recorded for both exercise groups. Our target adherence rate was 70%+, based on other exercise trials with similar populations of older adults.^{19,20} If participants missed sessions, we followed-up with them via phone and offered make-up sessions when possible. To promote adherence, participants were entered into a monthly gift card draw based on number of classes attended, and were given a \$50 honorarium for each completed assessment timepoint (baseline, midpoint, trial completion). We also allowed partners/friends (i.e., "support exercisers") to participate in the exercise classes.

5.2.4.3 Retention

Number of program participants that completed the full exercise program by group was recorded. Our target retention rate was 70%+, based on other exercise trials with similar populations of older adults.^{19,20}

5.2.4.4 Safety

The number and description of adverse events by exercise group was recorded.

5.2.4.5 Fidelity

To ensure consistency across exercise classes and help identify any potential program issues, a questionnaire was completed by a non-study affiliate once per month in which s/he attended and evaluated a randomly selected resistance training and balance and tone session.

S/he assessed the structure of the class, including the delivery of the exercises by the RAs and instructor-participant engagement.

5.2.5 Secondary feasibility outcome measures

5.2.5.1 Feedback questionnaires

5.2.5.1.1 Program participants

We administered an anonymous Qualtrics questionnaire via e-mail to all exercising individuals at study completion. The 11-question mixed methods survey assessed perceived successful elements of the exercise intervention, potential areas for program improvement, and overall participant enjoyment and satisfaction with the study. The questionnaire featured 5-point Likert-scale questions (response options were "strongly disagree", "disagree", "neutral", "agree", and "strongly agree") and open-ended questions. The purpose of this questionnaire was to gather further information regarding the feasibility of our intervention and identify key strategies to working with this population for future full-scale RCTs.

5.2.5.1.2 Research assistants

We also administered a separate questionnaire to the RAs to complement the information from program participants on how to improve future exercise interventions. This anonymous Qualtrics questionnaire was sent via e-mail to all RAs when their volunteer roles ended. The 16-question mixed methods survey aimed to assess overall enjoyment as an RA, delivery of the program, and any potential challenges faced/areas for improvement from the RA perspective. Similar to the program participant questionnaire, the RA questionnaire included both 5-point Likert-scale and open-ended questions.

5.2.5.1.3 Questionnaire analysis

Likert-scale questions featured both positive and reverse-coded negative statements. For Likert-scale data, we calculated frequencies (percentages of responses), and collapsed positive ("strongly agree" and "agree") and negative ("strongly disagree" and "disagree") responses. For each open-ended question, responses were grouped into categories based on content similarities, and percentages of responses per category (out of total responses for that question) were reported. Individually-based responses that could not be placed into existing categories were not reported in the results unless we believed them to be especially important for future trials. To describe overall findings, we grouped our results into four themes for program participants (motivation to participate, perceived positive outcomes, constructive feedback, and future exercise participation) and three themes for RAs (perceived positive outcomes, constructive feedback and recommendations for future trials [Program participants], and constructive feedback and recommendations for future trials [RAs]).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics of participants are presented in **Table 3.2** of Chapter 3. The average age of participants was 68.7 years \pm 5.7 with 50% being female. All 24 participants were overweight or obese and four were also prediabetic.

5.3.2 Feasibility

Figure 3.2 of Chapter 3 provides the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram to show the flow of participants through our study. Ongoing recruitment of program participants occurred over 17 months (October 2017 to February 2019), where a total of 72 older adults were recruited (48 of which were ineligible or no longer interested in participating in the study). Reasons for ineligibility included: low FPG and BMI, Parkinson's disease, T2D, untreated depression, stroke, metal implants preventing MRI, psychotropics, hip injury preventing exercise, hormone replacement therapy, regular exerciser, and physician advisory not to exercise. Reasons for no longer being interested in participating after recruitment included MRIs, driving to the exercise lab in the Winter, and the time commitment required for the study.

Of the 72 people recruited, 58.3% were by newspaper ads, 15.3% by presentations at community seminars, 12.5% by Kijiji ads, 8.3% by word-of-mouth, and 5.6% by community posters (**Figure 5.1**). For participants who enrolled in the study and were randomized (n = 24), the majority were also recruited through newspaper ads (66.7%), with some being recruited through Kijiji ads (12.5%), at community seminars (12.5%), and by word-of-mouth (8.3%). Recruitment was highest during Fall and Winter months (i.e., October, January), but depended highly on when newspaper ads were used. A summary of recommended recruitment strategies, along with other items for optimization in future trials, is listed in **Table 5.1**. In addition to the 24 eligible participants in our study, we had 3 support exercisers also complete the exercise program.

We maintained a 95.8% retention rate of program participants in our study, with only one balance and tone participant dropping out at week 10 due to health issues. Program participant attendance averaged 84.4%, with a slightly higher attendance rate for the resistance training groups (85.5%) compared to the balance and tone groups (83.3%). Six participants completed between 2-13 make-up sessions due to missed classes. Missed classes occurred most in the Winter and Summer months, and were mainly due to illness, vacation time, and scheduling conflicts. The number of participants who completed MRI analysis, including those with missing data, have been described in Chapter 4.



Figure 5.1: Study recruitment methods.

Item	Description of Current Study	Optimization for Future Studies
Recruitment	 Low recruitment rate; some months unsuccessful Newspaper ads, Kijiji ads, presentations at community seminars successful Posters less successful 	 Use of newspaper ads, Kijiji ads, presentations at community seminars Recruit in early Fall & Winter Ads emphasize that the program is free and instructor-led, with the option to bring a friend
Participant Blinding	- Program participants not blinded to group allocation	 Physician added to the research team if possible Program participants blinded to group allocation
Exercise Program	 BAT exercises reportedly too repetitive Possibility that BAT groups socialized more than RT groups (due to group warm-ups/cooldowns) Exercise sessions held mostly in the evening Varying class size 	 Diversity of exercises for BAT Warm-up/cool-down protocol the same between groups Variety of class times Classes held during early day when possible
Study Protocol	 MRIs reported as unenjoyable part of the study No formal RA training manual or handouts More RA practice sessions requested 	 Better inform program participants of MRI procedures Cut down MRI scanning time when possible RA training manual (covering training steps, work expectations, troubleshooting procedures, etc.) developed Hold more RA practice sessions
Program Participant Performance Feedback	 More program participant check-ins requested More performance feedback of program participants requested 	- Program participants receive bi-weekly one-on-one check-ins to review progress

Table 5.1: Items for optimization in future RCTs.

MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; RA = research assistant; RCT = randomized, controlled trial; BAT = balance and tone group.

5.3.3 Safety

We observed no significant adverse events during the course of this study.

5.3.4 Fidelity

Assessors reported high consistency between exercise classes (i.e., RAs closely followed protocols, performed adequate equipment demonstrations, engaged with participants, and successfully answered participant questions). No issues were reported.

5.3.5 Feedback questionnaires

5.3.5.1 Program participant questionnaire

Twenty individuals, out of 27 total (24 participants plus 3 support exercisers), completed this questionnaire following completion of the study.

5.3.5.1.1 Motivation to participate

5.3.5.1.1.1 Open-ended responses

The largest motivating factor to participate in this study was identified as becoming more active and improving physical fitness (48.1% of responses for this question). Other reasons for participating included wanting to contribute to research (18.5% of responses), having an interest in the research topic (14.8%), and the desire to improve their memory (7.4%).

5.3.5.1.2 Perceived positive outcomes

5.3.5.1.2.1 Likert-scale responses

Based on Likert-scale responses, 90% of participants reportedly enjoyed their participation in the study. In addition, the majority of participants felt that they received sufficient information about the study prior to participation (70%) and had adequate support from research personnel throughout the study (90%).

5.3.5.1.2.2 Open-ended responses

Participants reported that their favorite component of the study was socializing with instructors and other participants (65.7% of responses) and improving their physical health (20%). Similarly, in a separate question, the 2 most commonly reported benefits of study participation were increased strength/mobility and fitness (53.3% of responses) and the ability to socialize with others (16.7%). Other less reported benefits included receiving instructor-led exercise sessions at no cost (6.7% of responses) and being shown correct exercise techniques (3.3%).

5.3.5.1.3 Constructive feedback

5.3.5.1.3.1 Open-ended responses

The least favorite component of the study for participants was identified as timing of sessions (27.3% of responses) and completing MRIs (22.7%). Other responses included the drive to campus (13.6% of responses) and the repetitiveness and simplicity of balance and tone exercises (9.1%). Similarly, in a separate question, the most difficult component of the study was said to be timing of sessions (30% of responses) and MRIs (20%). One individual also said staying motivated to exercise (5% of responses) was particularly challenging.

5.3.5.1.4 Future exercise participation

5.3.5.1.4.1 Likert-scale responses

Eighty-five percent of participants reported feeling more motivated to remain physically active after participating in this study. Additionally, 70% of participants said that they would participate in this program or a similar program in the future and 90% said they would tell a friend to participate.

5.3.5.2 Research assistant questionnaire

RA feedback was provided by 28 RAs (73.7% of total RAs involved in this study).

5.3.5.2.1 Perceived positive outcomes

5.3.5.2.1.1 Likert-scale responses

Assessing overall RA experience, it was reported that 100% of RAs enjoyed their involvement. In addition, 100% of RAs said that they enjoyed running exercise sessions, 81.2% felt that the study was well-organized, and 92.6% said they would be an RA in this study or a similar study again. For training and research support, 85.2% of RAs felt they had received sufficient training for the position, 85.2% felt confident in their ability to address program participant questions, and 77.8% said they received adequate support from research personnel throughout the study.

5.3.5.2.1.2 Open-ended responses

RAs reported that their favourite component of being involved in the study was working with participants (58.1% of responses). Other responses included gaining first-hand experience in research (14% of responses), helping older adults (9.3%), and administering cognitive assessments (4.7%) as this was another opportunity for one-on-one time with participants.

5.3.5.3 Constructive feedback and recommendations for future trials (program participants)

5.3.5.3.1 Open-ended responses

The majority of RAs had no recommendations for improving the participant experience in future trials (41.2% of responses), however some suggested developing faster ways for participant sign-in at exercise classes (11.8%), having more diverse exercises (11.8%), providing clearer instructions for participants at the beginning of the study (5.9%), and offering frequent participant feedback throughout the study (5.9%).

5.3.5.4 Constructive feedback and recommendations for future trials (research assistants)

5.3.5.4.1 Open-ended responses

RAs reported that the most challenging aspects of the study were having to modify balance and tone exercises due to lack of available equipment or altered group size (10.3% of responses), keeping participants in the balance and tone group motivated (6.9%), troubleshooting laboratory equipment (6.9%), ensuring that all participants followed the protocol (3.4%), and handling participant complaints (3.4%).

While the majority of RAs said that there were no ways in which research personnel could have improved their experience (40% of responses), a suggestion was having more balance and tone exercises (5%) as participants tended to complete these sessions quickly. To improve RA training, suggestions included having more RA practice sessions with one another (28.6% of responses) and providing handouts that highlight example exercises and RA expectations (21.4%), among others.

5.4 Discussion

To our knowledge, this pilot study is the first to assess the feasibility of conducting an RCT of resistance training to improve cognitive and brain function in older adults at risk for T2D. Results show that recruitment of this population is difficult as expected, however once enrolled in our study, participants thoroughly enjoyed it and remained committed to the exercise program as evident by high retention and adherence rates. Based on these findings, a large-scale study was deemed feasible, and we identified key research strategies that may improve future trials with this population.

Despite the challenge of recruiting participants, we were able to identify ways to optimize recruitment rates for future studies. For example, it is recommended to recruit this population in the Fall and Winter months, as this appears to be when older adults may have more time to commit to a 26-week-long research study. Additionally, recruiting through newspaper ads,

Kijiji ads, and community seminars (where research personnel can engage potential participants directly) was shown to be effective. For recruitment ads, emphasizing the benefits of study participation, such as receiving free instructor-led exercise sessions and socializing with others, is highly recommended. To recruit prediabetic individuals in the future, it may be helpful to collaborate directly with family physicians who can help identify people who are at risk for T2D, as well as diabetes clinics.

In addition to recruitment methods, we also identified general strategies to working with this population. For example, it is recommended to have regular check-ins with participants and to offer frequent feedback on performance. Additionally, creating opportunities for more socialization throughout the program may be helpful, and may lead to increased overall enjoyment of and adherence to the exercise program, as shown in previous studies.^{21,22} Some studies have even shown that offering social activities (e.g., coffee sessions) after each exercise session helps improve program adherence in older adults,²³ thus this could be something to implement in the future. Other ways to increase program adherence include allowing participants to bring a partner/friend to exercise alongside, and offering incentives such as gift card draws based on number of classes attended.

Overall, both program participants and RAs expressed a high level of study enjoyment and satisfaction. For example, a program participant said "It is wonderful for me to be able to engage with positive, encouraging, energetic, knowledgeable, and fun volunteers. They gave me more than exercise but confidence that the future might be better than I can imagine". While the majority of feedback from program participants was indeed positive, some general recommendations for future studies included offering more diverse exercises and developing ways to further keep participants, particularly those in the balance and tone groups, motivated. Lastly, since MRIs were reported as a least enjoyable component of the study, future trials should aim to better inform participants of MRI procedures (e.g., expectations, scan length, the possibility of discomfort due to noise and tight space) and should consider ways to cut down scanning time when possible.

We acknowledge that there are several limitations to this study. First, the program participant questionnaire did not collect information on group allocation, and as a result we were unable to compare between-group differences. Similarly, since the questionnaire was completed by all program participants (participants and non-participant partners) we were unable to separate out responses from actual participants in the study. Additionally, our questionnaire also included several open-ended questions which may have led to reduced completion rates.

Other study limitations included program participants not being blinded to group allocation (due to needing individual physician approval to exercise), balance and tone groups possibly socializing more than resistance training groups due to having group (versus individual) warm-up and cool-down exercises, and limited exercise lab availability which led to having mostly late-afternoon and evening classes. To remedy these in the future, it is recommended to have a physician on staff if possible so that group allocation can be blinded as described in Chapter 3 (or to directly contact each participant's physician to privately inform them of group allocation), to have similar warm-up and cool-down exercises for both balance and tone and resistance training groups to increase consistency across groups, and to offer more choices for timing of exercise sessions when possible.

Based on our findings, a large-scale study assessing the effects of resistance training on cognitive and brain health in older adults at risk for T2D is feasible, provided that recruitment challenges are addressed in the future. In order to properly analyze between-groups differences, future studies will require larger sample sizes to determine whether resistance training can improve cognitive and brain health over time for those at risk for T2D. As there are several challenges to working with this at-risk population, we hope that our study will inform future trials of best practices.

Summary

This chapter assessed the feasibility of a large-scale RCT examining the effects of resistance exercise on cognitive and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes. Based on previous feasibility studies in similar populations, a large-scale study was deemed feasible from our results. Program participants reported high program enjoyment and satisfaction, and offered minor recommendations for future studies (e.g., more diverse exercises particularly for the balance and tone group, regular check-ins with participants, cutting down MRI scanning time when possible). Moreover, program adherence, retention, and fidelity were high in this pilot study, though recruitment was challenging. In our published manuscript, we identified key strategies to improve recruitment in future trials including recruiting through community seminars where research personnel can directly engage with potential participants, and highlighting the social benefits of participation as this appears to be an attractive element to the program. Strategies for study improvement that were identified in this feasibility trial will be implemented into future large-scale trials.

References

- 1. Diabetes in Canada. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://www.diabetes.ca/diabetescanadawebsite/media/aboutdiabetes/diabetes%20charter/2019-backgrounder-canada.pdf
- 2. Diabetes. Accessed August 15, 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
- Monette MCE, Baird A, Jackson DL. A Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Functioning in Nondemented Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*. 2014;38(6):401-408. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.01.014
- 4. Zilliox LA, Chadrasekaran K, Kwan JY, Russell JW. Diabetes and Cognitive Impairment. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2016;16(9):87. doi:10.1007/s11892-016-0775-x
- 5. Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Laukka EJ, et al. Early Cognitive Deficits in Type 2 Diabetes: A Population-Based Study. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 53(3):1069-1078. doi:10.3233/JAD-160266
- 6. Benito-León J, Mitchell AJ, Hernández-Gallego J, Bermejo-Pareja F. Obesity and impaired cognitive functioning in the elderly: a population-based cross-sectional study (NEDICES). *Eur J Neurol*. 2013;20(6):899-906, e76-77. doi:10.1111/ene.12083
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, Wang R, Bäckman L, Xu W. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: A populationbased cohort study. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2019;15(1):25-33. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3060
- 8. Baker LD, Frank LL, Foster-Schubert K, et al. Aerobic exercise improves cognition for older adults with glucose intolerance, a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2010;22(2):569-579. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-100768
- 9. Nagamatsu LS, Handy TC, Hsu CL, Voss M, Liu-Ambrose T. Resistance training promotes cognitive and functional brain plasticity in seniors with probable mild cognitive impairment: A 6-month randomized controlled trial. *Arch Intern Med*. 2012;172(8):666-668. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2012.379
- Suo C, Singh MF, Gates N, et al. Therapeutically relevant structural and functional mechanisms triggered by physical and cognitive exercise. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2016;21(11):1633-1642. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.19
- 11. Best JR, Chiu BK, Liang Hsu C, Nagamatsu LS, Liu-Ambrose T. Long-Term Effects of Resistance Exercise Training on Cognition and Brain Volume in Older Women: Results

from a Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*. 2015;21(10):745-756. doi:10.1017/S1355617715000673

- Bolandzadeh N, Tam R, Handy TC, et al. Resistance Training and White Matter Lesion Progression in Older Women: Exploratory Analysis of a 12-Month Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2015;63(10):2052-2060. doi:10.1111/jgs.13644
- Kim YS, Shin SK, Hong SB, Kim HJ. The effects of strength exercise on hippocampus volume and functional fitness of older women. *Experimental Gerontology*. 2017;97:22-28. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2017.07.007
- Dyer AH, Vahdatpour C, Sanfeliu A, Tropea D. The role of Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1 (IGF-1) in brain development, maturation and neuroplasticity. *Neuroscience*. 2016;325:89-99. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.03.056
- 15. Herold F, Törpel A, Schega L, Müller NG. Functional and/or structural brain changes in response to resistance exercises and resistance training lead to cognitive improvements a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act*. 2019;16:10. doi:10.1186/s11556-019-0217-2
- 16. Strasser B, Schobersberger W. Evidence for Resistance Training as a Treatment Therapy in Obesity. *J Obes*. 2011;2011:482564. doi:10.1155/2011/482564
- Hunter GR, Kekes-Szabo T, Snyder SW, Nicholson C, Nyikos I, Berland L. Fat distribution, physical activity, and cardiovascular risk factors. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1997;29(3):362-369. doi:10.1097/00005768-199703000-00011
- Inoue DS, De Mello MT, Foschini D, et al. Linear and undulating periodized strength plus aerobic training promote similar benefits and lead to improvement of insulin resistance on obese adolescents. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*. 2015;29(2):258-264. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.11.002
- 19. Callisaya ML, Daly RM, Sharman JE, et al. Feasibility of a multi-modal exercise program on cognition in older adults with Type 2 diabetes a pilot randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr*. 2017;17:237. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0635-9
- 20. Falck RS, Davis JC, Milosevic E, Liu-Ambrose T. How much will older adults exercise? A feasibility study of aerobic training combined with resistance training. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*. 2017;3(1):2. doi:10.1186/s40814-016-0116-5
- 21. Etnier JL, Karper WB, Park S-Y, Shih C-H, Piepmeier AT, Wideman L. Motivating Mature Adults to be Physically Active. *J Aging Phys Act*. 2017;25(2):325-331. doi:10.1123/japa.2015-0294

- 22. Picorelli AMA, Pereira LSM, Pereira DS, Felício D, Sherrington C. Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review. *J Physiother*. 2014;60(3):151-156. doi:10.1016/j.jphys.2014.06.012
- 23. Beauchamp MR, Ruissen GR, Dunlop WL, et al. Group-based physical activity for older adults (GOAL) randomized controlled trial: Exercise adherence outcomes. *Health Psychol.* 2018;37(5):451-461. doi:10.1037/hea0000615

Chapter 6

6 Thesis discussion

6.1 Thesis summary

Broadly, this thesis aimed to assess the feasibility and preliminary effects of a resistance training program to improve neurocognition in sedentary older adults at risk for diabetes (i.e., those with prediabetes and/or obesity). This population was targeted as these individuals are known to experience some cognitive and brain deficits and are at risk of further decline related to T2D. An additional aim of this thesis was to identify the type of brain deficits that are associated with prediabetes based on the literature. Specifically, a systematic review (Chapter 2) reported on current evidence of the structural and cerebrovascular brain impairments experienced in prediabetes, as this appears to be less understood in this disease compared to obesity. Subsequent chapters reported on the cognitive findings (Chapter 3) and brain health outcomes (Chapter 4) from a 26-week resistance training pilot RCT in older adults at risk for diabetes, as well as the feasibility of conducting a large-scale powered trial (Chapter 5).

6.2 Findings and interpretations

6.2.1 Systematic review

The systematic review revealed that prediabetics may experience dysfunction in structural connectivity compared to healthy age-matched individuals; such deficits included a lower number of white matter connections and weaker localized connectivity. This is in line with other DTI research showing that those with T2D exhibit white matter impairments (e.g., lower regional FA values)¹ and is evidence that prediabetics already experience deficits exhibited in T2D. Furthermore, the finding that prediabetics experience structural connectivity deficits, coupled with research showing that resistance exercise benefits the brain structurally (e.g., results in reduced cortical WMLs),² highlights the need for studies to

examine how resistance training may benefit DTI outcomes in older adults at risk for diabetes.

An additional finding of the systematic review was that volumetric and cerebrovascular outcomes in prediabetes were inconsistent across studies. As discussed in Chapter 2, this may be the result of varying T2D diagnostic measures used in these studies. Given that the WHO and ADA –two well-known health organizations– have conflicting definitions of prediabetes to some degree, more research should focus on examining how they differ in terms of patient health outcomes as well as developing a more standardized diagnostic criteria for prediabetes. Clinically, differences in diagnostic criteria may result in incorrect diagnoses, which may lead to some people being unnecessarily treated while others do not receive treatment that is needed. In addition, despite varying study results, one consistent finding in studies included in the systematic review was that increased blood glucose levels were correlated with greater neural decline, independent of diabetes status. Importantly, this was even evident in normoglycemia, suggesting that strategies to improve blood glucose across all populations should be a health priority.

6.2.2 Pilot randomized controlled trial

Findings from the pilot RCT of resistance training in older adults at risk for diabetes showed that resistance exercise may improve selective neurocognitive functions. Specifically, it was found that 26 weeks of progressive resistance exercise may improve task-switching, selective attention and conflict resolution, and item memory. This is an important finding as executive function, attention, and memory have all been shown to be impaired in T2D,³ and prediabetics and/or those who are overweight or obese are at high risk of such impairment. Moreover, these functions are known to decline with age and are associated with the ability to perform everyday tasks in old age,^{4,5} thus preserving them is important to promoting independent living in later years. Despite these positive findings, however, more studies are needed to determine the clinical relevance of these potential cognitive improvements, as this is an area of research that is currently lacking.

Our pilot study also found that balance and tone training may result in improvements in some cognitive domains (e.g., working memory) in older adults at risk for diabetes, and thus future research is needed to explore this possible relationship. As discussed in Chapter 5, one explanatory theory is that socialization in the balance and tone group may have played an important, and initially underestimated, role in promoting and improving cognitive abilities. One study assessing socialization levels in individuals with age-related cognitive impairments found that social engagement benefits cognition independent of other nonpharmacological treatments including physical activity and intellectual stimulation.⁴ The benefit of socialization was further demonstrated in our study via participant feedback questionnaires, in which participants expressed that interacting with instructors and fellow participants was the most enjoyable aspect of the exercise program. Based on these combined findings, future exercise studies and other lifestyle intervention trials should include a large social engagement component when possible. Research could also explore the differences between exercise and exercise plus socialization in older adults at risk for diabetes, in order to gain a deeper understanding of the possible effects of socialization on the brain in this population.

In addition to cognitive changes, resistance exercise led to less total brain shrinkage that occurs with age, and was shown to have a potentially positive effect on HV such that it may slow down atrophy related to the disease of this clinical population. However, more studies using inferential statistical measures are needed to confirm these results, as, for example, previous research has found similar HV results that were not statistically significant.⁶ Resistance exercise in our trial also resulted in functional activation patterns during an associative memory task that are seen in healthy populations and may indicate healthier brains. While these results are promising and mimic previous studies described in Chapter 4, we are unable to make conclusions about the underlying mechanisms of these findings. For example, it is currently unknown whether resistance training improves beta-amyloid or IGF-1 levels in older adults at risk for diabetes, both of which are known to occur as a result of resistance exercise in other populations including healthy older adults.^{7,8} Evidently, more

human and animal trials measuring neurotrophic factors and molecular compounds in older adults at risk for diabetes are warranted. Based on our pilot cognitive findings, future trials are also needed to examine regional brain volumes in areas that support functions such as task-switching, selective attention and conflict resolution, including the prefrontal cortex. Conducting an executive function task during fMRI may also shed light on functional activation patterns in related areas.

Overall, our pilot findings demonstrate that resistance exercise may benefit a clinical population of older adults. Importantly, there are several benefits of resistance training that other types of exercise, mainly aerobic, may not provide older adults. Firstly, as demonstrated in our study, resistance training improves muscle abilities, and this is known to promote neurocognition.⁹ A review showed that changes in muscle function (strength) and structure (size) were positively linked to changes in brain structure.¹⁰ It has also been found that increased quadricep strength is linked to better performance in global cognition and executive function in older adults.^{11,12} Secondly, resistance training is accessible in that most older adults can perform some form of it. For example, older adults who have lower limb dysfunction can still participate in upper body strengthening exercises, but may be limited in aerobic exercise options. Thirdly, resistance exercise is often cognitively challenging during the learning and performing of exercises, which is often not the case for aerobic exercises (e.g., running, swimming). Lastly, resistance exercise has been shown to reduce sarcopenia, which affects up to 40% of older adults worldwide,¹³ in ways that aerobic exercise does not (e.g., through improved muscle function).¹⁴

Nevertheless, countless studies have found that combining resistance and aerobic exercise to promote neurocognition is more effective than the use of only one exercise modality. For example, an RCT in older adults found that a combined training program (high intensity aerobic and resistance exercise) led to greater benefits in immediate and delayed memory when compared to aerobic exercise only.¹⁵ This may be due to aerobic and resistance exercise improving cognition and brain health via distinct underlying mechanisms. Studies have shown that resistance training may improve neural communication, reduce associative

inflammatory markers, increase IGF-1 levels, and increase peripheral BDNF production.¹⁶ Aerobic exercise, however, is known to increase hippocampal levels of BDNF and TrkB (Tropomyosin receptor kinase B; a receptor of BDNF) and glutamatergic proteins (glutamate is an important neurotransmitter related to brain function).¹⁶ As such, future trials should assess the effects of a combined aerobic and resistance exercise program on the brain in older adults at risk for diabetes, and further examine these differing mechanisms.

6.2.2.1 Feasibility

While our pilot study provided important information on the preliminary effects of resistance exercise on the brain, large-scale RCTs are needed to further explore these findings. As such, we assessed the feasibility of conducting a large-scale trial in older adults at risk for diabetes. Our findings showed high attendance and program retention rates, which were even higher than a previous exercise trial in older adults with T2D (that our study was largely modelled after).¹⁷ In our trial, we allowed participants to exercise with a friend or family member since previous studies have shown that a lack of social support is a key barrier to physical activity,¹⁸ and this may have led to high participation. Regardless, high adherence and retention rates, as well as positive feedback received from study participants, is evidence of the success of the exercise program in our target population. However, recruitment in older adults at risk for diabetes, particularly those who are prediabetic, was challenging as expected. Given that many people with prediabetes may be unaware of their diagnosis, working with medical clinics and physicians in future trials may optimize study recruitment.

6.2.2.2 Applications and implications

Based on our pilot RCT findings, prediabetes and obesity may represent a window of opportunity to improve neurocognition through a lifestyle intervention, and prevent further decline associated with T2D. Compared to pharmacological interventions which are often costly and can have negative side effects, exercise is an excellent cost-efficient and widely available tool to improve neurocognitive and physical health related to diabetes. For example, a systematic review and meta-analysis found that exercise was superior to

pharmacological interventions in reducing visceral adiposity.¹⁹ Exercise has also been found to be better at regulating blood lipid levels and lowering blood pressure compared to drug interventions.²⁰ Further, these changes in physical function are known to be positively related to neurocognitive abilities.^{21,22} Taken together, these findings demonstrate the effectiveness of exercise as a disease prevention and treatment tool, particularly in T2D and related complications. Our study findings add to this literature by demonstrating that resistance exercise, as an alternative to aerobic exercise in older adults, may improve the brain in a population of older adults who are experiencing decline and are at risk for further decline. Ultimately, our findings have the potential to help prevent diabetes-related complications and dementia, and in turn help reduce the global burden that these diseases have.

6.2.2.3 Limitations

It is important to note that our pilot study has several overarching limitations. Firstly, the use of a single measurement of FPG to diagnose prediabetes is a large study limitation, and may not be an effective measure of change in glucose overtime (i.e., may have resulted in seeing no changes in glucose levels following resistance exercise in our trial). Although convenient, it is instead recommended to use two or more measurements to increase reliability and/or to collect HbA1c which has been shown to be a better indicator of chronic hyperglycemia.²³ However, this would require additional laboratory visits and/or a nurse on staff to draw blood. Future large-scale studies should incorporate these changes into the study design when possible. Future trials could also assess whether findings differ if the ADA's classification of prediabetes, which has a lower FPG threshold than that of the WHO, is instead used. In addition, the use of BMI as a measure of obesity has its own limitations. Despite being a widely used tool, BMI does not take into consideration factors such as muscle mass and bone density which may affect calculations, and therefore may not be reflective of true body fat levels. Other measures of body fat that may be more reliable include bioelectrical impedance and dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry that measures body composition, although these methods are more costly and resource-demanding. Future trials may consider using more than one measure of obesity.

Another study limitation previously described is that participants were not blinded to group allocation. Allocation concealment helps reduce performance and ascertainment bias, as knowledge of group assignment can affect trial behaviour and responses to outcomes.²⁴ In the future, having a physician on staff if possible to provide medical clearance would allow for double blinding. Additionally, more physical health measures, such as insulin and lipid levels, may also help shed light on the effects of resistance exercise on functions that are known to decline in diabetes. Future trials could also assess self-reported barriers to exercise in older adults at risk for diabetes, as this may help inform recruitment strategies as well as overall strategies to promote participation in exercise. In line with this, future trials should consider strategies to promote exercise use after completion of study programs, as it has been shown that levels of physical activity often drop following the cessation of an exercise trial in older adult groups.²⁵ Lastly, as discussed in Chapter 3, our pilot results need to be interpreted with caution as our study was underpowered and did not include the use of inferential statistics.

6.3 Future directions

In addition to the future studies already proposed throughout this Chapter, research is needed on the optimal levels, frequency, and type of resistance exercise to achieve positive health outcomes, as these would help inform exercise guidelines and prescription use. Currently, the WHO guidelines for resistance exercise are very broad, and merely suggest that adults and older adults participate in muscle strengthening exercises two days per week.²⁶ Unlike aerobic exercise that has very specific guidelines, there are no further details as to what resistance training should entail. This may be especially problematic for adults who are nonexercisers or are unfamiliar with resistance exercise, as they may struggle to incorporate this type of exercise into their health regimes. Moreover, more research on resistance training is needed to examine the best dose-response relationship. In our study, we were unable to decipher the differences between the effects of the specific individual exercises used and the major muscle groups that were targeted. Further, the majority of exercises were completed with the use of exercise equipment that may not be accessible to all older adults. Thus, future trials should examine the effects of different exercises with emphasis on ones that can be completed with limited or no equipment.

Based on the findings of our pilot trial, next steps in this research will be to conduct a largescale trial in older adults at risk for diabetes. In line with our pilot sample size calculation, the recommended size for a main trial with a medium effect size of .80 is at least 34 participants per exercise group.²⁷ Strategies discussed in Chapter 5 will be implemented to improve recruitment methods as well as exercise study protocols in this larger trial. These include, but are not limited to, ensuring more consistency in program delivery across groups where possible to limit confounding variables, introducing the use of an additional blood glucose measure (HbA1c) and potentially an additional obesity measure, collaborating with medical health professionals where possible to improve recruitment, incorporating a measure of disease burden such as QALY, and possibly introducing an executive function task to be completed during fMRI. In addition, we will consider adding an aerobic exercise training group to this trial to directly compare the effects of resistance versus aerobic exercise in older adults at risk for diabetes. Finally, we are currently working to examine the effects of resistance exercise on DTI measures in older adults at risk for diabetes.

6.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, this thesis demonstrates that 26 weeks of progressive resistance training may lead to some improvements in cognition and brain health in older adults at risk for diabetes. Important recommendations for future large-scale trials were provided and will be used to further assess the effects seen in our pilot study. This thesis also showed that more studies with standardized diagnostic criteria are needed to assess brain deficits in prediabetes. In addition to already showing some neurocognitive impairment, individuals at risk for diabetes are at high risk for both diabetes-related impairments and dementia, and thus more cross-sectional and longitudinal research should be conducted in this understudied population. Finally, given the usefulness of exercise as a brain and cognitive preservation tool, studies

should focus on incorporating exercise into daily life in a way that is meaningful for older adults at risk for diabetes as well as other clinical populations of older adults.

References

- 1. Zhuo Y, Fang F, Lu L, et al. White matter impairment in type 2 diabetes mellitus with and without microvascular disease. *Neuroimage Clin.* 2019;24:101945. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101945
- 2. Herold F, Törpel A, Schega L, Müller NG. Functional and/or structural brain changes in response to resistance exercises and resistance training lead to cognitive improvements a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act.* 2019;16:10. doi:10.1186/s11556-019-0217-2
- Monette MCE, Baird A, Jackson DL. A Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Functioning in Nondemented Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*. 2014;38(6):401-408. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.01.014
- 4. Murman DL. The Impact of Age on Cognition. *Semin Hear*. 2015;36(3):111-121. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1555115
- 5. Mograbi DC, Faria C de A, Fichman HC, Paradela EMP, Lourenço RA. Relationship between activities of daily living and cognitive ability in a sample of older adults with heterogeneous educational level. *Ann Indian Acad Neurol*. 2014;17(1):71-76. doi:10.4103/0972-2327.128558
- 6. ten Brinke LF, Bolandzadeh N, Nagamatsu LS, et al. Aerobic exercise increases hippocampal volume in older women with probable mild cognitive impairment: a 6-month randomised controlled trial. *Br J Sports Med.* 2015;49(4):248-254. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-093184
- Hashiguchi D, Campos HC, Wuo-Silva R, et al. Resistance Exercise Decreases Amyloid Load and Modulates Inflammatory Responses in the APP/PS1 Mouse Model for Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*. 2020;73(4):1525-1539. doi:10.3233/JAD-190729
- 8. Tsai C-L, Wang C-H, Pan C-Y, Chen F-C. The effects of long-term resistance exercise on the relationship between neurocognitive performance and GH, IGF-1, and homocysteine levels in the elderly. *Front Behav Neurosci*. 2015;9:23. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00023
- 9. Sui SX, Williams LJ, Holloway-Kew KL, Hyde NK, Pasco JA. Skeletal Muscle Health and Cognitive Function: A Narrative Review. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;22(1):E255. doi:10.3390/ijms22010255
- 10. Kilgour AHM, Todd OM, Starr JM. A systematic review of the evidence that brain structure is related to muscle structure and their relationship to brain and muscle

function in humans over the lifecourse. BMC Geriatr. 2014;14:85. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-85

- Nakamoto H, Yoshitake Y, Takai Y, et al. Knee extensor strength is associated with Mini-Mental State Examination scores in elderly men. *Eur J Appl Physiol*. 2012;112(5):1945-1953. doi:10.1007/s00421-011-2176-9
- Chen W-L, Peng T-C, Sun Y-S, et al. Examining the Association Between Quadriceps Strength and Cognitive Performance in the Elderly. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2015;94(32):e1335. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000001335
- 13. Yoo S-Z, No M-H, Heo J-W, et al. Role of exercise in age-related sarcopenia. *J Exerc Rehabil*. 2018;14(4):551-558. doi:10.12965/jer.1836268.134
- 14. Mayhew AJ, Amog K, Phillips S, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in communitydwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Age and Ageing*. 2019;48(1):48-56. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy106
- 15. Aquino G, Iuliano E, di Cagno A, et al. Effects of combined training vs aerobic training on cognitive functions in COPD: a randomized controlled trial. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* 2016;11:711-718. doi:10.2147/COPD.S96663
- Loprinzi PD, Moore D, Loenneke JP. Does Aerobic and Resistance Exercise Influence Episodic Memory through Unique Mechanisms? *Brain Sci.* 2020;10(12):913. doi:10.3390/brainsci10120913
- 17. Callisaya ML, Daly RM, Sharman JE, et al. Feasibility of a multi-modal exercise program on cognition in older adults with Type 2 diabetes a pilot randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr*. 2017;17:237. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0635-9
- Ayotte BJ, Margrett JA, Hicks-Patrick J. Physical Activity in Middle-aged and Youngold Adults: The Roles of Self-efficacy, Barriers, Outcome Expectancies, Self-regulatory Behaviors and Social Support. *J Health Psychol*. 2010;15(2):173-185. doi:10.1177/1359105309342283
- Rao S, Pandey A, Garg S, et al. Effect of Exercise and Pharmacological Interventions on Visceral Adiposity: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Long-term Randomized Controlled Trials. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2019;94(2):211-224. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.09.019
- 20. Exercise Versus Pharmacological Interventions for Reducing Visceral Adiposity and Improving Health Outcomes - Mayo Clinic Proceedings. Accessed September 15, 2021. https://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org/article/S0025-6196(18)31003-6/fulltext

- 21. Obisesan TO. Hypertension and Cognitive Function. *Clin Geriatr Med.* 2009;25(2):259-288. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2009.03.002
- 22. Jia Q, Yang H, Zhuang N, et al. The role of lipoprotein profile in depression and cognitive performance: a network analysis. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):20704. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-77782-9
- 23. Bonora E, Tuomilehto J. The Pros and Cons of Diagnosing Diabetes With A1C. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(Suppl 2):S184-S190. doi:10.2337/dc11-s216
- 24. Karanicolas PJ, Farrokhyar F, Bhandari M. Blinding: Who, what, when, why, how? *Can J Surg*. 2010;53(5):345-348.
- 25. Aparicio-Ting FE, Farris M, Courneya KS, Schiller A, Friedenreich CM. Predictors of physical activity at 12 month follow-up after a supervised exercise intervention in postmenopausal women. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2015;12:55. doi:10.1186/s12966-015-0219-z
- 26. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Accessed August 31, 2021. https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241599979
- Bell ML, Whitehead AL, Julious SA. Guidance for using pilot studies to inform the design of intervention trials with continuous outcomes. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2018;10:153-157. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S146397
Appendices

Appendix A: Ethics Approval



Appendix B: Clinical Trials Registration

ClinicalTrials.gov PRS Protocol Registration and Results System			
ClinicalTrials.gov Protocol Registration and Results System (PRS) Receipt Release Date: January 16, 2019			
ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT03254381			
Study Identification			
Unique Protocol ID:	109379		
Brief Title:	The Effect of Exercise on Cognition in Older Adults At-risk for Diabetes: A Feasibility Pilot Study		
Official Title:	The Effect of Resistance Training on Cognitive Function and Brain Health in Older Adults At-risk for Diabetes: A Feasibility Pilot Study		
Secondary IDs:			

Appendix C: Letter of Information and Consent



baseline, 3, and 6 months. Assessment at baseline will take approximately 3.5 hours divided into two sessions. Assessment at 3 months will take approximately 2 hours, and at 6 months approximately 3.5 hours divided into 2 sessions.

Procedure: See below for a summary chart.

<u>Session 1</u>: Confirm eligibility, consent and study information, baseline assessments (demographic and health questionnaires, cognitive tests, physical tests, glucose test). The glucose test will involve a simple, small prick to your finger. If you are not comfortable completing any of these measures, you can choose not to complete them. Session 1 will take approximately 2.5 hours.

 Following session 1, you will be required to obtain permission from your physician to participate in a moderate-intensity exercise program before beginning the next session.

<u>Session 2</u>: Baseline assessment: Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). This will occur at Robarts Research Institute on campus. MRI involves the use of magnetic waves to take pictures of the inside of your body. In this study, it will be used to examine brain structure and function. You will be required to lie still in the MRI scanner for approximately 1 hour, and you will be asked to perform a memory task where you will view pictures for approximately 45 minutes of this time. While in the scanner, you will be able to speak with someone at all times. Researchers will answer any questions you may have about this procedure.

- After session 2 is complete, you will be randomly assigned to one of three exercise groups (aerobic training, resistance training, balance and tone exercises). Since this is a randomized control trial, you have an equal chance of being assigned to each of the three groups. Aerobic training will consist of a walking program; resistance training will include the use of weight machines and free-weights; and balance and tone exercises will include stretching, range of motion exercises, balance exercises, and relaxation techniques. Exercise classes will be held on campus (at Arthur and Sonia Labatt Health Sciences Building) three times per week and will be 60 minutes each in length. Free parking will be provided at the building during your exercise classes.

 You will also be required to complete a physical activity questionnaire (to monitor exercise outside of the program) and falls calendar (to monitor falls) monthly during the 6-month intervention.

<u>Session 3</u>: At the 3-month mark of the exercise intervention, you will again undergo cognitive testing, physical testing, and glucose testing, as done in session 1. This will take approximately 2 hours.

<u>Session 4</u>: After 6-months of the exercise intervention, you will again undergo cognitive testing, physical testing, and glucose testing, as done previously, for a final time. This will take approximately 2.5 hours.

Session 5: MRI. This will take approximately 1 hour. The procedure will be the same as

Summary Chart				
Session #	Procedures	Timeframe		
Session 1 (baseline)	 Provide consent Demographic and health questionnaires Cognitive tests Physical tests Glucose test 	2.5 hours		
Obtain permission	n from physician to participate in	the exercise program		
Session 2 (baseline)	- MRI	1 hour		
Begin the exercise program (participants randomly assigned to aerobic training, resistance training, or balance/tone group)		1 hour, three times per week for 6 months		
Complete physical activity questionnaire and falls calendar		Monthly for 6 months		
Session 3 (after 3 months)	 Cognitive tests Physical tests Glucose test 	2 hours		
Session 4 (after 6 months)	 Cognitive tests Physical tests Glucose test 	2.5 hours		
Session 5 (after 6 months)	- MRI	1 hour		

during baseline assessments. After MRI is complete, your participation in this study will

Benefits: You may or may not benefit from study participation.

Risks: Adverse events associated with exercise or physical testing may occur during this study. You will be monitored closely by instructors for symptoms of pain, discomfort, and shortness of breath during exercise classes. Any adverse effects will be recorded and reported immediately. Possible risks of MRI include hazards due to unsafe procedures during scanning. To prevent this from occurring, scanning will be guided by highly qualified and trained MRI technicians and safety procedures will be followed closely. Another possible risk of MRI includes experiencing claustrophobia. You will be able to communicate with research personnel at all times during scanning and scanning can be stopped at any point at your request.

Withdrawing: You have the right to withdraw from the study at any point without any consequences, and you will be compensated for your participation up to the point of withdrawal. If you decide to withdraw from the study, the information that was collected prior to you leaving the study will still be used to answer the research questions with your permission. However, data already collected may be withdrawn upon your request. No new information will be collected without your permission.

Confidentiality: Your personal information will remain private and confidential. Only the Principal Investigator and research personnel will have access to the data. We will not share your data with anyone outside the study unless required by law. Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Health Sciences Research Ethics Board may require access to your study-related records to monitor the conduct of the research. Your personal information (age – provided as part of the inclusion criteria, and name – provided as contact information) will remain private and confidential. During your participation in this study, you will be identified using only a study ID number.

While we do our best to protect your information, there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. We will keep any personal information about you in a secure and confidential location for a minimum of five years. A list linking your study ID number with your name will be kept by the researcher in a secure place, separate from your study file. If the results of the study are published, your name will not be used.

Compensation: You will receive a \$50 honorarium for each assessment time point completed (baseline, 3 months, and 6 months). In addition, each time you attend an exercise class, your name will be placed in a lottery for a weekly draw for a \$10 gift card.

Rights of Participants: Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may decide not to be in this study. Even if you consent to participate you have the right to not answer individual questions or to withdraw from the study at any time. If you choose not to participate or to leave the study at any time it will have no consequences for you.

We will provide you with any new information that is learned during the study that might affect your decision to stay in the study.

If you are harmed as a direct result of taking part in this study, all necessary medical treatment will be made available to you at no cost. You do not waive any legal right by signing this consent form.

Questions? If you have any questions about this research study please contact Dr. Lindsay Nagamatsu, PhD,

If you have any questions about this study, you may contact The	t your rights as a research e Office of Research Ethics	participant or the conduct of		
You will be given a copy of t	his Letter of Information o	once it has been signed.		
Consent:				
Project Title: The effect of aero brain health in older adults at-r	bic versus resistance traininisk for diabetes: A feasibility	ng on cognitive function and / pilot study		
Principal Investigator: Dr. Linds	say Nagamatsu,			
I have read the Letter of Information, have had the nature of the study explained to me and I agree to participate. All questions have been answered to my satisfaction.				
Print Name of Participant	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)		
Print Name of Researcher	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)		

Appendix D: Permission to Reproduce Published Materials

Chapter 2 (published systematic review): Prior permission from the *Journal of Neuroscience Research* is not required if the purpose of the reproduction is for inclusion in a thesis dissertation.

Chapters 3 and 4 (published protocol paper): Prior permission from *BMJ Open* is not required if the purpose of the reproduction is for inclusion in a thesis dissertation.

Chapter 5 (published feasibility manuscript): Prior permission from the *Canadian Journal of Diabetes* is not required if the purpose of the reproduction is for inclusion in a thesis dissertation.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Joyla Furlano
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Toronto Toronto, Ontario, Canada 2009-2013 B.Sc. Psychology
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2016-2021 Ph.D. Neuroscience
Honours and Awards (select)	AGE-WELL and McMaster Institute for Research on Aging Postdoctoral Award in Technology (\$50,000) 2021-2022
	Head and Heart Indigenous Graduate Research Fellowship (\$9,100) The University of Western Ontario 2021
	Province of Ontario Graduate Scholarship (\$15,000) The University of Western Ontario 2020-2021
	Head and Heart Indigenous Graduate Research Fellowship (\$9,100) The University of Western Ontario 2020
	Canadian Consortium on Neurodegeneration in Aging 2020 Training and Capacity Building for Indigenous Dementia Research Award (\$4,000) 2020
	Province of Ontario Graduate Scholarship (\$15,000) The University of Western Ontario 2019-2020
Related Work Experience (select)	Sessional Instructor The University of Western Ontario, Faculty of Psychology 2021-2022
	Teaching Assistant

The University of Western Ontario, School of Kinesiology 2020-2021

Sessional Instructor The University of Western Ontario, School of Kinesiology 2019

Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario, School of Kinesiology 2016-2019

Publications (Published or Accepted):

Furlano JA, Morava A, Wong MYS, Bray NW, Sui W, Munn J, Prapavessis H. (in press). Exercise Behaviours and Exercise Resource Use Among Graduate Students at a Canadian University. Journal of American College Health.

Furlano JA*, Ford SD*, Speechley M. (accepted with minor revisions). The Perceived Benefits of a Social and Knowledge-sharing Community Program for Older Adults. Canadian Journal on Aging.

Horst BR, **Furlano JA**, Wong MYS, Ford SD, Han BB, Nagamatsu LS. (2021). Identification of Demographic Variables Influencing Dementia Literacy and Risk Perception Through a Global Survey. Frontiers in Public Health, 9:711. DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.660600.

Furlano JA, Horst BR, Nagamatsu LS. (2021). Brain Deficits in Prediabetic Adults: A Systematic Review. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 00:1-19. DOI: 10.1002/jnr.24830.

Furlano JA, Nagamatsu LS. (2020). Feasibility of a 26-week Exercise Program to Improve Brain Health in Older Adults At-risk for Diabetes: A Pilot Study. Canadian Journal of Obesity. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2020.11.001.

Furlano JA, Morava A. (2020). The Benefits and Challenges of Staying Physically Active During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Health Science Inquiry, 11(1).

Furlano JA, Nagamatsu LS. (2019). Feasibility of a 6-month Pilot Randomised Controlled Trial of Resistance Training on Cognition and Brain Health in Canadian Older Adults At-risk for Diabetes: Study Protocol. BMJ Open, 9(10):e032047. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-032047.

Nagamatsu LS, **Furlano JA**. (2017). Improving Executive Function for Better Diabetes Management. Advances in Obesity Weight Management & Control, 7(5):00213. DOI: 10.15406/aowmc.2017.07.00213.